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Introduction

This is a sorry tale to tell. It is a story of failure. After reading the documentary
sources of this history many times over, and reviewing the various rewrites of
the text presented here, I come away with as much of the same sense of despair
as many of the actors in this tale must have felt. One embarks on a history with
a sense of hope that by reading the sources, reviewing the events and critically
reappraising why things happened the way they did, it might be possible to
find some meaning or moral resolution that is uplifting, that opens up a path
by which we can trace something of a nobler humanity within its tragedies
of history." Or else, we are left to wallow in miserable stories of victimhood,
suffering, defeat and exile. James G. McDonald’s letter of resignation from his
post as League of Nations High Commissioner for the Refugees from Germany
in December 1935 might offer something of the former. He called upon gov-
ernments to rise above the xenophobia and anti-Semitism in which they were
mired, and to defy Nazism and the worst aspects of humanity that it presented
to the world. A new way forward, he wrote, could be found in the evolution of
justice in European political thought and behaviour, to which the League of
Nations was heir and custodian. The fact that he had to make this statement
at all, however, is evidence enough that the League of Nations and the gov-
ernments that constituted it had failed as heirs and custodians of these noble
aspirations.

This history must be told all the same in order to try to understand why the
world failed to come to the aid of the victims of Nazism during the Nazis’ first
years in power. It reviews the responses to the refugees from Germany in the
early 1930s when they first posed a grave humanitarian problem for the govern-
ments assembled in the League of Nations. They posed an economic and social
burden in countries blighted by economic depression and, many feared, if left to
fester, the refugee problem could well have posed a danger to the peace.
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Those who called for intervention to aid the refugees from Nazism recalled
the League’s achievements in the face of the refugee crises that emerged after the
First World War. The measures that the League had adopted for the legal pro-
tection of refugees from the Soviet Union and the newly independent states of
the Middle East signified the great impact it could have on international affairs.
Its achievements of the 1920s were found in the humanitarian responsibilities
it assumed, one major part of which was the new international refugee regime
that it was creating. But these ideals did not endure. By 1933, the world seemed
exhausted — by economic depression, a resurgent nationalism, the drift towards
political extremes, the breakdown of the spirit of international cooperation
which the peace settlement and the League of Nations had fostered and, finally,
the seemingly endless flow of exiles, the stateless and the unwanted, all seeking
refuge from homelands in dramatic change and turmoil.

The League, in short, refused to assume responsibility for the refugees from
Germany. This was in part because it was already moving away from involving itself
in the seemingly endless problem of refugees of all backgrounds. It was also because
important high-ranking officials believed that if it had assumed this responsibility it
would have alienated Germany from the League - this creation of the hated Treaty
of Versailles — and would therefore have given the new Nazi regime grounds to
accuse it of political interference in its domestic affairs. The League therefore chose
to appease this agent of persecution rather than to assist its victims. One measure of
its failure was the extent to which expressions of post-war idealism reappeared in the
discourses about and debates within the League. By restating the principles that gave
the League its purpose in the 1920s, many hoped to revitalize its humanitarian cul-
ture and to give it a renewed purpose in world affairs. These expressions of idealism
may have been rhetorically significant, but were effectively meaningless, however.
The appointment of a League of Nations High Commissioner for the Refugees from
Germany in October 1933 was one expression of this past idealism. It was created
in the belief that it could continue the successes of the League’s work for refugees,
but without the political, legal, financial and administrative backing of the League,
it had little authority, and therefore had little impact on the task it was set. Without
the authority or resources of the League behind it, it had to find its own way and was
left to sink or swim, while it tried as best it could to find a place for the refugees in
countries that did not want them.

%%
Refugees, for the most part Jews but also communists and socialists, democrats
and pacifists and other anti-Nazis, began to leave Germany on Hitler’s assump-
tion of the Chancellorship in January 1933. More followed, in greater numbers,
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after the Enabling Act of 24 March paved the way for Nazi single party rule and
Hitler’s dictatorship. Persecuted in their daily lives and stripped of positions in
German education, the civil service and culture, many thousands of Jews sought
to flee the country.

Sought to flee, that is, as it was not always possible for them to do so. Foreign
consulates in the major German cities faced long queues as Germans applied
for visas to leave immediately for France, Belgium, Holland, Switzerland,
Czechoslovakia, Britain and the United States. Intellectuals and scientists dis-
missed from their university posts were in high demand abroad, and those
with the means to live independently presented few problems. Initially, those
seeking to flee were favoured generously with the grant of visas, but as the
Nazis” hold on power grew more certain, the anti-Jewish and anti-Leftist reac-
tions showed no sign of moderation. As the rush to leave became more urgent,
governments grew more reluctant to admit them. Concerned about exposing
their borders to communist infiltration, and giving unwelcome foreign work-
ers and professionals access to labour markets that were under the strain of
economic depression, governments instructed their consuls to be more cir-
cumspect in granting visas, and to be prepared to say ‘no’ more often. Those
who could afford to wait in the lengthening queues had less to fear from the
Nazis than others, for whom any wait was simply too much. They fled with-
out authorization and entered one of Germany’s neighbours illegally. Others
could not provide the necessary documents or demonstrate sufficient wealth
to support themselves and their families. They had the choice of remaining
behind or seeking clandestine passage. A good part of the refugee problem
in the countries on Germany’s borders was the high numbers of illegal immi-
grants scrounging a living as best they could.

The narratives of victimhood in exile lend themselves to narratives of flight,
escape, survival and even doom, in the longer history of the Holocaust. The
plight of refugees is therefore a history often retold through the optic of the
tragedy of Europes Jews during the Second World War. This history chooses
another optic, that of its ‘present’ in the early 1930s. It aims to explain the failures
of this history through the events of the time and to avoid the distortions of the
historian’s own present. It aims to examine why things turned out the way they
did by examining events in their own contexts, and not through our knowledge
what what happened after September 1939.

By October 1933, the impact of the refugees from Germany was so great that
the League of Nations decided to appoint a High Commissioner to coordinate
the efforts for refugee relief and resettlement. This gave hope that a solution was



4 The League of Nations and the Refugees from Nazi Germany

possible - indeed, the mandate of the High Commission assumed that it would
work towards a solution — and that the refugees from Germany could be resettled
peaceably in other countries. There was a belief that Germany might be embar-
rassed by world opinion of it race policies and that it could be persuaded to mod-
erate them and fall in behind international standards of humanitarian behaviour
towards its citizens. The optic of this historical present is offered by the personal
papers and diaries of James G. McDonald, the man selected to lead the rather
awkwardly named High Commissioner for the Refugees (Jewish and Other)
Coming from Germany. He was a direct witness to, and a key participant in, the
transition from these hopes to the weary despair of his letter of resignation in
December 1935.

McDonald had an academic background in history and international rela-
tions from Indiana and Harvard universities. He had carved out an important
public profile for himself in contemporary politics as president of the American
Foreign Policy Association since 1919. He came to the notice of Europeans for his
interest in German affairs, twice visiting Europe and Berlin to see for himself the
unfolding of the National Socialist revolution of 1932 and 1933. He impressed
many during his second visit in early 1933 when he represented world oppro-
brium towards the persecution of the Jews directly to the leaders of the Nazi
Party. His close personal and professional associations with leading American
Jews and their philanthropic organizations made him an attractive nomination
for the League of Nations, which then refused to back its own creation with
financial and administrative support. McDonald served as High Commissioner
until his resignation on 31 December 1935 with little to show for his efforts,
in despair, disappointment, frustration and sheer exhaustion over wrestling
with international intransigence in the face of the refugees and Nazi barbarity
towards its citizens.? Why had it come to this in just twenty-five months? There
was no major initiative for refugee assistance or resettlement at this time and the
refugee crisis seemed even worse at the end of 1935 than it was in 1933.

Historians point to the intransigence of governments when faced with the
burdens that refugees imposed on them in the depths of worldwide economic
depression and an uncertain international political climate. Governments could
not ensure employment for their own citizens and bitterly resented the imposition
of foreign workers on their labour markets. Moreover, the refugees were mostly
Jews and communists. Either way, they upset their delicate social harmonies.
Anti-Semitism spread, affecting local Jewish communities in the backlash against
the Jewish refugees, and German communists could only be a political danger,
just as they were portrayed in Germany itself. Historians also point to flaws in the
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structure and mandate of the High Commission from the moment it was created,
or put the blame on McDonald himself. He is easily condemned for lacking the
capacity to persuade governments, of not being forceful enough in negotiations,
or of being otherwise incapable of dealing with the situations before him. These
then are histories told in retrospect, in full knowledge of the High Commissionss,
and McDonald’s, failures. Moreover, the short history of the High Commission is
also read through the prism of dynamics other than its own - international pol-
itics and foreign relations, developments in international humanitarianism and
international cooperation or, more commonly, as an agent of Jewish rescue.’

A history from the perspective of the High Commission itself and the actuality
of refugees from Germany avoids distortions caused by a reading through the optic
of later times. Narratives of rescue are more cogent if this history is seen through
the optic of 1945 and the Holocaust than they are if seen through its own present.
Although he had many reasons to be apprehensive about the future, McDonald
was far from alone in his belief that the Nazi regime could be reasoned with and
persuaded to moderate its excesses, if it realized how Germany was diminished in
the eyes of the world. This motivated much of his approach to his role as High
Commissioner: no government could remain immune to reason if they were only
aware of the full humanitarian consequences of their policies. This also shaped the
manner in which the League of Nations viewed the refugee problem: confronta-
tion with Germany over its race policies raised the stakes in its dealing with the
new National Socialist regime. Only by persuading Germany to return to the inter-
national fold in the League could peace be assured, the senior ranks of Secretariat
believed, and to encourage it to return, political controversies were best avoided. The
League’s assistance for the refugees could only be construed as political intervention
in German domestic affairs; it would prove Nazi belief that the League was con-
spiring against German national interests. The Secretariat held stubbornly to this
line throughout. McDonald’s views about diplomacy with the Nazi regime changed
after his attempts to open negotiations with it only demonstrated how defiant it was
in all matters relating to the Jews and how impervious it was to world opinion.

McDonald was all too aware of the limits of his position; he could appeal
to people’s better nature, but with little success. This book explores the prob-
lems that he confronted, how he wrestled with them and tried to negotiate ways
around them in order to respond to the needs of the refugees. There is much
meaning to be found in his failures. He was in a unique position, an international
figure representing, for the first time in international affairs, a handful of astute
friends, colleagues and diplomats recognized, the condition of the Jews. He also
upheld humanitarian morality against the brutality of one government towards
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its citizens as well as the indifference of other governments to the fate of the
persecuted. The book therefore concludes that the refugees from Nazi Germany
and the institution of the High Commission for the Refugees from Germany,
stand at a moment of an important transition in conceptions of international
humanitarian responsibilities, when a state defies standards of proper behaviour
towards its citizens.

A study of this kind would not have been possible without the publication in
2007 and 2009 of McDonald’s diaries and papers.* The archival record is frag-
mented and scattered.” His diaries and papers fill important gaps in the frag-
mentary records upon which historians have hitherto relied. They are very much
the personal records of a diplomat. They record his daily meetings and discus-
sions, sometimes at great length and in astonishing detail, serving no doubt as
aides-mémoires and, perhaps, as the source of a life story that he did not get
around to writing. But they do tend to conceal the man himself. Only seldom
does he reveal his personal feelings; at times, though, his frustrations are clear.
As a contemporary record, they offer a unique insight into the ‘present’ of the
crisis of refugees from Germany and the efforts to come to their aid. They are
also the observations of a witness to government. He could list among his col-
leagues and interlocutors presidents, prime ministers and heads of ministries in
Europe, Britain, Canada and America. He was on friendly terms with President
and Mrs Roosevelt, but senior figures in the British government kept him at a
distance. The French could be both friendly and hostile, sometimes at the same
time. Even so, while he could persuaded them about the moral cause he cham-
pioned, none would offer genuine support or concede the need to change their
government’s policies. He was therefore an important witness to governments
and their reluctance to extend themselves beyond the safety of restrictive, iso-
lationist politics. He was witness to the stubbornness of the League of Nations,
the fears of Europeans and European Jews at the spread of anti-Semitism, and
the determination of the Nazi regime to enforce its racial policies in the face of
outside opinion. They are McDonald’s words, and therefore his personal subjec-
tive views of the issues that he confronted, the individuals with whom he spoke
and worked, and the organizations with which he collaborated. The views of
others are known only through his accounts of them. Errors that might creep
in through his subjectivity are alleviated somewhat by two characteristics of
his diaries: the general absence of his personal views and feelings in favour of
reportage and the extraordinary detail of many of its daily entries, particularly
those of discussions on important issues or with important individuals. He is
not averse to describing criticisms and conflict, even when he was their target;
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they convey the tone as well as content of his discussions and even the poorest
outcome of his activities. These are after all private papers, never intended for
publication in their raw form.
%

A brief account of the historical context will help clarify the place of the High
Commission for the Refugees from Nazi Germany in the history of the League
of Nations and the years between the two world wars. It was created in order
to continue the League of Nations’ humanitarian efforts for refugees that had
begun in 1921, and therefore it carried forward something of the idealism of
these earlier League successes. With the end of the First World War, refugees
and population displacement had become an international problem, even a
norm of the post-war order. Although the League of Nations’ charter did not
include assistance for refugees among its humanitarian responsibilities, mem-
ber states nevertheless recognized that it was for these kinds of international
crises that the League was created. Therefore, faced with a massive exodus of
refugees from the Russian Revolution (by some estimates close to two mil-
lion), the League created a High Commission for Refugees to come to their
aid. The Norwegian scientist, polar explorer and diplomat, Fridtjof Nansen,
was appointed High Commissioner. His first act was to convene an intergov-
ernmental conference in 1922 to agree to an arrangement that would provide
these refugees with certificates of identity in lieu of national passports so that
they could cross international borders and resettle in places where they were
wanted. The need of post-war reconstruction created a great demand for their
labour and the Russian refugees were readily absorbed into the economies of
many countries. The success of the 1922 Intergovernmental Arrangement for
the Russian refugees was followed in 1924 with an Arrangement for Armenian
refugees from the Turkish Republic, which helped resettle some 80,000 or
more displaced Armenians from eastern Anatolia and survivors of the 1915
Armenian genocide. Again, post-war reconstruction created a need for their
labour. The crowded refugee camps in the Middle East were soon cleared.
Another Arrangement followed in 1927 for refugees in ‘analogous’ circum-
stances, predominantly Assyrians and Assyro-Chaldean Christians from the
Turkish Republic, followed by another in 1928 which brought these separate
accords together into the one document. In October 1933 an agreement was
reached on the first international Convention on Refugees that would apply
to all these so-called ‘Nansen Refugees’.

The Arrangements gave the refugees a status in international law when they
had lost the legal and diplomatic protection of their national governments.
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Denationalization decrees in the Soviet Union in 1921 and Turkey in 1924
left the vast majority of the Nansen” refugees without nationality. They were
an anomaly in international law. Their classification as refugees under the
Intergovernmental Arrangements gave them access to emigration opportunities
and welfare services to assist them in their integration and their dealings with
national governments. Fridtjof Nansen was recognized as a statesman of great
standing because of his success in overseeing the resettlement of so many thou-
sands, perhaps millions, of refugees and stateless people. Nansen died in 1930
and his High Commission was absorbed into the League of Nations Secretariat
as the Nansen International Office for Refugees.

It was with these successes in mind that member states moved in the League
of Nations in 1933 to create the High Commission for the Refugees from Nazi
Germany. The legacy of Nansen was very real, and his shadow fell over all
talks on the refugee problem in the League. A new High Commissioner would
undoubtedly be compared to him, but men of such stature were rare.® No pro-
spective candidate stood out. The League of Nations Council decided to turn to
the American, James McDonald, believing that he might draw the United States
more closely into European affairs, and that he would be able to tap into the vast
financial resources of America’s Jewish community.

McDonald was forty-seven years of age at the time of his appointment as
High Commissioner. He was born in Ohio on 29 November 1886, had studied
at Indiana University, obtaining his Bachelor of Arts in 1908 and his Master of
Arts in 1910 in history, political science and international relations. His thesis
was on the subject of diplomacy and the Spanish-American War. Between 1911
and 1914 he was a teaching fellow at the Harvard Graduate School in history
and international relations. He returned to Indiana University in 1914 where
he was an assistant professor of history, and during 1915 and 1916 he was a
Harvard University Travelling Fellow in Spain. Over the summer of 1916 and
1917 he held the post of professor of international relations at the University of
Georgia before resuming his position at Indiana University. He was one of the
141 founders of the Foreign Policy Association and was its chairman for four-
teen years, from 1919 up to taking on the post of High Commissioner. He used
his position in the Foreign Policy Association to inform the American public
on international affairs through the new medium of broadcast radio.” His chair-
manship gave him access to leading political and diplomatic figures in many
countries. He had diplomatic ambitions of his own as well. During 1933, his was
one of names under consideration by the Roosevelt administration for appoint-
ment as US Ambassador to Berlin.
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A journalist with the New York Times, who interviewed McDonald on the
eve of his departure for Geneva in November 1933, described him as a ‘very
young and handsome man with keen vision and foresight. With blond hair and
blue eyes and a fine build he looks more like a tennis champion than chairman
of so large and prominent an organization as the [Foreign Policy Association].
He has a pleasant smile which is most frequently manifested and an altogether
charming personality’® Most of what we know of McDonald’s personality comes
from a book by his daughter Barbara McDonald Stewart published in 1982 on
the refugees and American foreign policy.” She describes him as a teetotaler,
an ‘idealist by nature” forced in the circumstances to become a realist. ‘He was
a devout Christian and humanist, a patient and resourceful man, reliable and
straightforward, who fought for the cause in which he believed’'® She adds: ‘My
father put his hope for the future in young people with whom he had a natural
rapport ... at heart [he] always remained a teacher’"

Photographs show him as a tall man with a long neck and sloping shoul-
ders; he stands well above those alongside him. A mop of blond hair is brushed
back from his forehead. Norman Bentwich, McDonald’s deputy in the High
Commission, described him as ‘physically impressive; tall, fair, sparse, blue-
eyed, of that Nordic type lauded by the Nazis ... with a ready gift of speech and
a willingness to talk in undiplomatic language’*?

We have scant evidence on how others perceived him. What we have shows
some antagonism, assuredly so, as he met with so many diplomats, minis-
terial staff and politicians who were reluctant to receive him, were unwilling
to concede to his requests or, more often, had no authority within their own
governments to make any deals with him and therefore found him a bit of a
nuisance. Indeed, McDonald rarely met ministers; his negotiations with gov-
ernments were normally through more junior officials. Consequently, the dip-
lomatic archives in France and Britain scarcely make note of him. Aid agencies
acknowledged his work more than governments did, recognizing the need
for cooperation between them towards their common objectives. Even then,
McDonald notes in his diaries the occasional outburst against him, for being
overly idealistic, unrealistic in his expectations, or even being incapable of
fulfilling his role. But he rightly noted these as manifestations of their com-
mon frustrations. The British Zionist, Chaim Weizmann, however, was scath-
ing in his condemnation of him when he realized that McDonald would not
be a partner in his plans for Jewish colonization in Palestine. On the other
hand, the non-Zionists among the British Jews criticized him for being in
Weizmann’s thrall. He nevertheless had the unwavering support of American
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Jewish leaders, who had put forward his nomination as High Commissioner
and committed their funds to finance his work. The League of Nations had
little regard for him or his office, nevertheless, since it did not want any asso-
ciation with the work for refugees to taint its relations with Germany. His few
successes in his office left him open to criticism. One recurring objection was
the accusation that he drew a large salary while pleading with people for much-
needed money for refugee relief."

McDonald assumed his post with enthusiasm and was idealistic about the
contribution he could make. Yet he was conscious of the difficulties ahead.
He expressed a clear vision of his work before he set sail from New York to
receive his appointment from the Secretary General of the League of Nations,
Joseph Avenol, but the instructions Avenol gave him left him no doubt that
there were serious constraints on his mandate. The difficulties he faced would
indeed be great.

-
This book was completed while an Honorary Research Fellow in the Department
of History, Classics and Archaeology, Birkbeck College, University of London,
during 2012. I am grateful to Jessica Reinisch for her support and assistance at
Birkbeck.

It has been my intention to write a narrative history of the League of Nations,
James McDonald and the High Commission for the Refugees from Germany
since I first learned of McDonald’s career during my postgraduate studies in the
School of Historical Studies at the University of Melbourne. Many of the les-
sons I learned from the historians who directed my studies are reflected here;
I 'hope I have lived up to the value of their instruction and insights. I would like
to acknowledge the help I received from the archivists and librarians who have
assisted me over the years, in particular for the valuable assistance of the Rare
Books and Manuscripts Library of Columbia University, New York, for access
to its McDonald’s Papers collection, the library of the Leo Baeck Institute in
New York, for access to their document collection on the High Commission
for the Refugees from Germany and the League of Nations archives in the
United Nations Library, Geneva. Some documents appear in several locations.
Citations are made with reference to the first collection in which they were con-
sulted. The Leo Baeck Institute has now made its collection of documents of the
High Commission for the Refugees from Germany available online, through
its DigiBaeck archive. I understand that the League of Nations Archives col-
lection of High Commission documents remains in need of a caring hand.

The dispersed and fragmentary nature of the archives had stood in the way
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of a comprehensive narrative history. This changed when McDonald’s family
donated his diaries and personal papers, hitherto not available for historical
research, to the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum. Their subsequent
publication by Indiana University Press has filled substantial gaps in the arch-

ival sources and has made new historical perspectives possible.






The Refugees from Nazism, 1933

The American public learned more of the situation facing Jews under the Nazi
regime from new German immigrants than from the press or their government.
In early 1933, they brought stories of random violence, the loss of employ-
ment and a pervasive fear in the face of Nazi anti-Semitism. A ‘wave of indig-
nation’ swept through American opinion. Jewish and Christian organizations
protested Nazi race policies and called for the intervention of foreign govern-
ments. Indignation grew into a call for direct action, and a boycott of trade with
Germany gained momentum. By the end of March 1933, New York businesses
had cancelled an estimated $2 million worth of orders in Germany, and Jewish
importers were moving to stop more than half of Germany’s sales in the city. The
protest spread. Around 8,000 Jewish war veterans took to New Yorks streets. The
American Jewish Congress organized a rally at Madison Square Gardens on
28 March, coinciding with meetings and rallies across the United States, in
London and in other European cities.! Jewish shops and factories in Warsaw
closed as a first step towards a boycott of German trade in Poland. Trade Unions
and socialists in Switzerland, the Netherlands and Britain also came out in
favour of an economic boycott of Germany. Trade orders were cancelled in such
diverse places as Tunisia, Vilnius and Antwerp.?

In Germany, however, international outrage fed Nazi propaganda of a world-
wide Jewish conspiracy. For Propaganda Minister Joseph Goebbels, it justified
a counter-reaction with a boycott of Jewish businesses and professions across
Germany on 1 April.®> Protest abroad therefore hardened Nazi attitudes, and
quickly lost its purpose and energy. Governments were half-hearted in express-
ing their concerns, deferring to Germany’s insistence that it was free to manage
its internal affairs without interference from abroad.

The boycott of Jewish businesses was as much an affront to international

opinion as it was reason for a new wave of persecution in Germany. For
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international opinion, it was further cause for indignation. But how could that
now be expressed? Protest had backfired on the Jews in Germany, and national
governments were reluctant to offend the new German regime by public criti-
cisms of its policies. Jewish organizations in the United States were divided on
what would be the best response, and Jewish communities in Europe worried
that Nazi anti-Semitism could seep across borders into their own countries, in
reaction to the arrival of Jews in flight from the Nazis.*

The unfolding of Nazi terror against the regime’s racial and political enemies
forced many to consider fleeing Germany for their personal safety and free-
dom.” Marxists, pacifists and other anti-Nazis were being forced out of public
life, arrested, and sent to concentration camps at Oranienburg outside Berlin and
Dachau outside Munich.® Jews were being purged from German arts and culture
in Hitler’s headlong rush to Aryanize his Reich. The Law for the Reconstruction
of the Professional Civil Service of 7 April 1933 forced non-Aryans — anyone who
had at least one Jewish grandparent — from the German civil service. Later ordi-
nances extended the law to remove Jewish university professors and schoolteach-
ers, Jewish employees of national and municipal enterprises, the judiciary, the
sciences and public health and welfare, among other occupations. A law to dena-
tionalize foreign-born residents who had been granted German citizenship by
the Weimar Republic was adopted on 14 July 1933.” Foreign-born but naturalized
Jews and other unwanted foreigners lost German citizenship rights. The April boy-
cott had left Jews in no doubt that they could not continue to live in Germany with
security; the anti-Jewish legislation made it certain that they could not continue
to live in Germany as Germans. All Jews were at risk under the Nazis, while com-
munists, socialists and other anti-Nazis were at immediate risk of imprisonment.

But flight from Germany was not easy. Those who had reached the United
States and informed the American public of conditions under Nazism were the
fortunate ones with private wealth or family connections that had helped them
secure an entry visa without undue delay. The less fortunate were left waiting in
long queues at foreign consulates. Consular officials might have been sympa-
thetic to their demands, but they were constrained by national legislation that
imposed restrictions on the number of visas they could issue and the reasons for
issuing them. The great economic depression of the 1930s had led all traditional
countries of European immigration to deploy measures to restrict the number of
new immigrants they would allow in. Only certain kinds were now considered
acceptable and, indeed, desirable. Those who would be a burden — which, in the
circumstances of the times could be any immigrant who would need to work to
earn a living — were certainly undesirable.
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The United States’ Immigration Act of 1924 had already disrupted enduring
patterns of European emigration. A reaction against the shifting demographic
and cultural currents that the high levels of immigration from southern and east-
ern Europe had brought into American society since the end of the nineteenth
century, the Immigration Act imposed restrictive quotas of 2 per cent for each
country of origin, based on the ethnic composition of the American population
in 1890. The intention was nothing less than to reconfigure migration patterns
away from the recent predominance of Italian Catholics and East European Jews,
towards the more traditional ‘nordic’ ethnic roots of the American people. The
quotas, in short, aimed to restore the demographic status quo ante. Immigration
from all sources consequently fell dramatically, from 706,896 in 1924 to 294,314
in 1925, the lowest level since 1898, with the exception of the years of the First
World War.?

With the shattering impact of the Great Depression on the American econ-
omy and its labour market, immigration was cut back even further to protect
American workers. In 1930, President Herbert Hoover approved a more rigor-
ous application of the ‘No Public Charge’ test of the Immigration Act, which
authorized consular officials abroad to refuse visas to those who, for reasons of
age, physical incapacity, conditions of health or other reasons, could not support
themselves and would therefore impose a burden on the American public. The
policy change assumed that no immigrant could be assured of work and would
therefore become a public charge. Entry visas henceforth would only be issued
to intending immigrants who could demonstrate that they had sufficient private
means to support themselves and their families, or whose family connections in
the United States could guarantee their support.

In November 1930, therefore, the number of visas issued was a meagre
15 per cent of the total immigration quota.” Only 23,068 new immigrants from
all countries of origin arrived in 1933, less than the entire quota for German
nationals, which was set at 27,370 per year.'” By the end of 1933, only 1,450
immigrants had arrived from Germany. There was no distinction between refu-
gees in flight from Nazi persecution and common migrants — those who had left
voluntarily for personal or professional reasons — although in the circumstances
the different motives of those forced to flee and those who chose to leave were
no doubt of little importance. They fled for their personal well-being as well as
that of their families. Significantly, the figure also includes those German immi-
grants who were exempted from the quota schedule: artists, writers, musicians,
composers, scientists, university professors and students, who were among the
first victims of the Nazi Aryanization of German arts and culture."
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The documentary requirements to satisfy consular officials of one’s accept-
ability as an immigrant added to the difficulties of obtaining a visa. The issue or
renewal of a valid passport, evidence of good moral character and police clear-
ances and, in some cases, evidence of not having engaged in left-wing political
activities, all forced intending emigrants to approach various Reich ministries
and police. The queues at foreign consulates grew as delays in the provision of
documents slowed visa processing. The US consulates in Germany could issue
visas totalling no more than 10 per cent of the quota in any one calendar month.
The queue awaiting a visa consequently grew, so much so that later in the 1930s
it could take a matter of years before one was issued.? Many could not wait for
even a short time, however, and decided to leave without valid papers; they fled
mostly to France, the Netherlands, Switzerland, Austria and Czechoslovakia.
They still hoped to get to the United States, and tried to bypass the long queues
in Germany by leaving. They still had to present valid documents and a current
passport, and to demonstrate their acceptability as immigrants. The queues in
these countries also grew, while the governments there were eager to see them
move on without delay.

Canada was not a viable alternative. The Canadian government also justi-
fied restricting immigration by citing the harshness of the economic conditions,
having made an order in 1930 to permit only those immigrants with enough
capital to establish themselves on farms. By this order, critics of Canadian policy
argue, Canada had effectively cut itself off from the world. Moreover, it would
remain deaf to requests to open its borders even slightly to Jews from Germany.
Canadian policy had always been ethnically selective, and Jews were classified
among ‘non-preferred’ immigrants, best kept out of sight in the marginal lands
of the west and north. They drifted into the cities all the same, and in 1928,
Jewish immigration was cut back to two-thirds its previous low number."? Still,
it was not yet entirely closed despite appearances. One estimate has put the num-
ber of Jewish immigrants to Canada in 1933 from all source countries at 943."*

The situation elsewhere in South and Central America is much less certain,
but the available evidence shows that they were also turning their backs on
new immigrants. Statistics are vague and sometimes contradictory, and it does
not seem possible to make a clear breakdown of the ebb and flow of migration
during the 1930s."” Diplomatic sources in Europe and the United States in the
early 1930s insisted that the largest immigrant nations in Latin America, Brazil
and Argentina, would only admit new immigrants prepared to settle on the
land. They were not wanted in the cities, and Jews, of the urban middle class,
were unwanted most of all. Even so, one source at least shows that the intake
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of Jews from all source countries was higher in Latin America in 1933 than in
the United States, with 1,962 settling in Argentina, another 3,317 in Brazil and
500 in Uruguay. This compares to 2,372 who settled in the United States in the
same year.'®

A number of factors explain this uncertainty about German Jewish refu-
gee settlement in Latin America.”” Immigration regulations in some countries
included ethnic restrictions and limits on occupational categories. An entry
visa might then have been sought for a less desirable country of settlement with
the intention upon arrival of crossing the border to a preferred country. The
grant of entry visas in Europe also did not always equate to migrant entry, as
port authorities had the power to exclude arrivals. Immigrants arriving by first
class or with a sum of cash in their possession entered without hindrance. Those
of lesser means, however, could have been barred entry even if they carried a
valid visa.'"® The prospects of Latin America were inviting for refugee resettle-
ment all the same. These were young countries in need of people to develop
large undeveloped lands, which seemed ideal for the resettlement of so many of
Europe’s unwanted.

Just as in the Americas, European states responded to the impact of the
economic depression by restricting entry and employment for immigrants.
Protected by its sea borders, Britain had regulated immigration since the First
World War through its Aliens Restriction Act of 1914 and the Aliens Order of
1920. These stipulated that only immigrants who could demonstrate that they
had the means to support themselves and their families would be given leave to
land.” Immigration officers at British ports had the power to refuse admission
to anyone without apparent means of support. They could also apply tests to
evaluate the moral and physical character of prospective immigrants to deter-
mine their desirability. The Aliens Order proved such a protective shield, it was
observed in one important contemporary report, that the numbers of refugees
admitted to the United Kingdom bore little relation to the scale of the refugee
problem.? Initial responses to the refugees from Germany in the Parliament, by
the government, and in the British Foreign Ministry, affirmed the intent of the
Aliens Order: the settlement of an immigrant would only be allowed when it
was ‘consonant with the interests’ of Britain. With some 3 million unemployed
British workers, the settlement of ‘hundreds of thousands of Jews could in no
way be contemplated.”

Yet, the deepening crisis in Germany forced the British authorities to give
ground. Ministers faced urgent representations from British Jews about the
surge in anti-Jewish repression in Germany after the 1 April boycott of Jewish
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businesses, and the British Passport Control Office in Berlin was overwhelmed
with applications from German Jews seeking to enter England, to go to Palestine
or to ‘anywhere in the British Empire’ As the number of Jews arriving at British
ports increased sharply, the Home Office relented. Jewish refugees would be
admitted without distinction, on the condition that they did not become a pub-
lic charge. The expense of their accommodation and maintenance therefore fell
on to the British Jewish community through its various agencies. Best estimates
put the number of refugees in the care of these agencies at something between
3,000 and 4,000 during the early 1930s.

Land borders presented entirely different problems on the Continent. By the
end of 1933, France, with some 25,000 refugees from Germany, hosted by far
the largest number. Of these, 85 per cent were Jewish. They had entered a coun-
try in deep economic and political crisis, with growing xenophobia against all
foreign workers, and expressions of acute anti-Semitism at the appearance of
German Jews.” To be sure, the xenophobic turn was evident well before the
crises of the 1930s. France had begun expelling immigrant workers from cer-
tain industries at the first signs of economic troubles in the mid-1920s.** They
worked in industries that had a large number of unemployed French workers.
There were also national security considerations at play in the new policy direc-
tions. The expulsions were aimed also at relatively recent immigrants who had
yet to set their roots in France. At the same time, in 1927, a new nationality law
was adopted with the clear intention of tying established immigrants to France
by reducing from ten to three the number of years of residence for eligibility for
naturalization into French citizenship. By this one move, the number of young
men available for military service increased dramatically. Still, the campaign
against foreign workers continued. The conditions for the renewal of residence
and work permits were tightened in 1926, and in August 1932 the government
adopted a Law for the Protection of National Labour, which introduced quotas
on the employment of foreigners in any one industry. Those eligible for natural-
ization were thus compelled to seek it.”*

French responses to the refugees from Germany were generous at first. From
March up to 11 April 1933, some 4,000 visa applications had been received at
French diplomatic posts in Germany.”® For the refugees trying to flee Germany,
any legitimate means would do. Most applications were for short-stay or transit
visas, because obligations on documentary evidence and proof of the financial
means were less onerous. For consular and Foreign Ministry staff, however, these
strategies raised grave questions of national security and professional competi-
tion. The Foreign Ministry had no doubt that these applications for short-stay
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or transit visas were a ruse to get to France, with every intention of settling.
Most visa applications, it was also noted, were from ‘an intellectual elite, doctors
and lawyers for the most part. The consular officers who received their appli-
cations found themselves ‘in the presence of delicate questions of professional
competition’ that they did not have the competence to judge.?”” Foreign Minister
Joseph Paul-Boncour consequently instructed his consuls in Germany to assess
visa applications more rigorously and only approve them when they were cer-
tain a refugee had the means of living independently and would not prejudice
French public order and security. Even so, it does seem that consular officials
were moved by the plight of those approaching them as complaints continued
that visas were still being issued far too readily.

Many, however, could not provide the documentary proof to satisfy consular
officials, or they simply did not have the means to live independently. For some,
circumstances were so pressing that the delay to obtain a visa was unendurable.
Others simply could not obtain a German passport. There was no choice but to
leave without one. Border guards were instructed to admit those who were truly
refugees in flight from persecution, but admission to France was no guarantee
of asylum.”® Other barriers awaited the refugees. A residence permit required a
work permit, but they were all but impossible to obtain because of the restric-
tions on the employment of foreigners due to the protection of French labour
and the professions. Both work and residence permits were out of the question
for most of the refugees. Their visas authorized only temporary residence, usu-
ally for twenty days. Onward travel was expected but seldom possible because of
the difficulty in obtaining a visa to enter another country.?

Although the situation was grave and difficult, France nevertheless main-
tained an open border for much of 1933. This changed dramatically towards the
end of October. When the League of Nations announced that it was appointing
a High Commissioner to assume responsibility for assisting the refugees from
Nazi Germany, the French government decided immediately to admit no more
refugees. They would now be the responsibility of the new High Commissioner.
And the first of his responsibilities, the French government insisted, was to help
relieve France of its already heavy refugee burden.

The Netherlands too had a long tradition of offering asylum to refugees, but
unlike France it did not consider itself a country of immigration. Rather, until
the First World War, when it was home to hundreds of thousands of Belgian
war refugees, its history was one of emigration and transit. Only later, under the
pressure of unemployment, was there a need for visa requirements and immi-

gration controls.” The refugees arriving from Germany who could demonstrate
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that they had the finances to live independently faced few obstacles in coming to
the Netherlands. Tighter controls were only evident from May 1934, when the
Netherlands, as was the case elsewhere, sought to keep out those without suffi-
cient means of supporting themselves and their families. Until then, the Dutch
government considered refugees from Nazi Germany as visitors and assumed
no responsibility for their welfare. In the first months of 1933, some 1,500 refu-
gees arrived, nominally as visitors, but with few restrictions many settled for the
longer term. By the end of 1933, a total of 4,078 refugees had registered with the
Dutch Jewish Refugee Committee.*

In Belgium, on the other hand, the Depression had already led to limits on
immigration before the arrival of refugees from Germany. Border guards were
instructed to bar the admission of immigrant workers.* Just as in other coun-
tries, refugees faced few obstacles if they arrived with ample funds to support
themselves, or if they had assets to invest in a productive enterprise, a feature
peculiar to policy in Belgium. Political refugees, whose lives or freedom were
endangered because of their political activities, could benefit from asylum. Jews,
on the other hand, were not considered to be political refugees, and furthermore
were not considered to be victims of socio-economic deprivation under Nazi
racial legislation. They consequently had no right to work and were forced to live
off their savings. They were tolerated only so long as necessary to arrange their
onward travels. Even those considered useful to the Belgian economy because
they had brought with them assets and a willingness to contribute were granted
only temporary residence, which was extended only so long as they satisfied the
Belgian government of their usefulness.”> Germans who arrived without proper
authorization were assuredly not welcome. They were pressured to leave before
they had a chance to settle down: France and the Netherlands were consequently
obliged to receive the refugees that Belgium rejected.**

Switzerland provides an altogether different example. Some 8,000 to 9,000
German Jews, socialists and communists fled there in the first months of 1933,
according to French diplomatic sources.”® Between March and May 1933, some
7,631 Jewish refugees had passed through Basel railway station, but few remained
for any length of time. For most, then, Switzerland was one stop on a longer
journey. By the end of 1933, no more than 2,500 German refugees remained.
There were no impediments in their way, so long as they had no intention other
than visiting. Unemployment and economic protection again warranted border
controls and the strict regulation of work and residence entitlements.”® A decree
of the Swiss government on 31 March 1933 formally excluded refugees flee-
ing racial persecution from permanent settlement. Jews, then, were German
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emigrants in transit, allowed no more than six months residence under a special
‘tolerance permit.*’

The histories of the flight from Nazism have been so focused on responses
in those countries with long traditions of immigration and asylum that com-
parative little is known of the conditions that faced refugees in Central and
Eastern Europe. These were countries whose historical traditions were of the
emigration of their populations to the West, especially to the Americas. Jews
from the Pale of Settlement abandoned the old world of anti-Semitic persecu-
tion and resettled in important diasporas in France, Britain and above all the
United States. Czech, Slovakian, Polish, Hungarian and the nationalities of the
Balkans made up large numbers of the ‘new immigration’ to the United States
from 1890. The reformation of Central and Eastern Europe at the end of the
First World War saw many nationalities dispersed across new national bound-
aries. One solution to dislocation was naturalization into the nationality of the
country of residence. Therefore, many Poles, Czechs and other nationalities
of the former Austro-Hungarian Empire, who were living in Germany after
1918, chose German nationality under the Weimar nationality laws. So too did
many thousands of White Russians who settled there as refugees after the 1917
Russian Revolution.

The German denationalization law of 14 July 1933, however, stripped those
naturalized during the Weimar years of their German citizenship. Eastern Jews
were a particular target of Nazi anti-Semitism.*® Therefore German-Polish,
-Czech and -Russian Jews could either flee or reclaim their former nationality
and contemplate return to their homelands, even though they might not ever
have lived there, or had any comprehension of their national languages.

To be sure, denationalized Poles, Russians and East European Jews from
Germany, had few difficulties in gaining admission to countries in the West in
early 1933. Attitudes hardened over the year, however, as the refugee numbers
showed no sign of abating.*” The consular officials who refused them visas could
comfort themselves in the knowledge that these refugees had another national-
ity to fall back on. Russian Jews who had settled in Germany as refugees from
Bolshevism could fall back on the protection of the Nansen International Office
for Refugees, a bureau of the League of Nations responsible for refugees under
intergovernmental agreements of 1921, 1924 and 1928. The Nansen Office could
see to their welfare and resettlement where places were available for them.

Recent work on asylum in Czechoslovakia has shed some light on the gap
in our historical knowledge of the conditions facing refugees in Central and
Eastern Europe at this time. Czechoslovakia was an attractive destination for
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the refugees from Nazism because the German language was spoken widely and
because its long border with Germany offered many unguarded places to cross.
Communists and socialists were particularly prominent among the German ref-
ugees there. The one requirement of the Czechoslovakian government was that
the refugees refrain from political activity. There was however no specific policy
for their support and maintenance, and they faced the general rules relating to
the entry and residence of all foreigners.*’

The reception of German refugees in Poland in the early 1930s is still a largely
unknown subject, however. In 1934, the American Jewish Joint Distribution
Committee reported that, although the refugees arriving there from Germany
were themselves Polish by nationality and experienced no restrictions on employ-
ment, the Jewish population as a whole suffered under extreme economic dep-
rivation. The arrival of the refugees only exacerbated their circumstances.* The
High Commissioner’s own inquiries in Poland in 1934 found also that Polish
Jewish organizations were ill at ease with the arrival of Jews of Polish origin from
Germany, who had never lived in Poland and who had no knowledge of either
Polish or Yiddish.*? They upset the delicate state of Polish-Jewish relations, and
Polish Jews were already feeling the impact of a rise in native Polish anti-Semitism.

In summary, the figures published by the High Commissioner for the Refugees
from Germany in his first report, published in December 1933, showed that
there were some 11,000 German refugees in Czechoslovakia and Poland. All of
the 6,000 refugees in Poland were Jewish. Altogether, there was a total of 59,300
German refugees in Europe (including the British protectorate of Palestine,
over which the British government regulated immigration), 86 per cent of them
Jewish. France accommodated by far the largest proportion, at 42 per cent of
the total (Table 1.1).

The true history of the refugees from Nazi Germany, however, is not one of
their numbers. Indeed, the numbers were comparatively minor in compari-
son to the refugees in Europe in the 1920s, when there were in some estima-
tions between one and two million refugees from the Russian Empire after
the 1917 Revolution, and upwards of 320,000 Armenian and other refugees
from Turkey.** Rather, the true history of the refugees from Nazism lies in the
responses to them. They were all at risk if they remained in Germany, but no
government was prepared to admit them as refugees, and no government took
responsibility for their personal welfare and legal protection. The application of
‘no public charge’ tests, and the insistence that they had sufficient money in hand
to support themselves without working and without recourse to public welfare
absolved their host governments of responsibility for them. They were received
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Table 1.1 Estimated distribution of refugees from Germany, December 1933*

Jewish Non-Jewish

Country Refugees Number % Number %
France 25,000 21,250 85 3,750 15
Palestine 6,500 6,500 100

Poland 6,000 6,000 100

Czechoslovakia 5,000 3,750 75 1,250 25
Holland 5,000 4,000 80 1,000 20
England 3,000 2,500 83 500 17
Belgium 2,500 2,000 80 500 20
Switzerland 2,500 2,125 85 375 15
Scandinavia 1,500 1,125 75 375 25
Austria 800 640 80 160 20
Saar and Luxembourg 500 375 75 125 25
Other Countries 1,000 800 80 200 20
Totals 59,300 51,065 86 8,235 14

instead as immigrants, usually on short-term or transit visas, and had to fend
for themselves from what little they were able to take with them from Germany.

The Russian and Armenian refugees of the 1920s in contrast, had the bene-
fit of more prosperous economic conditions and politically supportive govern-
ments. Post-war recovery and reconstruction created a demand for workers that
helped absorb them into the economies and workforces of those countries that
took them in. These refugees were also the beneficiaries of humanitarian cooper-
ation among the member states of the League of Nations, and represented for a
short while the great hope of the League as an agent of peace and international
accord. There was international agreement on the legal protection of these refu-
gees in the special Arrangements of 1921, 1924 and 1928, and finally, through
the first ever international convention for the protection of refugees of October
1933. By these accords, the Russians and Armenians had a distinct legal status as
‘refugees, protected under the terms of these arrangements, with special travel
permits that allowed them to enter and settle in countries where they could find
employment or rejoin families and community members from whom they had
been separated during their flight into exile.

The refugees from Germany, on the other hand, emerged in a period of
great economic stress and political uncertainty. There was no place for them
in the economies of Europe or the Americas. Labour markets suffering acute
unemployment could not absorb them and public opinion had turned against
all immigrants, whatever their origin, unless they could fend for themselves and
posed no problems for the public order. Anti-foreign sentiments were aimed
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specifically at immigrant workers and professionals who could be competition
in the labour markets, who would make claims for scarce resources of public
welfare and housing but who would make no contribution in return. Marxist
refugees stirred anxieties because of fears about their political militancy in exile,
which might well jeopardize harmonious international relations. The large
number of Jewish refugees especially incited anti-foreign responses, rekindling
dormant anti-Semitism, or stirring up an anti-Jewish hostility that was seeping
across the German border as sympathetic political extremists looked approv-
ingly upon the rise of Nazism. In Switzerland, German Jews bore the brunt of a
new wave of native anti-Semitism as the Swiss complained that their country was
being progressively Judaized.*> Middle-class Catholic organizations in Belgium
went so far as to call for the expulsion of all Jews. Meanwhile, Belgian labour
organizations demanded an end to all foreign’ participation in the workforce,
when by ‘foreigner’ they meant Jews*® In Austria, Czechoslovakia and Poland,
local Jewish communities looked apprehensively upon the arrival of Jews from
Germany lest they stir up native anti-Semitism.*” French Jews also sensed the
escalation of French anti-Semitism with the arrival of so many German Jews,
compromising their loyalties to France and their co-religionists in need of
protection.*®

The conditions the refugees faced abroad were made all the worse by some of
the terms imposed on their departure from Germany. Many could not satisfy the
demands of foreign governments that they have sufficient funds for their own
support in order to obtain an immigration visa because the Nazi government
would not allow emigrants to leave Germany with anything but a small fraction
of their wealth. They were required in fact to dispose of their business, property
and personal assets, receiving in return only a portion of their true worth. From
what was left, they had to meet the costs of visas, travel and shipping, and pay
the ‘Reich flight tax; the Reichsfluchtsteuer. This tax, introduced in 1931, was a
means of conserving Germany’s foreign exchange reserves and to retain German
wealth in Germany. For the Nazis, it was a means of appropriating wealth
from Jews intent on leaving. The amount payable to the Reich upon departure
was 25 per cent of the value of the property of emigrants with an income of
20,000 Reichsmarks ($8,000) or more, or resources over 200,000 Reichsmarks
($80,000). The remainder was retained in a special blocked account, with limited
access. The tax was increased over time as the German government sought to
increase its foreign exchange holdings. By May 1934, the maximum an emigrant
could take was 10,000 Reichsmarks ($4,000); by June, this was reduced further
to 2,000 Reichsmarks ($800).*
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These constraints — the appropriation of property and assets on an emigrant’s
departure, the bar to employment abroad, and the obligation to leave the country
they had first entered when their temporary visas had expired - all contributed to
illegality and clandestine behaviour. Illegality, with the use of forged papers, the
refusal to surrender personal items or the use of unlawful means to save a part
of their property, Herbert A. Strauss observes, was part of the process by which
German Jews asserted their legal rights against the illegalities imposed upon them
by the Nazi regime. Bribery was also one means of progressing along the queues
for visas.”® Those who had managed to take some portion of their wealth with
them often found it quickly exhausted by the costs of travel and resettlement. The
question of illegality therefore also arose to meet the challenges of survival abroad.
Clandestine employment was often the only means refugees had of avoiding pov-
erty, and an underground, clandestine existence was forced upon them in order to
avoid forced expulsion or repatriation after the expiration of a visa.

When governments failed to protect the refugees, aid organizations stepped
forward. Charitable organizations such as the Society of Friends (Quakers) and the
Save the Children Fund mobilized volunteers and supporters to assist both Jewish
and non-Jewish refugees. Jewish organizations were highly active in calling for
philanthropic donations to assist in the emigration and resettlement of Jewish ref-
ugees. The Central British Fund for Germany Jewry, later known as the Council for
Germany Jewry, was established in Britain in early 1933 as a representative agency
for all sections of the Anglo-Jewish community. It took upon itself the organiza-
tion and administration of relief and retraining of Jewish refugees in Britain, and
organized a programme to help the emigration of Jews from Germany.>" Across
Europe, national committees were formed to raise and distribute funds for ref-
ugee relief. In France, the National Refugee Aid Committee (Comité National
de secours aux réfugiés) established by Robert de Rothschild, of the Rothschild
banking dynasty, and Jacques Helbronner, president of the Consistoire cen-
tral Israélite de France (Central Jewish Consistory of France), the official organ
of French Judaism, provided relief for new refugees who could not obtain work.
However, as more refugees arrived and found themselves in need of its assistance
the Committee’s funds were almost exhausted by the end of 1933 and new contri-
butions were hard to come by. The Dutch Committee for Jewish Refugees (Comité
voor Joodsche Vluchtelingen) and a Czech refugee aid committee assumed similar
responsibilities for Jewish relief in the Netherlands and Czechoslovakia, and would
play important roles in refugee protection in their countries.”

These committees raised and distributed funds in their own countries. There
was yet no international coordination of relief efforts. The major Jewish relief
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agency that operated across national boundaries, the American Jewish Joint
Distribution Committee, was at first divided about how best to use its resources
for the aid of German Jews. Founded during the First World War to raise money
from the American public for relief efforts, it channelled funds to agencies
assisting Jews in Poland, Russia and the Ukraine. After the war, it continued its
operations for reconstruction and rehabilitation in Eastern Europe through its
European Office in Berlin. When the Nazis came the power, it relocated to Paris,
and opinion among its leaders gradually shifted towards helping the emigration
and resettlement of German Jews. Its policy was subsequently founded on the
view that, under Nazism, there was no hope for the younger generation of Jews
in Germany, and that they had to be retrained for productive ‘vocations of agri-
culture, handicraft, and the like’ so that they could resettle abroad.”

The possibility of resettlement in Palestine promised the best solution for
these young German Jews. As elsewhere, however, practical and political
impediments stood in the way. Extensive planning and investment was required
for long-term occupational training, and for the development of locations for
settlement and industry. Even then, Zionist ambitions to relocate German Jews
to Palestine faced the barrier of Britain’s regulation of Jewish settlement. Since
the beginning of its mandate of Palestine, British policy was determined by
Palestine’s capacity to absorb new settlers. Judgements of occupational demand,
age qualification, and the interests of the Arab peoples determined the ‘suitable
conditions’ that favoured settlement.**

The Zionist Jewish Agency for Palestine capitalized on the political develop-
ments inside Germany to further its plans for Jewish settlement. It struck an
accord with the German government to facilitate Jewish emigration to Palestine.
The Haavara (Hebrew for ‘transfer’) agreement provided the capital the Jewish
Agency for Palestine required for occupational retraining and agricultural and
industrial development. German Jews intending to go to Palestine could retain
part of their assets by providing payment in Reichsmarks to German exporters,
and obtain in return Palestinian currency from importers in Palestine. In short,
German goods were to be sold, and immigrants were to be reimbursed from
the proceeds of the sales.”® The Haavara effectively amounted to a monopoly
on the sale of German goods in Palestine with the help of Jewish capital. But it
alienated the Jewish Agency from other Jewish organizations that were promot-
ing a boycott of German trade. The Haavara undermined the international boy-
cott and instead contributed to the recovery of German industry. On the other
hand, it also brought about the importation of capital and goods for agricultural
and industrial development in Palestine and held out promise for the future for
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young German Jews. Politically, it helped build a momentum for Jewish emigra-
tion that would challenge British control over Palestine resettlement.*®

During the first months of 1933 the refugees from Nazism garnered inter-
national attention in two ways: one elicited expressions of indignation at the
Nazis™ treatment of the Jews and their political opponents, the other mobilized
philanthropic responses for the aid and welfare of the refugees. These were both
responses of an outraged public. No government could seriously protest against
German anti-Semitism, since anti-Semitic sentiments were all too evident in
their own countries. Partly for this reason, governments held themselves aloof
from the root causes of the emigration from Germany.

Those states to which the refugees turned were in the precarious position of
balancing the pressures of economic depression, unemployment and the anxie-
ties these caused. As restrictions on new immigrants were applied, the pressure
from refugees also grew. And as refugee numbers increased, so did doubts about
the capacity of national economies to absorb them. Even harsher restrictions
were introduced, first to exclude refugees from the workforce, then to exclude
them from the country altogether. In better times, the unwanted of Europe
would have moved on to the Americas. This was no longer possible. Refugees
therefore found themselves in overcrowded European labour markets, where
trade unions, professional organizations, and political parties demanded the
protection of national workers from foreign competitors. Welfare services for
refugees were strained almost to exhaustion, and by the end of 1933 new sources
of funds to continue their relief efforts were hard to come by.

Governments absolved themselves of this responsibility. Most of those in
flight were received as temporary immigrants — visitors, or foreigners in tran-
sit to another country. There was some recognition that Jews, communists,
socialists, pacifists and other enemies of Nazism, were indeed in need of pro-
tection for political or racial reasons. France, the Netherlands, Switzerland and
Czechoslovakia in particular extended protection in the first months of 1933,
when refugees could not produce valid identity or travel documents. But they
were admitted only for a limited time, under special sufferance, and denied
the right to work. Illegality among the refugees was therefore common; it was
forced upon them by the need to survive. By working without an authorized
permit, they risked expulsion or repatriation. Their employers could also fall
foul of the law for hiring them without a work permit. Failure to leave upon
the expiry of the entry visa forced many into a clandestine existence.

The refugees from Nazism were consequently a greatly disruptive influence
on the societies and labour markets of Europe and the need for a coordinated
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response to alleviate the problems was apparent as the International Labour
Conference convened for its Seventeenth Session in Geneva in June 1933.
This annual conference, which brought together governments, employers and
trade union organizations of the International Labour Organization mem-
ber countries, addressed matters of common concern to their economies and
labour markets. Worker delegates from the Netherlands, France, Belgium
and Switzerland presented a motion to its June 1933 session calling on the
International Labour Organization to undertake all ‘necessary studies with a
view to placing German refugees in different countries without detriment to
the economic welfare of those countries’”” The motion recognized the refu-
gees from Germany as a matter of concern across Europe, and through their
national labour movements, member governments came under pressure to
raise it as a matter of international concern at the September 1933 Session of
the League of Nations Assembly.



James G. McDonald in Berlin and Geneva

In his role as chair of the American Foreign Policy Association, James
G. McDonald used the new medium of broadcast radio to inform the American
public about international affairs. He observed and commented on developments
in Germany, having first visited Berlin during August and September 1932, then
monitoring from abroad the final crisis of the Weimar Republic and the National
Socialist Revolution of January and March 1933. The intense interest in German
politics within the United States ensured that he attracted an eager audience. His
listeners were alarmed at these developments and the public mood hardened
over the early months of 1933, upon the arrival of the first refugees from Nazism
with their stories of persecution.

McDonald had returned from his visit to Berlin in September 1932 conscious
of the power of Nazism. He had attended a party rally in Berlin on 1 September
and gained, he noted, a new picture of Hitler’s mass appeal and his movement’s
hold on the German people. In March 1933, he decided to return to learn more
of the unfolding revolution. He arrived in Berlin on 29 March 1933. Three days
later he witnessed the boycott of Jewish businesses and the new round of attacks
on German Jews.?

His chairmanship of the American Foreign Policy Association opened doors
to important figures in German politics, finance and the foreign office. He could
also draw upon the aid of informal American—-German networks, both Jewish
and non-Jewish, to gain access to Nazi leaders and the victims of their anti-
Semitism. He had already established a good working relationship with Hjalmar
Schacht, president of the Reichsbank, and again drew upon on Schacht’s contacts
in the Economic and Foreign ministries. McDonald’s talks with officials in these
ministries included the disarmament negotiations between Britain, France and
Germany, the state of the German economy since the Nazis came to power and

the ramifications of Nazi policies on Germany’s standing in international affairs,
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a subject to which he returned frequently during his meetings. Some officials,
he found, were still wary of the Nazis and of how Germany was being perceived
abroad; some even belittled Hitler. Others, however, were convinced that Hitler
was the way forward. Hans Luther in the Reichsbank assured him that once the
Nazi revolution was complete, German policies would moderate, and reconcili-
ation within Germany would be possible. Party members themselves were much
less reassuring, however, telling McDonald that Germany was engaged in a fight
for its very future.

There was little for him to discuss with those of closed minds, but he was
quick to identify individuals who might be persuaded about the poor per-
ception of the Nazi anti-Semitic programme abroad, if they were properly
informed. Schacht was one such individual, McDonald believed, and there
were others like him in the Foreign Ministry. The Foreign Ministry was not yet
as Nazified as other ministries, and it seemed to have a moderating influence on
the regime. The officials with whom he had the opportunity to discuss German
foreign relations concurred that Nazi anti-Semetic excesses had gone too far,
and had caused dangerous reactions against Germany abroad.’ Schacht, true
to his senior position in the German economy, was sensitive to the impact of
German isolation. Indeed, for McDonald, Schacht was a key point of contact
and was someone with whom he could maintain good relations in order to keep
open a dialogue with the new regime.*

Another with whom McDonald enjoyed good personal relations was the
German-American Ernst Hanfstaengl. Educated at Harvard, Hanfstaengl had
abandoned the United States after the First World War and had become a mem-
ber of the National Socialist Party in its early days in Munich. Hanfstaengl
also had long-standing personal ties with President Roosevelt and his family’s
business interests.” He was therefore another important figure for McDonald
to nurture, in order to impress upon the new regime the perception of its pol-
icies abroad. Hanfstaengl gave him access to senior party figures, even offer-
ing, without prompting on McDonald’s part, to arrange a meeting for him with
Chancellor Hitler.

The German Jews with whom McDonald met revealed the stark consequences
of Nazi race policies. Max Warburg, brother of the prominent New York banker
and chair of the Joint Distribution Committee, Felix Warburg, a friend and sup-
porter of McDonald, brought him face to face with the personal toll that Nazi
anti-Semitism had on German Jews and their foreboding for the future.® Berlin’s
Jews were indeed deeply pessimistic and looked to McDonald for assurance and
assistance. The attempts that were being made abroad to embarrass or damage
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the Nazi regime through a boycott of German trade could only make matters
worse for them, they pleaded, but they would benefit from the protection of
such a well-placed American as himself, if he could remain in Berlin. It was not
only his status that would help them; he had the right physical characteristics,
as a ‘perfect Nordic type, to impress the Nazis.” The Nazis were indeed attracted
to his ‘perfect’ racial features and so were curious about his views on their race
policy: ‘But surely you, a perfect type of Aryan; he was told, ‘could not be unsym-
pathetic with our views’?

Not quite a diplomat, as he was not an official representative of the United
States’ government, McDonald nevertheless presented himself to his hosts as a
citizen of the United States who could help shape American opinion. He there-
fore found men willing to entertain him and discuss German affairs openly. He
maintained a diplomatic distance and gained their confidence, but secretly he
was under his hosts” watchful eye. His mail and telegraphs were being inter-
cepted, and the assurances he received about German-American relations, he
could tell, were responses to the concerns he had expressed privately in his cor-
respondence with the Foreign Policy Association; the assurances he was given
about the future prospects of the Jews were no more that what he wanted to hear.’

McDonald was left in no doubt, in the end, that the Nazis were impervious to
outside opinion, and he worried about what could unfold once the Nazi revolu-
tion was complete. Having witnessed the power of Nazi propaganda in inciting
the national boycott of Jewish businesses on 1 April, he wrote of a ‘very real
portent’ of the Nazi’s deeper intentions. He was constrained in what he could say
about the German regime, however, and admitted to the American public dur-
ing a radio broadcast from Berlin that he could not tell the truth if he were asked
to give a personal view. He was still, at the time, seeking interviews with senior
Nazis and was awaiting Hanfstaengl’s promised meeting with Hitler. Privately,
however, he wrote to the Foreign Policy Association that the boycott was ‘only
the outward visible sign’ of the ‘destructive discrimination against all Jews in law,
medicine, school, civil service, shop and industry’.*

With an eye to weaknesses in the regime, he noted the many rumours that
the Nazi hold on power was not yet secure. The attitude of the Reichswehr to
the National Socialist government was yet unclear, and some Jews hoped that it
would come to their defence by standing against the SA, the Nazi paramilitary,
and the party’s security arm, the SS. There were also rumours that President
Hindenburg was preparing for a state of siege to allow the Reichswehr to wrest
power from the regime. Other rumours hinted that the terror against the Jews
and communists showed how much Hitler had lost control of local officials.” At



32 The League of Nations and the Refugees from Nazi Germany

a time of great anxiety and gloom, there was a need to look for signs that might
give some hope for better outcomes.

They were hard to find, however. A private conversation with Hanfstaengl
stirred McDonald to record his gloomier feelings. He might have considered
Hanfstaengl a friend because of the courtesy he had shown him during his time
in Berlin, but McDonald found his fanaticism frightening. The mere mention of
the Jews rankled Hanfstaengl, and there was no point arguing, utterly convinced
as he was that the Jews had forced Germany to sign the Treaty of Versailles and
that Jewish bankers had profiteered from Germany’s reparations.'? Restless after
their conversation, McDonald went for a late night stroll in the Tiergarten. In
one of the few moments of reflection recorded in his extensive diaries, he noted
the ‘beautiful night, spring-like, bright stars, many lovers ... a world seemingly
at peace and yet these ghastly hatreds breeding such shocking plans for heartless
oppression of a whole section of the people. I almost thought I had experienced
a nightmare’"

Hanfstaengl, however, made good on his promise to arrange an interview for
him with Chancellor Hitler. It took place on the afternoon of 8 April. McDonald
began by raising the subject of German foreign affairs, but Hanfstaengl, who
was interpreting, cut him short to raise immediately the subject of the Jews.
This was planned, McDonald was sure, so that Hitler could deliver a well
rehearsed polemic prepared for visitors from the United States: the regime was
not primarily attacking the Jews, but rather the socialists and communists; the
United States already had in place policies to keep the Jews out, while Germany
has suffered their immigration from the east — this was now being corrected.
Germany, in other words, was merely adopting the same kind of policies that
the United States had implemented to keep out Jews, socialists and communists
from Eastern Europe through its immigration quotas. The interview was of little
value; there was no discussion and McDonald had no opportunity to present his
argument about the impact of Nazi race policy on Germany’s standing abroad.
His diary entry on his interview, of great importance no doubt in his objective of
informing the new regime of how its policies diminished Germany’s standing in
world opinion, is only fourteen lines long, of which half are Hitler’s words. The
entry concludes abruptly, still quoting Hitler: ‘{Germany] is fighting the battle
of the world, et

Historian of Hitler’s foreign policy, Gerhard Weinberg, writes that in the
first half of 1933 the records of the US State Department bulged with protests
from American individuals and organizations of all kinds against the German
persecution of the Jews."” McDonald’s visit to Berlin reinforced the growing
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impression within the State Department and among the American public that
there was no reasoning with the Nazis, and that the full horror of its Jewish pro-
gramme might only just be commencing. Upon his return from Berlin, there-
fore, McDonald could offer little reassurance to Jewish leaders in New York,
affiliates of the Foreign Policy Association, and to President Roosevelt him-
self. Publicly, McDonald refused to condemn the Nazis, which left him open
to attack as an apologist. His critics did not know that at the time he was under
consideration for appointment as American Ambassador to Germany and was
therefore not free to express his personal opinion. However, once the question of
the ambassadorship was settled - William Dodd’s nomination was confirmed by
Congress on 10 June 1933 - McDonald could speak more openly. He described
the Nazi Jewish programme in a series of radio broadcasts as not simply an
outrage against Germany’s Jews, ‘but a threat to civilisation. In an article for
the New York Times of 15 June, he wrote that the anti-Semitic persecutions in
Germany were actions taken by ‘Christians in the name of Christianity. What
was happening to the Jews in Germany therefore was not a Jewish problem but
‘a challenge to civilized men’'®

McDonald made many appeals to Christian sympathies in order to stir
American opinion. The persecution of the Jews in Germany was not a Jewish
problem alone, he insisted; it also affected the Christian world. Christians
not only perpetrated these outrages, they were also among the victims. It was
a theme he pressed in a number of public talks during July 1933: “The Jewish
problem is a Christian problem; the persecutions are carried out in the name
of Christianity’'” The refugees from Germany were not exclusively Jewish, he
reminded Eleanor Roosevelt in a letter dated 24 July. There were many non-Jews
also among them. Nor was there an end it sight to the problem. A new exodus
would soon come, McDonald warned, ‘and in that event, the percentage of non-
Jews will be higher than the first’'

McDonald returned to Berlin again in August 1933 to observe developments
over the summer. Things had changed markedly. Moderate voices were now
rare. The administration seemed to have been purged of men sensitive to inter-
national opinion; or, like Hjalmar Schacht, they had become more forthright in
their support of Nazism in order to protect their careers. The few expressions
of hope he heard came out of despair. George Messersmith at the American
embassy expressed the vain hope that the parlous state of the German econ-
omy was stirring the first signs of discontent among the workers, and even the
beginning of disillusionment among Nazis themselves. Yet, Messersmith was
convinced that there was no chance of moderation in the regime’s anti-Jewish
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programme. Former German Chancellor Heinrich Briining told McDonald that,
while pessimistic about the future, he was nevertheless counting on the leaders
of the Reichswehr to have a moderating influence in foreign affairs. Although
Hitler might change his attitude about some things, Briining warned, he was
intransigent on the Jews."

This brief visit to Berlin was the first stop in a tour of selected European capi-
tals. He wanted to observe the impact of and responses to the refugees who had
fled Germany, before travelling on to Geneva to observe the 1933 session of the
League of Nations Assembly.

There was a palpable mood of pessimism in Geneva in the days before the
Assembly started sitting. The change in the tone of international politics fol-
lowing the emergence of the new regime in Germany was only one reason.
The year 1933 also marked a distinct drift away from the initial, idealist phase
of the League of Nations when it was invested with the hopes of securing an
enduring peace. In 1932, foundation Secretary General Sir Eric Drummond
announced his intention to stand down, and on 1 July 1933, his deputy, Joseph
Avenol, a conservative French nationalist, on the political right in his home-
land, assumed the post.?® This was more than a symbolic change. It came at
a time when the League had faced a number of crises that revealed its weak-
nesses and its inability to assert itself in world affairs. Drummond cited as
one reason for stepping aside the jealousies and discord among member states
that had crept into the League’s deliberations. Avenol, for his part, brought
more caution, bureaucracy, secrecy and timidity into these deliberations, with
a determination to depoliticize the League and its Secretariat. His approach
was the appeasement of Germany.*

Neither the League of Nations nor its Secretary General can be held fully
responsible for the faltering spirit of international cooperation, however.
Economic depression and national self-interest that came in its wake were at
once a cause and a symptom of a changed international climate.?” Certainly, the
political crisis following Japan’s invasion of Manchuria in 1931 - a clear breach
of the non-aggression provisions of Articles 10 and 11 of the League’s Covenant
that justified League intervention - only revealed the powerlessness of the
League and the timidity of its member states when confronted with an act of
aggression by another member state.”> But what options short of war could be
considered? And if war was the one available option, then what did that mean
for the ideals of peace for which the League of Nations stood?

The League’s lack of will to stand up and defend its Covenant, and therefore
the key provisions of the peace treaties of 1919, worked against international
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cooperation. This was most evident during 1933. The year witnessed the failure
of attempts to solve outstanding problems through international agreements.
The World Economic Conference in London in June and July 1933 - an effort
taken outside the orbit of the League of Nations in order to reach an agreement
on measures to stimulate economic growth and world trade - had broken up
with no consensus on currency stabilization and trade. The United States again
withdrew from international cooperation to protect its national interests when
President Roosevelt refused to concede ground on the debt burdens stifling
European economic growth and on tarift levels strangling international trade.*

International cooperation also broke down at a critical stage of the disarma-
ment negotiations, the great unfinished task of the peace settlement. Negotiations
had stalled and were a source of aggravation in the relations between the great
powers. The idea of disarmament had become, in the words of Zara Steiner, a
‘poisoned chalice’ as France, Britain and Germany all refused to surrender stra-
tegic advantage. The French felt vindicated in their refusal to make concessions
now that the new German regime was ‘steadily alienating the rest of the world’
Comments like this gave the Nazis further reason to denounce the Treaty of
Versailles for its victimization and humiliation of Germany.?

The problem of the refugees from Nazi Germany was another issue dampen-
ing the mood of the national delegations arriving in Geneva in September 1933.
The refugees were, the International Labour Conference had announced at its
June session, an imposition on the labour markets and the cause of social and
economic distress in Germany’s neighbours. The League of Nations, it resolved,
could play an important role in assisting both the refugees and the countries
burdened by their presence. During the preparations for the Assembly, the
question being asked was whether the League of Nations could assume an
effective role in response to the refugees, not what sort of role it could take.
There was a good reason for this. League members were yet uncertain about
how the German delegation would present itself to the Assembly, the first since
the Nazis came to power. What demands it might make on the hated symbol
of the injustice of the Treaty of Versailles? A confrontation with Germany over
its domestic affairs might well precipitate an adverse response. This was best
avoided. One other question was scarcely uttered: did the League of Nations
itself have the strength and the will to confront Germany over policies that
were abhorrent to its members? The previous June, the League Council had an
opportunity for a bold stance against German anti-Jewish policies but failed to
take it, choosing instead to shy away from a confrontation with an important
member.
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Assistance for the victims of the Nazi persecutions was necessary under the
circumstances, irrespective of whether or not there was the will to confront
Germany over its policies. But assistance for the refugees did not address the
greater problem, the cause of the refugee movements from Germany. The sub-
ject of the Nazi persecution of the Jews was deferred to in silence, so long as
humanitarian aid was channelled privately to refugee assistance. There was still
a great need for a public expression of worldwide outrage at Nazi policies, how-
ever. The boycott of German trade had rebounded, because Nazi propaganda
used it as evidence of an international Jewish conspiracy against Germany. Life
for Germany’s Jews became more difficult as a consequence.

For the nascent Comité des Délégations Juives (Committee of Jewish
Delegations), Germany’s persecution of the Jews raised significant questions of
international law in the post-war order, and it was essential that they be tested.
The forerunner of the World Jewish Congress, the Comité des Délégations Juives
was formed in March 1919 to represent Jewish interests during the Paris Peace
Conference and after.? The minorities protection obligations of the Treaty of
Versailles and the other peace treaties provided the grounds on which the legal-
ity of Nazi anti-Jewish actions could be tested.

Germany had been brought back into the fold of peaceful nations upon its rati-
fication of the Treaty of Locarno in September 1926, which gave it a seat among the
other European powers on the League Council. It subsequently had an equal voice
in maintaining the peace and the values of international order and cooperation
under the League’s Covenant and treaties. Among them were the values expressed
in the treaties for the protection of racial, linguistic and religious minorities in the
new and reformed states of Central and Eastern Europe. Drafted during the 1919
Paris Peace Conference, these treaties ensured that those displaced from their
national homeland by the redrawn European borders would not become inferior
citizens in those countries in which they by chance found themselves. The admis-
sion of Poland, Czechoslovakia, Austria, Hungary, Romania, Bulgaria, Greece and
Yugoslavia to the League of Nations required their signing these treaties to hold
them to respect the rights of racial, religious and linguistic minorities living with
their national boundaries.”” Germany was not obliged to sign a general minor-
ities treaty when it signed the Treaty of Versailles or when it was admitted to the
League of Nations by the Treaty of Locarno. Yet Nazi anti-Semitic policies were
widely interpreted as a grave breach of the spirit of minorities protection and the
principles of justice that the monitories treaties represented.

However, there was one treaty provision that did, in fact, hold Germany to
minorities protection. On this, the Comité des Délégations Juives determined a
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formal challenge of the Nazi anti-Jewish measures. In 1922, a small piece of dis-
puted territory of Upper Silesia on the south-eastern frontier between Germany
and Poland had been placed under the jurisdiction of a special commission
under a League of Nations Convention. Germany, like Poland, was therefore
beholden to protect the rights of the racial, linguistic and religious minorities,
namely, the Poles living in the German portion of Upper Silesia. Nazi anti-
Jewish measures were applied in German Upper Silesia with the same force as
in the whole of Germany. This, then, was grounds for invoking the minorities
protection clauses of the 1922 Convention for Germany’s failure to protect the
rights of the Jewish minority there.?

Therefore, on 17 May 1933, the League of Nations Secretariat received peti-
tions from twenty Polish Jews on behalf of German Jews in Upper Silesia, and
‘in Germany as a whole’ Another petition was received from an unnamed
Czech Jew, who had the support of American and English Jewish organiza-
tions.” A third petition was made in the name of a Jewish refugee from German
Upper Silesia named Franz Bernheim, who had fled to Czechoslavakia after
the purging of Jews from German businesses.*® It was submitted on Bernheim’s
behalf by Leo Motzkin, head of the Comité des Délégations Juives, and Dr
Emil Margulies, president of the Jewish Party of Czechoslovakia.” At the same
time Motzkin and Margulies both filed petitions under their own names.*
This flurry of petitions and their legal arguments on the application of minor-
ities clauses of the 1922 Convention on Upper Silesia are proof of an organized
campaign to bring German policies before world opinion through the League
of Nations.

The minorities treaties were specific to the states and the circumstances to
which they applied; no general interpretation could be inferred from them.
While the petitions argued that the Jews in German Upper Silesia were protected
from racial, linguistic and religious discrimination under the 1922 Convention,
no valid argument could be made about the protection of the Jewish minority
in Germany. In the strict reading of the minorities protection provision of the
Convention, furthermore, only one of these petitions, that of Franz Bernheim,
was admissible and therefore could be reviewed by the League of Nations
Council. Only Bernheim was a citizen of Upper Silesia and had a legitimate
complaint of discrimination because he was Jewish. His petition called upon the
League to enforce its responsibilities for minorities protection, to void the ‘laws,
decrees, and administrative measures in contradiction of the German-Polish
Convention’ and to order that Jews injured by these measures ... be reinstated
in their rights and that they ... be compensated’*
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For some historians, Bernheim’s petition is a footnote to the longer history of
Nazi anti-Semitism, a brief moment in the terrible problem of racial persecution
in Germany that only served to demonstrate the impotence of the major powers
and the League of Nations.** Legal scholars who have reflected on the evolution
of international human rights during the twentieth century, however, view the
petition as a brief awakening of human rights ideals in the interwar years before
they were more fully realized in the wake of the Second World War.** Certainly,
the petition was one way of expressing outrage over the Nazi persecution of the
Jews, and to protest within the legal, political and diplomatic means available.
It also shows the limitations of international law and politics when faced with
the very real problems of protecting vulnerable minorities. The precise terms
of the minorities clauses could address the specific complaints, but they could
also provide international diplomats with the means of dodging issues of moral
substance.

A “flutter of expectation’ greeted the Council’s consideration of Bernheim’s
complaint in May and June 1933. It was an important moment for the League
that attracted wide interest. The League Council could be decisive in its findings
and show the force of collective opposition to the acts of a member state, or it
could defer to the sovereignty of a member state in its domestic policy.* The will
of the League itself was therefore in question when the Council agreed to hear
the petition.

Media reports and diplomatic exchanges at this time criticized both the
immorality of the persecution of the Jews and the lack of will of other states to
challenge Germany. But this was not the time for the League of Nations and its
member states to defy Germany and its new National Socialist leaders. Germany’s
relations with the liberal states of Europe were at a critical juncture on the ques-
tion of disarmament. The League feared further antagonizing Germany and trod
very lightly around the fraught question of its domestic politics.

Friedrich von Keller, a career diplomat leading the German delegation on
the League Council, protested that the Council could not receive the petition, as
Bernheim was not living in Upper Silesia when he made it. His protest was over-
ruled and the petition was sent to a committee to prepare a report on the validity
of Bernheim’s claims and the provisions of the 1922 Convention that applied
in his case. Upon receiving the report the Council ruled that there had indeed
been a breach of the minorities clauses of the German-Polish Convention on
Upper Silesia, but that the remedy would have to be made under the terms of
the Convention itself, and not by an order of the Council. The petition was con-
sequently referred for ruling to the Mixed Commission of Germans and Poles
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of Upper Silesia, which administered the region on behalf of the League. Here
it was here found that Bernheim had been dismissed for the poor quality of
his work and his communist tendencies, and not because of Nazi race policy.
Compensation of 1,600 Reichsmarks was nevertheless awarded. The Mixed
Commission ruled on a further forty-seven complaints under the Convention
from Jewish teachers, lawyers, doctors and other employees who had lost their
positions. A compromise was reached in thirty-nine cases; sixteen were resolved
by reinstatement.”

The outcome was disappointing for those who had hoped that the Council
would make a firm stand against Germany. In the circumstances, it could dare
do no more. It had avoided a potentially embarrassing confrontation with a
member state over its domestic policies, and the progress of the disarmament
negotiations and Germany’s standing within the League were not jeopardized.
The question of the protection of minorities and Germany’s treatment of its Jews
had nevertheless been brought before world opinion, and the members of the
Council were not prepared to let such a significant issue of international politics
pass without debate. The foreign minister of Poland, Count Edward Raczynsky,
argued that the petition showed how a ‘minimum of rights’ was not guaranteed
to everyone, because not all states were held to the same obligations; the League
of Nations consequently had a moral obligation to pressure Germany into pro-
tecting its Jews. French foreign minister, Joseph Paul-Boncour, agreed that
the petition raised matters of concern throughout the whole of Germany.
Germany’s treatment of its Jews, he concluded, was only ‘one aspect of a more
general and more moving problem, the status of Jews everywhere.*® To be sure,
both Raczynsky and Paul-Boncour were self-serving in their interventions.
Raczynsky’s Poland resented its minorities obligations while other European
powers with large minorities, such as Germany, had no obligation - indeed,
Poland was compelled to respect the rights of the German minority within
Poland’s new borders, but Germany had no such obligation to protect the rights of
Poles within its borders. Paul-Boncour expressed long-standing Franco-German
animosity, and their present antagonism on the question of disarmament, but
was nevertheless constrained in his attack by France’s desire to maintain good
relations with the new German regime. The debate in the Council subsequently
developed into a reflection on the scope of minorities protection and the status
of Jews as a minority, and avoided criticism of Germany’s racial policy.*

It was resolved in the end that the minorities protection treaties represented
fundamental principles of justice and toleration expected of all states towards
their national and religious minorities. This had been recognized already in
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1922, but conscious of the persecution of a minority by an important member
state not beholden to a minorities protection treaty, the 1933 League Assembly
reaffirm the 1922 resolution. It passed a resolution that all member states observe
and uphold the protection of the rights of their racial, religious or linguistic
minorities even when they were not bound by specific treaty obligations.*’

The political questions that arose from the Nazi persecution of the Jews were
indeed difficult and fraught with ambiguity, and because they directly chal-
lenged Germany on its internal affairs, the League Council was reluctant to pur-
sue them. Diplomacy seemed best if the opinions of other nations were made
known quietly and respectfully. The emigration of those Germans who fled Nazi
persecution, however, presented entirely different problems of a humanitarian
and political nature for European governments. But even this was something
that the League was reluctant to address, fearing that Germany could interpret
the League’s concerns for the refugees as criticism of its domestic policies and
therefore political interference in its affairs.

As the opening of the September 1933 Assembly approached, the question of
League assistance for the refugees from Germany was being pursued in earnest,
as European governments responded to the social and economic impact they
were having in their host countries. The Dutch government, with the backing of
the Norwegian government, announced its intention to present a resolution for
the League to consider the problems posed by the refugees from Germany, and
that the League should assume responsibility for their assistance. The League’s
response to the refugees from the Russian Revolution in the Soviet Union in
1922 and for the Armenian refugees from the Turkish Republic in 1924 had
demonstrated that refugee assistance was a role that it should rightly assume.
Through the Intergovernmental Agreements pursued in the League, significant
humanitarian outcomes were achieved. Any resolution on the German refu-
gees, however, would have to avoid the criticism that it foreshadowed interven-
tion in German domestic affairs and would therefore be defeated by Germany’s
veto. The wording was therefore critical; the intentions of the League had to
be clearly defined and be minimal in scope if political imputations were to be
avoided.

James McDonald arrived in Geneva when discussions on the resolution
were well under way. His purpose in attending the Assembly was to observe
and report on issues and outcomes to the Foreign Policy Association. Yet, he
was recognized among European diplomats for his knowledge of German
affairs and, following his recent tour of European capitals to gauge a sense of
the impact of the refugees, for his interest in and knowledge of the refugee
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problem. As an impartial observer, free of the burdens of European politics, his
opinion was valued.

One option under consideration for League action was to expand the man-
date of the Nansen International Office for Refugees. Created in 1930 to con-
tinue the work of refugee assistance for the Russians and Armenians begun by
the League’s first High Commissioner for Refugees, Fridtjof Nansen, the Nansen
Office was already well equipped and well practiced in the problems at hand.
This proposal therefore envisaged the Nansen Office taking on the task of assist-
ing the refugees from Germany alongside its work for the Russian and Armenian
refugees. This would ensure the continuity of existing programmes and a unified
approach to all refugee groups. Another proposal suggested invoking Article
11 of the Treaty of Versailles against Germany (which was also Article 11 of
the League of Nations’ Covenant) because the German refugees constituted a
threat to international security.*! This assuredly would be denounced as political
interference in German affairs. The Dutch delegation, however, was pursuing
the more pragmatic option of a resolution that the League take on a new man-
date for the refugees from Germany and create a new agency responsible for
their assistance and resettlement.

There was certainly no desire to confront Germany over its Jewish policies,
McDonald reported to the Foreign Policy Association, but there was a positive
response to the need for extending assistance to the refugees. There was suffi-
cient support in the Assembly to see the Dutch resolution carried, McDonald
also noted, although the League Secretariat was cautious and would prefer that
no resolution be put forward. He reported the personal ambivalence of the new
Secretary General, Joseph Avenol, who set out a number of strict conditions that
would need to be satisfied for any resolution to be acceptable. Among them was
the assent of the German delegation, as the League would be unable to pass any
resolution if Germany opposed it. In order to secure German assent, the reso-
lution had to be presented in such a way that Germany could not say that the
League should take full responsibility for all its Jews, which, for Avenol, would
be an impossible condition and would only embarrass the League. The reso-
lution would also have to consider the financial implications of taking on this
new responsibility, as the Assembly was unlikely to approve new financial obli-
gations. Any plans had to be assured of funding before they would be agreed
upon.*

With these conditions circulating, the kind of arrangements that the League
would be willing to make was as critical a consideration as the wording of
the resolution itself. Because new financial outlays were to be avoided, it was
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anticipated that the Nansen Office would take on the responsibility. It had
a budget approved by the Assembly through to 1938, and could absorb new
responsibilities more economically than if a new agency was created. However,
as the Nansen Office was an agency of the League, the German delegation would
have found the proposition unacceptable. The alternative, the creation of a new
High Commission with specific responsibility for assisting and resettling the ref-
ugees from Germany in other lands, would require a significant financial outlay.

The resolution relating to the refugees from Germany was therefore prepared
in full consciousness of German opinion, and the conditions of the Secretariat
of the League itself. Those drafting it anticipated how the German government
would present the text to its people, and in order to make it palatable to them it
was decided to stress that the return of the Jewish refugees to Germany was not
intended. Rather, the resolution would aim to ‘expedite the emigration of other
Jews.* The resolution would therefore appeal to the German desire to rid itself
of its Jews.

An atmosphere of gloom hung over the Assembly Hall at the commencement
of the 1933 session on 27 September. German Reichsminister Josef Goebbels
was observed leaving the hall after the opening surrounded by an armed body
guard, a sight that left a deep impression on those who witnessed it, McDonald
among them, stating as clearly as in words the Nazis’ will to ‘defy humanity’**

On Friday 29 September, the Dutch foreign minister, Jonkheer de Graeft, rose
to present the resolution for the League to assume responsibility for assistance
of the refugees from Germany. He began by lamenting the ‘wave of pessimisn’
that had taken hold of the world. He spoke of a new arms race, of the economic
depression that had ‘plunged the world into poverty, and of nationalism that
had left a void in the international resolve to confront difficult issues.** The dif-
ficulties presented by the refugees, he insisted, should not allow the League to
succumb to this pessimism, nor to avoid its responsibilities. Instead, it presented
the League with an opportunity to reclaim its former optimism. It was a just
and proper cause that could restore the League’s reputation and rekindle inter-
national solidarity. A positive response to the refugees, he claimed, would be
a positive signal to the world; the League had to show its strength if it was to
endure.*®

The Dutch delegation was backed by Norway, Czechoslovakia and Spain.
A member of the French delegation, Senator Henri Bérenger, spoke in support
of his Dutch colleague, but went further: the resolution for assisting the refu-
gees was the starting point for renewing the principles for which the League
stood, as the persecution of the Jews in Germany was a matter of justice that
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rightly concerned international opinion."” Here Bérenger stated explicitly what
de Graeff could not: that the term ‘refugees’ implied the persecution of the Jews
in Germany. The delegates in the Assembly would have inferred this, but de
Graeff was cautious about affronting German sensitivities and had avoided any
imputation of this sort. ‘Nothing is further from our thoughts; he assured the
Assembly, ‘than a desire to interfere in internal affairs coming under Germany’s
sovereignty. We have no wish to examine the reasons why these people have left
their country’. He continued, ‘We are not called upon to judge’ the reasons why
so many refugees had fled Germany. The question of assisting the refugees, he
concluded, was ‘a purely technical problem’ for the League to resolve, for which
a ‘solution must be found by common agreement’*®

This sidestepped political complications. The refugee problem was a ‘technical
problem’ that required technical solutions of a legal kind, not a political one: on
matters relating to passports, travel and identity documents, and the provision
of visas, in order to help the refugees resettle in another country. The term ‘tech-
nical problem’ also had a pragmatic purpose. The resolution was referred for
further examination to the Second Committee of the Assembly, responsible for
technical questions. Hitherto, refugee issues had been considered by the Sixth
Committee, which was responsible for political questions.

In truth, Germany had no need to protest that the League’s interest in the
refugees amounted to political interference in its domestic affairs. Germany’s
position was well known from the outset, and the resolution accepted by the
Assembly was drafted with this in mind. The resolution, in short, was pre-
pared in deference to German opinion.* The Second Committee, furthermore,
could not go beyond what Germany would permit. German foreign minister,
Konstantin von Neurath, sat on it and participated in its discussions on the reso-
lution’s final form, which would be taken back to the Assembly for a final vote
before submission to the League Council. Von Neurath could have defeated it
then, but he did not; nor did Germany veto it when it returned to the Assembly.*
The resolution that came out of the Second Committee was effectively written
in consultation with von Neurath, as the wording was altered to accommodate
his comments and objections.”® The outcome was the appointment of a High
Commissioner for the refugees from Germany, but once he was appointed, he
would be head of an autonomous organization, independent of the League. He
would be responsible for raising his own operating budget, and be accountable
to the High Commissions Governing Body. The League Council would have
no role to play once it had made the appointment, approved the statutes and
decided upon the composition of the Governing Body.>
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McDonald had left Geneva to return to the United States before the Second
Committee finalized the resolution. He was convinced that nothing would come
of it, believing that Germany would not accept any move to establish an organ-
ization responsible for assisting the victims of its racial policies. On more than
one occasion Foreign Ministry officials in Berlin, von Neurath among them, told
him that any move by the League to assume a mandate for the refugees from
Germany would not be acceptable.” In fact, the Foreign Ministry denied the
very existence of a refugee problem, insisting that those who had left Germany
since the Nazis came to power could still make use of German consular ser-
vices abroad.”* McDonald was therefore surprised that Germany did not oppose
the final resolution. He was sceptical of its motives, wondering whether the
Nazis planned to sabotage it, or whether they believed that the resolution would
die a natural death in the Assembly or be rejected by the Council.® In truth,
Germany’s sabotage had already been perpetrated. It had ensured that the High
Commission would be created on very weak foundations.

McDonald’s scepticism was nonetheless justified, but not for the reasons he
supposed. The Assembly approved the resolution on the creation of the High
Commission on 12 October.’® The next day, Germany announced its decision
to leave the League, citing the stalemate in the Disarmament Conference. While
engaged in the Second Committee’s debate on the resolution on the refugees,
Germany had no concern for what the League decided to do.

Under the League’s Covenant, Germany’s withdrawal would not be final for
two years. Technically, Germany had only given notice of its intention to with-
draw. During the two-year notice period, hope lingered that Germany could
be persuaded to return and resume its place among the great powers. Secretary
General Avenol believed that a sustained peace was only possible if Germany
was brought back into the League; he was so desirous of securing its return that
he would permit no inopportune criticism of German domestic policies, impol-
itic acts against German interests or even a more forthright response to the refu-
gee problem, for fear of further alienating the regime in Berlin.””

The flaws in the great project of the League of Nations crudely exposed over
the course of 1933 were due in large measure to the changed economic and geo-
political conditions. The optimism of the 1920s that had carried the League for-
ward during its foundation years had evaporated in the despair of economic
depression and the jealous protection of national interests. League member
states were unwilling to commit themselves to international accords that did not
suit their interests, and were unwilling to finance grand initiatives of uncertain

outcome because of the constraints on their own national budgets.
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These were the circumstances in which Jonkheer de Graeff had put forward
his resolution on the refugee question to the League Assembly in September
1933. He tried to inspire the delegates with the same spirit that had greeted the
League’s resolutions on refugees in the 1920s, but the circumstances were now
quite different. The Dutch government itself, and the European powers that
backed its resolution, were motivated by their own national concerns. From
their perspective, the refugee problem was not so much the consequences of
policies within Germany but the impact the refugees were having on their host
societies and economies. The problem for them was one of border security, a
stable migration programme and the protection of their national labour markets
from foreign workers, whatever their origins. There were assuredly humanitar-
ian reasons for these countries to seek action through the League of Nations,
as the refugees were left to languish with no place of definite settlement and
no access to labour markets and welfare services. The pronouncement that the
refugees presented a ‘technical’ problem, and could, therefore, be solved by tech-
nical means, sidestepped the fraught questions of the racial and political perse-
cutions in Germany, and the impact of their own policies on those fleeing these
persecutions.

Over the course of his visits to Berlin, James McDonald changed from an
observer and commentator on international affairs to being a participant in
them. His visit to Berlin in April 1933 was to do more than simply assess the
progress of the Nazi revolution. He took the opportunity to impress upon any-
one who cared to listen how Nazi anti-Semitic policies had diminished Germany
in world opinion. He believed that there were people within the Nazi Party and
the Reich’s administration with whom he could reason and through whom it
would be possible to open channels of communication. He was convinced that
the regime could be persuaded by international opinion to moderate its policies.
He believed that even Hitler could be reasoned with, until he had the opportun-
ity for a private meeting with him. The depth of hatred for the Jews was so great,
he quickly learned, that the regime was impervious to criticism. It was sure of
itself, and it would tolerate no criticism of its domestic affairs.

McDonald was therefore compelled towards advocacy in order to impress
upon the American public and political leaders a sense of his own forebodings
about Nazi policy. As he was not officially an American diplomat, he was free to
mix with his contacts at home and abroad, not as a representive of the American
government but as an influential public figure. He could even influence the top-
most level of the American government, when, after a private dinner at the
White House on 1 May 1933, he was able to persuade President Roosevelt of the
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true nature of the regime in Germany. The Jewish programme was fundamental
to Nazi ideology and the Nazis took no heed of criticism, he told the president.
Direct intervention with the regime or with the German people seemed the only
option to make outside opinion noticed, McDonald suggested. Roosevelt left
McDonald with the impression that he was prepared to go over the heads of the
regime and appeal directly to the better senses of the German people in order to
demonstrate international opprobrium of their government’s policies.”® But no
more came of this.

Finally, McDonald was drawn into the preparatory discussions on the
resolution on assistance for the refugees from Germany ahead the League of
Nations Assembly in September 1933. He had returned to New York and to
his role of distant observer and commentator on international affairs without
waiting for the final outcome of the resolution, sure that the German delega-
tion would not allow it to go forward. He might have thought that this was
the extent of his participation in League affairs and on the refugee problem

in Europe.



The High Commissioner for Refugees (Jewish
and Other) Coming from Germany

The League of Nations’ work for refugees during the 1920s had been one of its great
successes. While there was no clause in the Covenant giving the League respon-
sibility for refugees, member states nevertheless agreed in 1921 that, with some
800,000 refugees from the Russian Revolution crowded into Constantinople and
facing the real prospect of disease and starvation, they could not abnegate their
international humanitarian responsibilities. Somewhere between one and two
million refugees of the former Russian Empire could be found all along its vast
frontier, from Finland in the north to China in the east. Most had no passports
or identity documents, and could not be resettled without them.' The League’s
response — the appointment of a High Commission for Refugees and the 1922
Intergovernmental Arrangement on Russian refugees — provided the necessary
documents and administrative resources to facilitate their resettlement. The
refugees in Constantinople soon found a safe haven in Western Europe, the
Americas and elsewhere.

This remarkable achievement was largely due to the efforts of the High
Commissioner, the Norwegian scientist and diplomat, Fridtjof Nansen. He
already had gained a formidable reputation for humanitarian work in over-
seeing the repatriation of prisoners of war in 1920 and 1921. Highly respected
in diplomatic circles, he carried a great sense of purpose into his role as the
League of Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. The success of the 1922
Intergovernmental Arrangement for the Russian refugees was followed by the
adoption of another Arrangement, in 1924, for the many thousands of Armenian
refugees languishing in camps in the Middle East. Upon Nansen’s death in 1930,
his work continued in the form of the Nansen International Office for Refugees,

a bureau of the League Secretariat.”
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It seemed appropriate in the eyes of many, therefore, that the Nansen Office
should be called upon to assist and resettle the refugees from Germany in 1933.
It had established quasi-diplomatic posts in several countries to deal with reluc-
tant governments and to see to the practical and legal needs of the refugees
themselves, such as attesting to documents and the verification of civil status,
translations and resettlement assistance. It also had an international network of
offices and staft experienced in welfare and resettlement services. Moreover, the
Nansen Office was making contingency plans for assuming this new role before
the Dutch resolution to the 1933 Assembly had been finalized.?

The view in Geneva, however, was that if the Nansen Office took on this new
responsibility, it would need to appoint a person of international standing, pres-
tige and authority, with the diplomatic skills and tact to negotiate outcomes with
governments and charitable organizations in difficult economic times. It was
widely agreed that the Secretary General of the Nansen Office, T. E Johnson,
was not such a figure. It is not clear why this was so, but he would seem to have
left a poor impression on men of influence in the League Secretariat. There is
little about him in historical records apart from, it seems, his own account of his
career. A British military officer — he was given the title ‘Major” in official League
documents — he had served in Eastern Europe and Russia until the revolution
and then served as an official of no real distinction in the League of Nations.*
He was an assistant to High Commissioner Nansen from September 1921 until
he was transferred to the Refugee Service of the International Labour Office in
1924, where he was responsible for technical questions of refugee immigration,
resettlement and employment. After Nansen’s death and the creation in 1930
of the Nansen International Office for Refugees, the League Council appointed
Johnson as its Secretary General through to its designated date of termination at
the end of 1938.% The League’s Secretary General, Sir Eric Drummond, described
him as a man with an ‘unfortunate personality’, entirely unsuited to the execu-
tive demands of a High Commissioner.® By his own evidence, Johnson had little
regard for the League, describing it as the ‘biggest disappointment in the history
of the world. Nor was he fond of Geneva, which he complained was too near
France, and too much under French cultural and economic influence.”

The Nansen Office itself was just one obstacle to implementing an effective
response to the refugees from Germany. A new intergovernmental agreement
would also be required to ensure that the refugees from Germany had the same
status as the other refugees under the Nansen Office’s mandate. In truth, the
option of the Nansen Office taking on this new responsibility was not taken
seriously. Because it was a bureau of the League of Nations, Germany would
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construe its role as an attempt by the League to interfere in its domestic affairs.
In all likelihood, a new intergovernmental arrangement would not have been
acceptable to most states, as it would carry an obligation to admit more refugees
and lift immigration restrictions.

Even so, the proposition that the Nansen Office assume responsibility for the
refugees from Germany overlooked one critical matter: the legal, social and eco-
nomic problems the refugees from Germany faced were markedly different to the
problems of the refugee groups already under its mandate. The Intergovernmental
Arrangements for the Nansen Refugees were necessary to address the legal
problems arising from their lack of identity documents. Furthermore, most of
the Russian and Armenian refugees had been rendered stateless by the denation-
alization decrees of the Soviet and Turkish governments, respectively in 1921
and 1924. Therefore, they no longer had a right to diplomatic protection abroad.
Nansen’s High Commission and subsequently the Nansen Office excelled in pro-
viding these services and the ‘Nansen Passport’ - the League of Nations identity
documents authorized under the Intergovernmental Arrangements — replaced
the legal protection they would have had with a national passport.

Most of the refugees from Germany continued to carry German passports.
With the exception of those naturalized under the Weimar Republic who were
denationalized by the Nazi law of 14 July 1933, they also retained their German
citizenship. They could go readily to another country after obtaining an entry
visa, although, in reality, these were not easy to obtain. In theory, they were still
able to call upon consular services outside Germany.

These circumstances created the unique problem of the German refugees.
The German refugee ‘problem’ was in fact a consequence of the strict conditions
of eligibility for an entry visa, the temporary residence expected of the refugees
fleeing Germany, and the prohibitions on their employment. Some may have
fled without documents to prove their identities, but as far as their countries
of asylum were concerned, the diplomatic services of German consulates were
available for them to obtain a new passport or other necessary documents. Their
host countries expected this because they expected the refugees to move on to
another country once the term of the temporary residence had expired. As mat-
ters transpired, German consulates refused to issue passports to those who had
left Germany without them and refused to renew expired passports. The obliga-
tions expected of their host states went so far as expecting communist and social-
ist anti-Nazi political refugees to seek the assistance of the Nazified German civil
services. Onward travel and legal residence were consequently impossible for all
but the privileged few who had sufficient wealth to support themselves, family
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connections abroad who took responsibility for their welfare, or, as became the
practice in Britain, Jewish organizations had sponsored them and saw to their
welfare. Many others were trapped in difficult situations of illegal residence from
which they could not escape, illegal employment or dependence on the good
will of others and the scarce resources of refugee aid societies.

Because the refugees from Germany maintained their German citizen-
ship, the question of their legal status was of less importance than it had been
for the Nansen Refugees, a large number of whom were stateless. The High
Commissioner’s main objective would instead be to work with governments
to secure opportunities for employment and resettlement so that the refugees
would cease to be a burden on their host states and had the opportunity to re-
establish their lives. To do this, governments would have to be persuaded to
lift their immigration restrictions and allow concessions to the regulations that
excluded foreign nationals from the professions and labour markets.

The expectations were such that the man appointed to the post of High
Commissioner for the Refugees from Germany should be a man of the stature
of Fridtjof Nansen. But men of his stature are rare. Europeans looked to Norway
to carry forward Nansen’s legacy. Christian Lange, one of longest serving rep-
resentatives in the League Assembly and Nobel Peace laureate for 1921, would
bring to the role of High Commissioner Norway’s humanitarian tradition.
One of the preferred candidates was former United States president, Herbert
Hoover. Hoover’s efforts in providing food relief to Belgium during the First
World War and the plan he devised with Nansen during 1919-20 for providing
food relief to Russia were both substantial humanitarian and organizational
achievements.® By 1933, however, his reputation in Europe had soured. As the
Great Depression took hold in the United States, he had imposed protective
tariffs against European exports and had called for a moratorium on German
reparations. He also ordered, in 1930, the more rigorous enforcement of the
‘no public charge’ test to restrict immigration, with profound consequences
for Europe. His indifference to the disarmament talks in 1932 also showed
the Europeans that he had little interest in their affairs. They accused him of
having ‘let the League down, and the opinion within the League was that he
should not be given an opportunity to redeem himself.” Sensing this perhaps,
and doubting the support he would have from the Roosevelt administration
in Washington, Hoover declared himself unavailable, citing his reluctance to
‘emerge from retirement’'

British and American Jewish organizations took it upon themselves to find a
suitable person. In doing so, they exposed their differences and rivalries. British
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Jewish groups favoured an Englishman, and put forward Viscount Robert Cecil
of Chelwood. Considered ‘one of the fathers of the League’ for the role he played
in the drafting of the Covenant at the Paris Peace Conference, Cecil continued
to work for the League as a representative of the British Foreign Ministry, and
was head of the League of Nations Association in Britain. He had the diplomatic
qualities sought for the post, great experience in international affairs and the
support of important British Jews and Zionists. After Hoover had declined to
be nominated, the American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee, with other
American Jewish organizations, suggested General Jan Smuts, former South
African prime minister and key negotiator for the British Commonwealth at the
1919 Paris Peace Conference. Like Cecil, Smuts also served the League during
its foundation years."

The League Council was more concerned about the nationality of the High
Commission than his personality. It favoured an American who could help draw
the United States out of its isolationism and tap into the resources of the wealthy
American Jews. But it was for this very reason that influential Americans did
not favour the appointment of an American. Undersecretary of State William
Phillips feared that an American High Commissioner would risk opening the
floodgates to Jewish immigration. Supreme Court Justice Louis Brandeis, a
Zionist, was concerned that an American High Commissioner would be at a
grave disadvantage in negotiations with governments to take in Jewish refu-
gees since America had done so little itself.'” Once it became clear to American
Jewish organizations just how much the new High Commission would have to
rely on private financial contributions and that it would fall upon them to raise
the money in the United States, they could not but insist upon the appointment
of their own man."

James McDonald used his influence as chair of the Foreign Policy Association
to persuade Raymond Fosdick to agree to have his name put forward. Formerly
Undersecretary General of the League of Nations, and in 1933 director of the
Rockefeller Foundation and president of the League of Nations Association of
the United States, Fosdick had the necessary diplomatic standing and an intim-
ate knowledge of League affairs, as well as access to American funds. McDonald
also proposed as an alternative, Theodore Roosevelt, Jr, son of the former presi-
dent, and cousin and political rival of the incumbent, who had gained substantial
experience in public administration as Assistant Secretary of the Navy, Governor
of Puerto Rico (1929-32), and Governor General of the Philippines (1932-33)."
Fosdick hesitated when McDonald put the proposition to him. He would have
a conflict of interest, he suggested, if he accepted the post and the Rockefeller
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Foundation were asked to put up the money for the High Commission’s admin-
istration.!” Theodore Roosevelt, Jr, seems not to have been canvased.

Only upon the suggestion of Felix Warburg and James Rosenberg of the Joint
Distribution Committee did McDonald begin to consider himself a potential
High Commissioner. It was not a suggestion that attracted him initially. He
doubted that he was the best person for what he knew would be an ‘excessively
difficult job. But Warburg and Rosenberg insisted and gave him of their full
backing. They argued that McDonald’s experience in international affairs, his
relations with Jewish organizations in the United States, Britain and Europe as
well as his recent advocacy on German-Jewish policies and attempts to open
a dialogue with the German regime, had given him insights that no one else
possessed. McDonald hesitated also because he was not a man of independent
means, and wondered aloud whether the High Commissionership, which would
require considerable travel, separation from family and the suspension of his car-
eer in the United States, would be in his best financial interests.'* Warburg and
Rosenberg again reassured him. His financial obligations in the United States
should not dissuade him, and gave their guarantee that the Joint Distribution
Committee would cover his salary as High Commissioner."”

McDonald’s nomination by such influential Americans as Warburg and
Rosenberg was one reason why Europeans looked upon McDonald’s nomination
favourably. No less important was the financial backing of the Joint Distribution
Committee. McDonald was also respected among European governments for
his advocacy on German affairs. He had helped forge good relations between
the United States, European governments and the League of Nations itself dur-
ing his travels in Europe as chair of the American Foreign Policy Association; he
had also left a good impression on everyone he met. League Secretary General
Avenol privately noted his approval of his work.*

McDonald nevertheless had his doubts about taking on the post. They
were not only personal. More than others, he was aware of the difficulties he
would face in dealing with governments on such a delicate issue as that of the
refugees. Nevertheless, his appointment moved quickly. On 18 October, Henry
Morgenthau Sr — during 1933 the American representative at the Geneva dis-
armament conference — wrote to Secretary of State Cordell Hull asking him to
propose McDonald’s nomination to the League of Nations’ Council. Despite his
reluctance that an American assume a leadership role in a League of Nations
agency, President Roosevelt formally nominated McDonald."” The League
Council expedited the appointment although British Jewish organizations,
which still favoured Robert Cecil and distrusted McDonald for being too close
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to the Nazi regime, had not agreed. Indeed, they complained that they had not
been consulted before the Council voted on his appointment.?’

His appointment was confirmed on 26 October. Although his official title,
High Commissioner for the Refugees (Jewish and Other) Coming from Germany,
seems rather clumsy, there was a specific legal reason for it. His mandate included
all those who were forced to flee Nazi Germany, whatever their nationality of
origin. This itself marked a departure from the previous refugee Arrangements,
which were restricted to refugees of a defined nationality, or former nationality.
Moreover, although it did not seem to have been noticed at the time, the inclusion
of the word Tewish’ in the official title marked, for the first time, an intergovern-
mental agency assuming a responsibility for the Jewish problem in world affairs.
It is more likely, however, that the use of the word in the title was to attract the
attention of Jewish organizations, particularly American Jewish organizations,
thus far remote from the League of Nations and its affairs, to come to the aid of
their persecuted co-religionists. The support of American Jews was indeed crit-
ical. As the Joint Distribution Committee had undertaken to pay McDonald’s
salary and the majority of the High Commission’s expenses, the Council had the
assurance it needed that the League would not have to bear the costs.”!

The Council may well have acted in haste, but it did so in order to bring
to a close the awkward question of how it should respond to Germany and
the persecution of the Jews. It had determined that once appointed, the High
Commissioner would be autonomous of the League; the League would there-
fore no longer be troubled by suggestions of political interference in German
affairs, or be embarrassed by accusations that it was doing little for the victims
of Nazi persecution. Even so, it set ambitious aims. The High Commission was
assigned the task of ‘solving, by international action, the economic, financial and
social problems’ caused by the emigration of the refugees from Germany. These
problems could only be ‘solved’” by international cooperation, which the High
Commissioner would ‘direct. It would ‘provide, as far as possible, work for the
refugees in all countries which are able to offer it:>> The states that held the best
possibilities for this would be invited to participate in the High Commission’s
activities by their representation on its Governing Body.

The specific functions expected of the High Commissioner were spelt out: to
provide a means of centralizing funds for refugee resettlement; investigate settle-
ment opportunities across the world; to negotiate with governments for this
purpose; to register refugees and identify their qualifications, skills and special
needs; to organize training and to regularize the legal status of stateless refu-
gees. It was expected in addition that the High Commissioner would also open
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negotiations with the German government in order to secure an agreement on
the transfer of Jewish assets from Germany.” If successful, all these activities
would substantially improve the conditions of the refugees and the impact they
had on their host countries. Yet, it was also a highly ambitious agenda when the
High Commission had no guaranteed resources and was without the adminis-
trative and political support of the League of Nations.

The Secretariat was also intent on directing the work of the High
Commissioner. Secretary General Avenol instructed McDonald to come to
Geneva for consultations before commencing his duties. He was to be met by an
official of the Secretariat on arrival in Europe, in order to keep him away from
the press and making of any premature comments.**

McDonald’s interview with Avenol began poorly and did not get better.
It was on the morning of 11 November 1933: ‘Armistice Day, McDonald
noted dryly in his diary, “This has not been what I consider a perfect vaca-
tion’* Avenol instructed him that his profile and activities should in no way
conflict with the League’s interests. He told McDonald that he should visit
Geneva as little as possible in order to make it clear he was indeed inde-
pendent of the League. Technically, Avenol reminded McDonald, the High
Commission did not yet exist. A Governing Body would need to be formed,
and it would have to meet to accept its statutes, appoint a chair, select a treas-
urer and approve the High Commissioner’s activities. Until then, McDonald
could make no decisions nor take any action. Beyond that, the League had
no further responsibility. ‘Officially’, Avenol told McDonald in conclusion,
‘we are through’ The League had set up the High Commission, had approved
McDonald’s appointment, and was finalizing its statutes; it would then have
no use for it.

They might have been through, but Avenol nevertheless was determined to
dictate how the High Commission should work. It was to be an intergovernmen-
tal body and private organizations, particularly Jewish ones, would contribute
in an advisory role only. Avenol was also emphatic that the High Commission
should nurture good relations with Germany, and for this reason Jewish influ-
ence in the High Commission would be best kept to a minimum necessary for
its work. ‘Yours cannot be a Jewish organization, Avenol insisted, ‘if ever you
wish to establish a useful relationship with Germany’. He vetted the draft of
McDonald’s first public statement, ‘materially improving’ upon it, McDonald
conceded. There was certainly no place for the High Commission in Geneva.
For that matter, there was no place for it in The Hague either, since the Dutch
preferred not to host it, nor in London, as the French preferred otherwise. Yet it
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was not welcome in Paris either. That left Lausanne, but the Swiss government
was yet to indicate whether or not it would be welcome there.?

Perhaps Avenol asserted his own views of the purpose of the High Commission
because he was alerted to McDonald’s vision of it. During a public address on
4 November 1933, the day before he sailed from New York to travel to Geneva,
McDonald noted three objectives. First, the High Commission would comple-
ment private refugee aid organizations, not replace them; it would make their
work more effective. Second, it would formulate programmes to assist both gov-
ernments and aid organizations. Of particular importance, McDonald noted
finally, were negotiations with the German government, as the most significant
improvement in the conditions of the refugees would be gained by persuading the
Reich to relax the conditions on their emigration. The Reich’s ‘flight tax, which
stripped from emigrants all but a small amount of their assets, was the greatest
impediment to their successful resettlement. It prevented the refugees from sat-
isfying the ‘no public charge’ tests of the United States and other countries of
emigration, and deprived them of the means of re-establishing their disrupted
lives. Change on this one issue would also overcome concerns about the burden
they placed on the economies, labour markets and welfare services in their coun-
tries of asylum. These were all difficult tasks, McDonald was certain; the job of
the High Commissioner’, he concluded, ‘will be to do what he and his associates
can to ward off that difficulty’”” To be sure, McDonald was under no illusion
about the task he faced and the constraints the League’s mandate imposed upon
him. The High Commission had been ‘set afloat on the unchartered waters of the
future, he told his American audience before he set sail “The League creates the
instrumentality and leaves it to sink or swim’*®

Avenol would have preferred that McDonald made no public statements
before the High Commission was formally established for fear that his views
might be mistaken for the views of the League of Nations. Sensitive to any criti-
cism of German domestic policy, Avenol could well have interpreted McDonald’s
comments on the ‘Reich’s tax’ as blaming the German government for the refu-
gee problem. There were also some implied criticisms of the financial hurdles
that other League member states put in the way of refugee resettlement. Again,
it was better that these criticism not be made until the High Commission was
autonomous of the League.

McDonald was upbeat about his prospects when he sailed from New York all
the same. He was confident that the High Commission would find the money
it required to carry out its functions: T am convinced that the administrative
expenses will be met generously by the people who believe in [this] work’ He was
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also confident that American Christians would come to the aid of the refugees.
It was important that they did not see the refugees from Germany as a problem
that concerned only Jews; it concerned everyone. And, he insisted, the task of
funding the High Commission’s work should therefore not fall entirely on Jewish
sources, since the Nazi persecution of the Jews could well light a fuse to ignite
anti-Semitism across Europe. Finally, as newsreel cameras and members of the
New York press recorded his parting words, McDonald left the American public
with a warning: ‘You must use brutal, cold, contemptuous language to show what
the Nazis feel towards the Jew ... What is happening today in Germany could
happen tomorrow in Austria. And if this thing becomes the rule ... life for Jews
anywhere on the continent between France and Russia may become impossible’?

The extent to which British Jewish organizations exerted their influence over
McDonald was genuinely unexpected. It would quickly come to consume a con-
siderable amount of his energy. Even before his ship had docked at Plymouth,
Norman Bentwich, a highly regarded legal specialist, had been sent ahead by
the Board of Deputies for British Jews to greet McDonald and to escort him to
Paris, where they parted, McDonald continuing on to Geneva for his meeting
with Avenol.*

The Board of Deputies wanted to be sure that McDonald was briefed on the
British Jews” expectations of his High Commission. There was some lingering
resentment that an American had been appointed High Commissioner ahead of
their nominee, Robert Cecil. They were especially aggrieved that their organiza-
tions had not been consulted before McDonald’s appointment was announced.
As far as British Jewish organizations were concerned, the League Council made
its decision only to secure the financial backing of wealthy American Jews, ignor-
ing British Jewish interests and their financial support for German Jews and the
Jewish refugees from Germany. Bentwich therefore briefed McDonald on the
position of the British Jewish organizations, informing him that their preference
for High Commissioner was Cecil, and that they had been both surprised and
disappointed with the speed of McDonald’s appointment. It was therefore essen-
tial, Bentwich advised McDonald, that he establish good relations with the British
organizations from the start. This would depend on how much he was prepared
to cooperate with them.” In other words, Bentwich informed McDonald that
the British Jewish organizations expected McDonald to represent their interests
and that they would have a strong influence over his work. Bentwich was there-
fore less interested in learning how McDonald intended to proceed than he was
in setting out the groundwork for asserting British influence over him before he
devised his own agenda.
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Even so, McDonald learned much from Bentwich that was cautionary about
British Jewish interests. The British organizations, for example, claimed a mon-
opoly on Jewish emigration to Palestine, and Bentwich warned McDonald that
he would become entangled in sensitive political matters if he concerned himself
with Palestine. Moreover, the British Foreign Office would not accept the High
Commission making any plans relating to the resettlement of German Jews in
Palestine; only the British Colonial Office could do this, and it did not want to
have to deal with yet another agency seeking entry certificates and residence
permits.*

Palestine, British foreign affairs in the Middle East and Zionist politics
were already revealing the difficulties McDonald would have to navigate. The
delicate politics of Jewish interests were reinforced in Geneva. A few days
before McDonald arrived to meet with Avenol, Chaim Weizmann, president
of the English Zionist Federation, and former president of the World Zionist
Organization and Jewish Agency for Palestine, had arrived and had cornered
Avenol to discuss the role of the High Commission.” Weizmann insisted that
Avenol appoint Bentwich to a ‘responsible position ... of the utmost importance’
in the High Commission, by way of a concession for their nominee, Cecil, being
overlooked. Weizmann had backed Cecil’s nomination, and since McDonald’s
appointment, had personally implored Cecil to accept the role of British rep-
resentative on the Commission’s Governing Body. Weizmann claimed that
he ‘would give it a standing and authority it could acquire in no other way’**
Weizmann told Avenol that Palestine provided the best option for the reset-
tlement of the Jewish refugees from Germany; it was the one country with a
real need for young families and it would provide a new future for the Jews of
Germany that was being denied them elsewhere. If the High Commission was to
be effective, Weizmann insisted, it should take the lead in organizing German-
Jewish emigration to Palestine.”

On the one hand, British Jewish organisations insisted that McDonald should
keep clear of any matters relating to Palestine. On the other hand, Zionists were
insisting that Jewish resettlement in Palestine should be the High Commission’s
main role. After McDonald concluded his interview with Avenol on 11 November
1933, he took the opportunity to talk over his plans with Weizmann. McDonald
emphasized his role as head of an intergovernmental organization and that his
first responsibility would be to forge a consensus between governments for the
benefit of the refugees. Private organizations, such as those Weizmann repre-
sented, could only have an advisory role, and they should not look upon the
High Commission as an agency pursuing their particular objectives. But he
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could not dissuade Weizmann from his own vision of the High Commission -
it could help realize a ‘bridgehead in the Jordan Valley, Weizman insisted, by
channelling the Jewish refugees to Palestine.*®

McDonald learned shortly afterwards how disruptive Zionist ambitions could
be. A press report of his discussion with Weizmann in Geneva was brought to his
attention, in which Weizmann had nothing good to say about him. Weizmann
had called McDonald ‘naively optimistic’ in expecting funds from ‘personal
friends’ in the Joint Distribution Committee; he accused him of ‘indulging
in a fantasy’ if he expected France to absorb Germans and for being ‘unwise
and naive’ to contemplate negotiations with Germany. Finally, Weizmann was
reported to have said that unless McDonald gave a ‘larger scope’ to private
organizations, their ‘cordial support could not be obtained. McDonald took the
report calmly, excusing it diplomatically as a misinterpretation of his discussion
with Weizmann rather than a misrepresentation. He believed that it was some-
thing he could clear up with Weizmann privately at a later time. The insinuation
that he was naive, unwise and even unrealistic in his expectations was hurtful all
the same. The High Commission was not yet formally constituted, and if reports
such as this gained traction, there was real risk that he would be weakened in
the eyes of his supporters and the organizations to which he must turn. They
might see him as a man whom they need not take seriously, or one in whom they
should not invest too much.”

As he embarked on his first engagements with government officials and refu-
gee aid societies, there was no option for McDonald other than to ignore these
criticisms and trust that they were not damaging. The practical matters of the
composition of the High Commission’s Governing Body had to be decided and
McDonald sought the advice of European foreign ministries for suitable mem-
bers. He left his first meeting with the French Foreign Ministry upbeat, assured
of its support for its intergovernmental structure as ‘the only practical way’ to
approach the refugee problem.”® The British Foreign Office, on the other hand,
believed that private organizations should have more than an advisory role.
‘Evidently, McDonald concluded, ‘the Foreign Office had felt the influence of
the Jewish organizations’ before he had a chance to outline his plans.”

These initial meetings showed what would be a recurring pattern. Neither
ministers of state nor senior ministerial officials would meet him. His discussions
at the Quai d'Orsay in Paris were with the Foreign Ministry’s League of Nations
liaison, Jacques Fouques-Duparc, and Alexis Saint-Léger, Undersecretary
of State for Foreign Affairs. While both looked upon the High Commission
positively, neither had influence on policy; nor was it up to them to suggest
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French appointments to the Governing Body. At Whitehall, he meet with Sir
Orme Sargent, Assistant Undersecretary for Foreign Affairs, as Foreign Minister
Sir John Simon and Anthony Eden, his undersecretary, were ‘just leaving for
Geneva.*® Sargent could not give McDonald any assurance of Britain’s attitudes
towards the High Commission or on the question of emigration to Palestine,
but he did express the support of the Foreign Office for his opening negotiations
with Germany.

McDonald’s diplomatic skills were tested more in his dealings with the Jewish
organizations than in his dealings with government ministries. The French
National Committee for Refugee Aid (the Comité National de Secours aux
Réfugiés) had already spent around 10 million francs on refugee assistance, and
its resources were almost exhausted. It could not continue without consider-
able assistance from abroad, its chair, Baron Robert de Rothschild, advised. He
expected that McDonald, now in his role as High Commissioner, with strong
links to American Jewish aid societies, would be able to arrange for a transfer of
funds from abroad to aid in the Committee’s relief efforts. As McDonald advised
Rothschild, however, the High Commission had no funds of its own to dispense
for refugee aid, and he could not simply call upon money from the American
societies.”!

The financial straits of the French National Committee were due to the very
large numbers of refugees arriving from Germany without the means to support
themselves. There was no end in sight to the burden of relief as the refugees
were barred from employment, and the Committee was already looking to the
High Commissioner not only for leadership on refugee assistance but also dir-
ect financial support to aid its work in alleviating refugee distress. The fact that
McDonald could offer nothing raised, from the very start, serious doubts among
the French about the High Commission’s purpose.

The chief concern of the British Jewish and refugee aid organizations, on the
other hand, was the role they would play in the work of the High Commission. It
was not yet clear whether they would be active participants or, as appeared to be
the case, whether they would serve only in an advisory role. Because he would
have to work with them constructively, McDonald was prepared to concede to
some of their wishes. He suggested to Sargent in the Foreign Office that Robert
Cecil be appointed Britain’s delegate to the Governing Body, as Weizmann had
suggested, and that he would support the selection of Cecil as its permanent
chair. He also suggested to British Jewish leaders — Norman Bentwich, Neville
Laski, president of the Board of Deputies, and Leonard Montefiore, president
of the Anglo-Jewish Association - that a permanent executive body of five
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members, three of whom would be Jews, be drawn from the High Commission’s
proposed Advisory Council. They would be invited to sit with the Governing
Body in order to give it the benefit of their ‘knowledge and character’*
McDonald insisted that the High Commission would be most effective if it were
intergovernmental in nature, as this would give the High Commission lines of
communication directly with governments on important matters of policy. But,
McDonald conceded, it also required the closest possible relations with private
organizations, as they were best placed to serve the refugees.** McDonald finally
agreed that Bentwich would make an ideal associate in the High Commission.

British Foreign Secretary Sir John Simon had in fact already put forward
Robert Cecil's name to the League Secretariat as Britain’s representative on the
Governing Body. While Cecil accepted his nomination, he was not prepared
to take on the role of permanent chair of the Governing Body because of the
demands it would make on his time and the travel that it would involve. He
could only commit himself to chair the first meeting of the Governing Body. That
meeting was already scheduled for Lausanne on 28 November, a date unsuit-
able for Cecil, but McDonald was so eager to have Cecil as chair that he offered
to defer it to a later date to fit Cecil’s schedule. Cecil’s reputation, McDonald
believed, would not only consolidate British and Jewish support for the High
Commission, it would also help carry world opinion in its favour; his diplomatic
experience would also be of great benefit to the High Commission.**

The greatest difficulty that McDonald faced in his engagements in London
was managing the expectations of the many individuals who offered their assis-
tance or sought an invitation to sit on the Advisory Council. One or two left
him ‘nonplussed’ Neville Laski insisted that he should be one of the three Jews
drawn from the Advisory Council to form the proposed permanent executive
on the Governing Body. He would be needed as a British Jew, Laski said, in
order to balance the influence of Weizmann and American Jews. Laski also
claimed to be ‘the best known Jew in Europe’ while Weizmann was ‘not really an
Englishman’*> Many groups were indeed invited to send representatives to the
Advisory Council, but some groups were not as suitable as others. The Save the
Children Fund, with a long tradition of relief and welfare services, was welcome,
but not the Second International; the International Federation of Trades Union
would instead represent the interests of non-Jewish political refugees.

In the immediate flurry of organization and politics in which he had become
so quickly ensnared, McDonald could well have lost some sense of the pur-
pose of his work. Two individuals who sought him out to give a first-hand
account of the lives of the refugees reminded him of his objectives, but it also
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reminded him of the constraints he faced. A niece of Felix Warburg, Lola Hahn,
introduced him to a young German Jewish refugee, Wilfrid Israel. Hahn and
Israel both insisted that German Jews themselves should be represented on the
High Commission; their interests, they pleaded, could not be left to others, and
only German Jews could extend their assistance into Germany. It was a heartfelt
request, but one to which McDonald could not respond directly. He could not
be sure what the governments represented on the Governing Body would per-
mit, nor what would be possible in view of his plans to open negotiations with
the German government. Still, this one interview carried much more meaning
than the petty self-promotion or niggardly jostling for influence he had thus far
experienced. As he listened, McDonald recalled, T had a sense of participating
in a terrible human tragedy’ The purpose of his mission was reinforced, and he
was convinced that the High Commission had to establish good relations with
the Reich or its work would only be a ‘very partial success.*®

Still, McDonald experienced much in these first weeks as High Commissioner
that could have left him pessimistic about his prospects. The limitations on his
office were reinforced, and he could well have become frustrated by the few
assurances he could give to those actively supporting his work. His one regret
was that he had so little time to meet all those he wanted to meet.”” It was a
bold mission and he could look ahead with anticipation nevertheless: “This is an
adventure!} he wrote to his colleagues in the Foreign Policy Association, ‘exciting

and exhilarating, and so far as one can now see it promises to continue to be’*®

%

As McDonald continued his consultations with the Dutch, Belgian and Swiss
governments, the office of the High Commission was taking shape. His personal
assistant from the Foreign Policy Association, Olive Sawyer, continued to work
with him, with her salary paid from the High Commission’s budget. Another col-
league from the Foreign Policy Association, Herbert May, served as an unsalaried
general counsellor and advisor. As Secretary General of the High Commission,
McDonald selected a Dutch official of the League of Nations, André Wurfbain.
Waurfbain had served on a number of League commissions, spoke several lan-
guages and could offer inside knowledge of the League’s operations. Finally,
McDonald appointed Norman Bentwich as Deputy High Commissioner, assist-
ing McDonald on technical and legal matters. The Secretariat set up its office
in Lausanne in preparation for the first meeting of the Governing Body, now
scheduled for 5 December 1933 to accommodate Cecil’s schedule.

The membership of the Governing Body was also being finalized. It was

decided by nomination to the League of Nations Secretariat. The representatives
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would have both a consultative and planning role and serve as the main chan-
nels for negotiations on questions of refugee assistance and settlement with
their national governments. Joseph Chamberlain, professor of law at Columbia
University and a board member of the Foreign Policy Association, was nomi-
nated as the representative of the United States government. Henri Bérenger, of
the French Senate’s Foreign Affairs Committee, was named the French repre-
sentative. In all, the League Secretariat invited fifteen states to nominate repre-
sentatives. Belgium, Czechoslovakia, Denmark, Italy, the Netherlands, Poland,
Sweden, Switzerland and Uruguay all nominated representatives.* Spain did
not acknowledge its invitation, while Argentina and Brazil both declined, claim-
ing that they had no one suitable for the role among their European diplomatic
corps. The commander-in-chief of the Argentine military, moreover, sent the
Governing Body a message that demonstrated attitudes with which the High
Commissioner would have to contend. ‘Learning ... that the Argentine Republic
has been mentioned as a refuge for Hebrews, I have the honour to let you know
that you can discount my country as a propitious country for Jewish coloniza-
tion. We shall not tolerate that our country, where the Jew is an oppressor, stran-
gler and extortioner of our society, be taken as refuge by the lowest of all races,
the refuse of humanity’>

The Uruguayan diplomat, Alberto Guani, was therefore the sole represen-
tative from Latin America, a region where much hope was placed for refugee
resettlement. Well experienced in intergovernmental talks and League proce-
dures, Guani served as president of the League Assembly and rapporteur of the
Second Committee when the refugee question was brought before it during its
1933 sessions.

Under the statutes written by the League Secretariat, the High Commissioner
could take no action without the Governing Body’s approval, and he was
to report on his activities to its regular sessions. In turn, the members of the
Governing Body represented their governments’ interests, and were expected
to return to their governments afterwards with the resolutions they had agreed
for implantation in policy. A selected number of private organizations would be
invited to form the Advisory Council but choosing precisely which ones should
be invited proved exceedingly difficult and frustrating. The final decision was
deferred to first session of the Governing Body.

The make-up of the Advisory Council had been a thorn in McDonald’s
side from the moment he assumed his post. Jewish groups were divided
between Zionists, who pursued the politically charged ambition of the colo-
nization in Palestine, while the large philanthropic organizations committed
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themselves more to relief and resettlement in the traditional countries of
immigration in the Americas. The Joint Distribution Committee and the
Jewish Colonization Association were adamant that it would be impossible
for them to sit as equals with the bodies like the Comité des Délégations Juives
and the American Jewish Congress, whose Zionist agendas they considered
‘political and irresponsible’. Much of McDonald’s energies therefore went into
balancing these conflicts in order to ensure that he could work cooperatively
with all organizations. The established non-political aid organizations, he
insisted, had to continue their usual operations if the High Commission was
to fulfil its objectives. It was also vital that he could rely on the expertise,
structures and financial resources of the Zionist organizations to facilitate
Jewish emigration.”!

While so much of McDonald’s attention was given to organizational mat-
ters, little attention was being given to strategies for refugee assistance. He
believed that national governments and national aid societies had a com-
mon interest in working cooperatively with the High Commission towards
their common objectives and that through this a common strategy could be
devised. However, refugee aid societies needed to find new sources of funds
immediately in order to continue their work of relief; they therefore had to
look to the general public for new contributions. The interests of govern-
ments, moreover, were not altogether in accord with McDonald’s objectives.
Britain was circumspect in its approach to the High Commission because
of its guardianship of Palestine, while the countries neighbouring Germany
would have no part in accepting an additional burden. France claimed that it
was already overwhelmed by the impact on the German refugees on its labour
market and could absorb no more. The Belgian government expressly told
McDonald that refugee admissions could not be sustained indefinitely and,
were their numbers to rise, it would need to consider closing its borders.>
Meanwhile, the traditional outlets for Europe’s unwanted, the Americas,
insisted on their restrictive immigration barriers. From the beginning, there-
fore, there was the difficult question of whether it was at all possible to nego-
tiate the permanent settlement of refugees, when some countries wanted to
be rid of them and others refused their admission.
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During this foundation period, McDonald skirted around the key issues
involved in refugee assistance in order to deal with preliminary administrative
matters. Before the High Commission could be formally constituted, the com-
position and membership of the Governing Body had to be agreed upon and
support from member governments garnered. The backing of both Jewish and
non-Jewish aid societies was critical for McDonald, as he would need to rely on
their expertise, experience and, above all, financial commitments for his High
Commission to have an impact. The composition of the Advisory Council was
consequently also critical, but the decision on its membership was difficult and
sensitive. The final selection of its members was deferred until the Governing
Body had met for the first time.

This was scheduled for 5 December 1933 in Lausanne. As the governmental rep-
resentatives of the Governing Body and interested private organizations gathered,
McDonald’s place within the broader network of political and communal interests
became clearer. As an American, he moved within a milieu of seasoned European
diplomats and hardened, sometimes cynical politicians representing their nation’s
particular interests. He was also from a country that had all but closed its borders
to new immigrants when one of his tasks was to persuade the Europeans, who
bore the brunt of the refugee problem, to do more for the refugees. And, although
not a Jew himself, he was nevertheless drawn into the internal political conflicts
between the traditional ‘establishment” Jewish organizations in both the United
States and Great Britain, whose approach was facilitating Jewish emigration and
resettlement across many countries, and Zionists, who looked upon the High
Commission as a means of promoting Jewish settlement in Palestine.

McDonald was therefore an outsider among the forces that he was trying to
harness to a common cause. His lack of influence over individuals of greater pres-

tige and political authority was clear on the morning of the Governing Body’s
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opening session. Cecil told McDonald that he could not accept his nomination
as its permanent chair. McDonald approached the Uruguayan Alberto Guani.
But the French representative, Henri Bérenger, insisted on putting Cecil’s name
forward all the same, and after a private discussion with Cecil, Bérenger had per-
suaded him to change his mind. As Cecil’s main concern was the travel required
for future meetings in Lausanne, it appears that Bérenger agreed to withdraw
France’s objection to the Governing Body meeting in London. McDonald took
no part in the discussions and was not aware of what Cecil and Bérenger had
agreed.!

From the start, therefore, it would seem that McDonald carried little diplo-
matic authority into the Governing Body and would struggle to assert his will
over its members. His authority as High Commissioner came instead from his
public advocacy for the refugees, an approach that came through clearly in his
opening address to the Governing Body. A large audience of aid organizations
and the American and European press assembled in the Palais de Rumine at the
University of Lausanne for the opening session to hear McDonald describe the
extent of the refugee problem.

His address was as much a record of the perception of the refugee prob-
lem at the end of 1933 as an account of its size and nature. The Governing
Body was a sign of international attention on the plight of a persecuted people,
McDonald began. It was proof of the ‘interest among nations’ of the ‘grave
economic, financial, and social problem’ of the refugees. At a time of acute
economic crisis throughout the world, he continued, this situation could con-
ceivably grow to ‘such proportions as to be possibly unmanageable’? The cau-
tious approach of the League of Nations towards the refugee problem was not
far from McDonald’s mind, however. He reassured all those present that the
refugees did not constitute a political problem; it was not the Governing Body’s
role, he declared, ‘to interfere’ in German affairs. The High Commission was
instead an intergovernmental body that sought common ground to help the
refugees. “‘We have no wish to examine the reasons why these people have left
their country’; they presented a ‘purely technical problem, and its solution must
be found by common agreement’’

A summary of the distribution of the refugees from Germany was published
(Table 1.1), drawn from figures obtained from the various national refugee
aid societies across Europe. It showed that a total of 59,300 refugees had fled
Germany between January and November 1933; just under half were in France.
These were at best just estimates, however; many refugees were almost certainly
double-counted, having been registered in one country before going to another
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and being registered there. There was no way of knowing how many had decided
to return to Germany when they found conditions difficult in another coun-
try, or could not obtain an entry visa, or were forced to leave because of an
expired visa or having entered illegally.* The figures nevertheless illustrated the
serious imbalance in the distribution of the refugees across Europe, with France,
the Netherlands and Czechoslovakia bearing a heavy responsibility, while the
United States had scarcely been touched by the problem. In all, 86 per cent of the
refugees were Jewish; the remainder were socialists, communists, trade union-
ists, pacifists and other political refugees. Until this point in time, McDonald
declared, Jewish aid organizations had borne the cost of relief and assistance for
both Jewish and non-Jewish refugees. A considerable proportion of the refugees
held a nationality other than German. Some 16,520 were Polish in origin, or
were stateless and without a recognized nationality.

McDonald then proceeded to outline his priorities as High Commissioner.
In the face of this crisis, he said, he had two clear responsibilities: to coordinate
the relief and settlement work being undertaken by private refugee aid organiza-
tions, and to negotiate opportunities for resettlement with governments. On the
first, McDonald explained that the High Commission did not have resources of
its own to provide relief and assistance, and it could not be the medium through
which relief funds were collected and disbursed. His role was therefore to sup-
port and coordinate the activities of the many aid and benevolent organizations
that were better equipped to carry out these vital functions. Rather than develop
assistance programmes itself, the High Commission’s functions would be instead
to facilitate the strategies of other agencies that aimed at making the refugees
more attractive to prospective countries of resettlement through retraining, or
by investing in industries and jobs in which they could be placed. On the issue of
resettlement, there were specific technical questions that required the agreement
of governments. Among these were travel documents, identity documents and
questions of property rights, critical issues that would also require negotiations
with the German government.’

Fractures appeared when the Governing Body reconvened in a closed ses-
sion later that day to deal with procedural matters. The question of member-
ship of the Permanent Committee of the Governing Body, which McDonald had
proposed in order to deal with important matters more quickly and efficiently
between the formal meetings of the full Governing Body, drew scant interest
from some governments. The representatives of Sweden, Italy and Denmark
declined membership on the instructions of their governments. The Italian
representative, Senator Giovanni Majoni, went further and pre-empted later



68 The League of Nations and the Refugees from Nazi Germany

discussions. With 500 refugees from Germany in Italy, Majoni declared, it had
reached the end of its tolerance and could accept no more. Italy’s participation
in the High Commission would therefore be limited.®

Majoni was the first of several representatives who declared that it was the
intention of their governments to hold fast to their policies against the admis-
sion and settlement of more refugees. Bérenger also declared that the French
government expected the High Commission to help relieve France of its existing
refugee burden and to work for a more equitable distribution of the refugees
among other countries. For this reason, France had suspended entry visas and
residence permits from the date the League of Nations decided to appoint the
High Commissioner. ‘France and French private aid organizations, Bérenger
continued, ‘have done more than their duty when faced with the humanitarian
problem arising from the events in Germany’ France’s position was therefore
that it could not be ‘indefinitely hospitable ... it will consent to be a clearing
house but not a final haven for all refugees”

Bérenger had in fact expressed the general mood of the Governing Body.
The Swiss representative, Henri Rothmund, explained that his government had
issued entry visas for expired passport holders in order to assist them to flee
Germany, but it could not continue to do so. The Czechoslovakian representa-
tive, Prince Max Lobkowicz, said bluntly that the alternative to a travel or iden-
tity document for refugees was their repatriation to Germany.

A travel and identity document akin to the Nansen Passport issued to Russian
and Armenian refugees during the 1920s was nevertheless considered unwar-
ranted and undesirable in the circumstances facing the refugees from Germany.
An intergovernmental conference would need to be held to agree on its terms
and use; that would take time, when the problem was urgent. Moreover, it would
raise ‘difficult political questions’ of interference in German affairs.® It was rec-
ommended instead that the international identity and travel document adopted
by the League of Nations Organization on Communications and Transit in 1927
be made available for the refugees from Germany. Although it was not in wide
use, it provided a valid and recognized document for travel in lieu of a national
passport. Governments could declare their intention to use it immediately with-
out the need for an intergovernmental agreement. Italy and France objected,
however, arguing that a travel document issued by the High Commission itself
would be stronger than the 1927 document, and would command an obligation
of states to receive refugees resettling from another country. The discussion pro-
gressed no further as, Cecil declared from the chair, there were too many matters
of government policy that had yet to be determined, and representatives were
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being asked to comment on issues on which they had not been instructed. The
question was therefore held over for later consideration.’

National interests also dominated closing statements. Defending American
silence on the refugee problem, Joseph Chamberlain explained that the ques-
tions the Governing Body faced were not of moving refugees from one country
to another, or of charity. “The refugees must be allowed to remake their lives, and
this requires the cooperation of private organizations with governments. The
United States therefore welcomed the creation of the High Commission and its
intention of coordinating the work of private organizations seeking the coopera-
tion of governments.'” Lobkowicz indicated that the Czechoslovakian govern-
ment was conflicted between the refugees’ need for charity and the ‘economic
and social problems’ they caused. For Bérenger and the French government,
the obligations of refugee relief no longer rested with the countries of refuge
on Germany’s borders but with the High Commissioner and countries in the
Americas: ‘France, frontier of liberty, has not only done a work of charity but
also a work of reconstruction and put into practice the fundamental principles
of the High Commission itself’. But, again he stressed it could not continue to do
this. ‘It is above all on the American continents where the redistribution can be
made ... It is for the High Commissioner to take up the torch that the League of
Nations has passed to him ... It is now time that effective aid were apportioned
by the great American associations and the High Commission’!! Robert Cecil
concluded the proceedings, speaking on behalf of the British Government. ‘It
is as difficult in England [sic], as elsewhere, to find employment. Considerable
amounts of money have been collected to assist refugees ... and to enable them
to go to other countries ... Europe is full; we must turn to other continents ...
countries in Africa and the Americas that can offer an outlet’'?

In summary, the Governing Body made no decisions at its first meeting.
Its members returned to their governments with the recommendation on the
adoption for the use of refugees of the international travel and identity docu-
ment of the League of Nations Organization on Communications and Transit
in 1927. However, there were no discussions on what the governments might
do directly to assist refugees, nor approaches to the refugee problem that might
help alleviate some of its worst aspects. Each representative defended their
government’s policies, while pleading for others to take the burden off them.
The Europeans looked to the High Commissioner to assist in the emigration
of refugees from their own countries and therefore firmly placed upon him
the responsibility of finding openings in the United States and other places of
resettlement.
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Leaders of the major Jewish organizations were invited to Lausanne to address
the Governing Body during its opening session. The session began, McDonald
recalled, with brief and perfunctory statements that left little impression on
their audience until Weizmann rose to make a ‘very statesmanlike and mov-
ing address’"” ‘One must not be too hopeful, Weizmann began, ‘in view of the
disturbed economic position of the world [but] it should not be beyond human
power to solve this problem’. He named regions where migration opportun-
ities for the refugees from Germany existed. These were, in truth, established
countries of immigration — the United States, the British Dominions, espe-
cially South Africa and Australia and some South American republics. But he
also named the French dependencies and mandate territories, and added, ‘we
believe, to some considerable extent, in Palestine. He continued: “The Jewish
community alone could not do what was required without the sympathy, with-
out the political, moral and material support of the civilized nations’ He cast
a moral imperative before his non-Jewish audience: ‘A wave of anti-Semitism
is sweeping over the world ... The peculiar social and economic structure of
Jewry - forced on us by centuries of history during which we were merely in
the role of passive sufferers — cannot be maintained in the face of a changing
world. He concluded: “The success of our endeavour in Palestine is based on
the determination of our people, especially our youth, there to found a life on a
normal and productive basis.*

Weizmann’s advocacy of Jewish settlement in Palestine antagonized the non-
Zionists attending on behalf of their own organizations. American Jewish inter-
ests were particularly annoyed. It seemed to them that Weizmann had ‘pocketed’
McDonald, and they took their complaint directly to McDonald. Joseph Hyman
of the Joint Distribution Commission, with its European director Bernard Kahn,
and Louis Oungre, European director of the Jewish Colonization Association,
all insisted that McDonald moderate Zionist influence in favour of New York
Jewish organizations by limiting Zionist representation on the Advisory Council.
Discussions on the composition of the Advisory Council had dragged on; they
were ‘interminable and racking, achieving little for the time that McDonald
devoted to them. Here was another reason why McDonald could not reach a
final decision. Positions were firm and could not be swayed; he could only try to
balance their conflicting demands as best he could, while maintaining a spirit of
cooperation.” There was the danger that if the final decision was left to drift, that
cooperative spirit might be lost.

McDonald found himself in the midst of highly charged conflicts within the
American and British Jewish communities. Since the Balfour Declaration on
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Palestine in 1917, Zionism had emerged within both the British and American
Jewish communities as a defining issue, socially, religiously and politically. It
divided the traditional establishment Jewish communities, populated by fam-
ilies of the older Jewish migrations from Europe, from those who had settled
during the mass migrations from Eastern Europe in the 1880s and 1890s. The
establishment organizations were content with philanthropic aid for fellow Jews,
in order to educate them and nurture their Jewish identity, and to protect them
from persecution through their emigration abroad. To this end, the American
Jewish Joint Distribution Committee raised funds in the United States to assist
the rehabilitation of East European Jews during and after the First World
War, while the Jewish Colonization Association bought up land in the United
States, Argentina and Brazil with a view to establishing new Jewish immigrant
communities. Zionists, on the other hand, tied Jewish identity with a Jewish
homeland in Palestine. The differences between these two groups became a
political struggle for influence and control over key Jewish institutions.'®

The antagonism between the establishment and Zionist organizations had
three immediate consequences for the resettlement of the German Jewish refu-
gees. One was a struggle for influence over the work of the High Commissioner.
Establishment American organizations were making the major contributions to
High Commission’s budget, which Weizmann interpreted as their ‘pocketing’ of
McDonald. Weizmann insisted to the contrary that the most realistic prospect
for the success of the High Commission was the resettlement of German Jews in
Palestine. A second consequence was a struggle over the distribution of Jewish
resources and financial contributions from philanthropists and benefactors.
Should they be poured into schemes involving Palestine, as the Joint Distribution
Committee and the Jewish Colonization Association worried, the community
resources upon which they could draw would be considerably diminished. The
third consequence was that should Weizmann ‘pocket’ McDonald and gain
recognition for his Zionist plans in this sleight of hand way, the establishment
organizations feared that the work for the refugees from Germany would be
mired in unnecessary political controversies: the British government would
not consent to any increase of Jewish emigration to Palestine for the foresee-
able future despite Weizmann’s urgings, and it would damage McDonald if
Weizmann were to distract him with this in mind. McDonald’s only response
to these pressures was to try to hold himself aloof from any particular interests
and to try to assert his authority over particular agendas.”” But Weizmann could
only interpret this as McDonald giving in to the American establishment Jews,
because he was utterly reliant on them for the High Commission’s budget.
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The first act of the newly selected Permanent Committee of the Governing
Body was to decide on final membership of the Advisory Council. Eighteen organi-
zations were invited to participate, half of them Jewish, representing Britain,
France, the United States, the Netherlands and Poland. Three organizations were
actively engaged in resettlement: the Jewish Agency for Palestine, Weizmann’s
organization; the Jewish Colonization Association, which was already investing
heavily in overseas resettlement schemes and the Joint Distribution Committee.
The Comité des Délégations Juives was also invited, despite protests about it
adding even more Zionist influence over the High Commission. Non-Jewish
organizations included the International Catholic Organization; the Universal
Christian Council for Life and Work, which comprised non-Catholic churches
in Europe and America; the European offices of the Inter-Church Aid, a simi-
larly federated organization of the non-Catholic churches; the Save the Children
International Unit; the International Migration Service; the Society of Friends
(Quakers); the International Federation of Trades Union, which represented the
interests of political refugees, and the French National Refugee Relief Committee
(Comité National de Secours). Two bodies assisting academic and professional
refugees were also invited.'

The selection of these organizations reflected McDonald’s desire to bring
together a broad spectrum of interests, but their number and diversity could
have made the Advisory Council unwieldy. McDonald therefore decided to
selected a smaller group of eight to form a ‘bureau’ of the Advisory Council,
with which he could consult more regularly. The three Jewish colonizing organi-
zations were selected, along with the Central British Fund, the French National
Committee, one agency concerned with academic and professional refugees,
Caritas Catholica and two non-Catholic Christian organizations. Caritas
Catholica was apprehensive about participating, believing that the work of the
High Commissioner even indirectly reflected political criticism of the German
government."’

Even these eight organizations could proved difficult to manage as their
interests diverged considerably. McDonald had decided to form this bureau not
simply to establish a firm basis for inter-organizational cooperation, but also as
a strategy to placate the interests of the more politically and financially power-
ful organizations, which would be expected to invest the most in refugee assis-
tance and resettlement. These eight organizations, and particularly the powerful
Jewish organizations, would dominate the eighteen-member Advisory Council,
to such an extent that they marginalized smaller groups, which struggled to
make their voices heard.
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‘Looking back, Norman Bentwich, McDonald’s deputy later recalled, ‘the
eagerness of the organizations to send representatives to the Advisory Council
seems a little remarkable’ Sectional and national prestige played a major part in
the Council’s composition. A few members showed little concern for the High
Commission once the Advisory Council was formed, and they made only minor
contributions. On the other hand, Bentwich believed, some organizations that
were not invited to sit on the Advisory Council did much more for the refugees.?

For McDonald, the bureau was a way of working more effectively with the main
organizations, but it suggests a flaw in the structure and purpose of the Advisory
Council. While trying to balance all interests, he opened it up to too many agen-
das that vied with each other for influence. The bureau was an acknowledgement
that the Advisory Council’s effectiveness was doubtful. For his part, Weizmann
interpreted the bureau as an attempt to stymie his influence. Privately, he ques-
tioned McDonald’s abilities to manage the affairs of the High Commission. In
the weeks before the Governing Body, he expressed how he intended to impose
his ambitions on McDonald. ‘T think now’, he wrote to Arthur Ruppin, head of
the Jewish Agency in Jerusalem, ‘we shall be able to exert considerable influence
on him. London is, after all, nearer than New York ... he now intends to form an
Executive of this Advisory Committee [i.e. Council] ... It may be assumed that
I am to be one of the three Jewish representatives.* Privately as well he insisted
that his influence had indeed shaped the High Commission: on his insistence,
Robert Cecil accepted nomination as Britain’s representative on the Governing
Body, and his own nominee for a post of significance on McDonald’s staff,
Norman Bentwich, had been appointed Deputy High Commissioner. This was
all to the good for Weizmann’s influence over McDonald. Although the British
Government refused to recognize any role for the High Commission in relation
to Palestine, Weizmann believed that McDonald would nevertheless ‘soon be
forced by circumstances’ to pay close attention to the Jewish Agency, which was
created by the British Mandate to regulate Jewish emigration there.?

The final selection of the Advisory Council and its bureau, however, incensed
Weizmann because McDonald had given the American organizations a stand-
ing equal to his own. He was scornful of McDonald for representing American
interests. “The Jewish organizations did very well, he wrote to his wife during
the third day of the Governing Body, ‘but the trouble is with the Americans,
probably with Felix [Warburg], who keeps cabling which of the Jewish organiza-
tions should and which should not be admitted to the Advisory Council ... The
Americans are a great misfortune. Poor McDonald is at a loss. [He] is scared stift
of Felix. I don’t care any more and am leaving now’?*
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Weizmann saw McDonald’s efforts to moderate differences as a weakness. If
left to fester, however, these differences could have fractured McDonald’s rela-
tions with the Jewish organizations on whom he depended.** The selection of
organizations to sit on the Advisory Council, and then the bureau, was indeed
an attempt to moderate the influence of the larger, more powerful organizations,
or more accurately, the ambitious individuals leading them, and to give a place to
the smaller but none the less important organizations. But Weizmann certainly
exaggerated; he did not leave Lausanne before the meeting of the Governing
Body had ended, if that indeed was his intention. He attended a lunch on 7
December with McDonald, Cecil, and ‘a group of friends’ from the League
Secretariat. The next day McDonald met with Weizmann for over an hour, and
left with no hint of the scorn that Weizmann had expressed privately to others.”
In truth, Weizmann had little more to do with McDonald. He had gained most
of what he had sought from the High Commission. The Jewish Agency was on
the Advisory Council, as was the other major Zionist organization, the Comité
des Délégations Juives. He also had the opportunity to sit in on the meetings of
the Governing Body as a member of the Advisory Council’s bureau.

Suspicion nevertheless persisted among the leaders of Jewish Colonization
Association and the Central British Fund that McDonald was allowing
Weizmann to speak on behalf of all British Jews. Overall, Joseph Hyman advised
McDonald, the feelings and opinions among the British Jews were altogether
confused, about Weizmann, about the High Commission, about their role in it,
and about McDonald’s intentions and the way he had structured the role of the
private organizations.*®

Would McDonald have looked upon this first meeting of the Governing Body
as a success? Its first meeting was over, but it had set no clear direction, hav-
ing proposed no initiatives and with no advancement on the primary task of
ameliorating the conditions of the refugees. McDonald nevertheless expressed
satisfaction with the outcomes. His nominations for the Advisory Council were
approved and the great efforts of negotiation, argument and comprise had been
resolved in the way he wanted. He was also satisfied that Cecil had committed
himself to the role of permanent chair of the Governing Body and had proved
himself a ‘jewel beyond price’ during its first meeting. McDonald was also sat-
isfied with the contributions of the national representatives. He was uneasy all
the same with their apparent ‘eccentricities, which were large enough for him to
worry about ‘possible future dangers. He was most satisfied with the contribu-
tion of the representatives of those countries from whose citizens ‘must come the
largest financial resources’ upon which the work for the refugees would rely.””
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This sense of satisfaction, however, did not suggest success. There was consen-
sus on the strategy he outlined - the coordination of the work of private organi-
zations, cooperation with governments and negotiations with Germany - but
the one clear message from the Governing Body was that national governments
looked to the High Commission to solve their refugee problems. European coun-
tries expected McDonald to do what was necessary to facilitate the emigration
of the refugees abroad, while the United States and Uruguay, the only two coun-
tries from the Americas represented on the Governing Body, did not intend to
relax their immigration policies. Moreover, despite the energies that McDonald
expended on forming the Advisory Council and establishing a solid cooperative
basis on which he could work with selected member organizations, they were
uncertain about the role they would play in the structure and activities of the
High Commission. McDonald had insisted from the outset that he would need
their advice on activities and programmes, but the early enthusiasm of Jewish
organizations seemed more to do with their expectation of influence and their
hope that the High Commission would facilitate their agendas. Once it was clear
this would not be the case there was, as Hyman had anticipated, much confusion.

There was, however, little time for McDonald to reflect on the outcomes of
the Governing Body. Almost immediately upon its conclusion, he left Lausanne
to return to New York for the Christmas holidays, but on his way back through
France he was distracted by two controversies that undermined the efforts he
had put into nurturing confidence in and support for his High Commission.

The first controversy came from within the High Commission itself. A junior
member of it staft, James Parkes, an Anglican clergyman who had been recom-
mended by Felix Warburg for his work in the International Students Movement
and his promotion of Christian-Jewish relations, publicly complained that
McDonald’s salary and the salaries of the other staft in the High Commission
were ‘indefensibly large’® McDonald could not ignore the accusation, fearing
that, at a time when aid societies were struggling to raise funds for their relief
work, it could undermine his personal credibility. Norman Bentwich, who drew
his salary from the Hebrew University in Jerusalem, reassured McDonald that
American salaries, on which his was based, were large by British standards. In
his own defence, McDonald explained that the choice he had faced was between
accepting a salary from the High Commissions budget based on his needs, or
accepting a payment from private individuals and therefore compromising his
independence. André Wurfbain, his Secretary General, agreed to a lower salary,
equivalent to what he had been paid in his previous position in the League of
Nations. The difference went back into the High Commission’s budget.”
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The High Commission was never greatly endowed with funds. In the for-
ward budget for 1934 tabled at the December 1933 Governing Body, salaries
were around half its operating expenses. Total contributions from all sources
amounted to 275,107.34 Swiss francs. Salaries were budgeted at 139,662.98 Swiss
francs, out of a total expenditure of 236,326.43 Swiss francs. McDonald’s salary
for 1934 was listed as 60,000 Swiss francs, around $2,150 per month (£435).%
Yet, sensitive to the accusation of an indefensibly high salary, he pledged a private
contribution to the High Commission of 7,500 Swiss francs to be drawn from
his 1934 salary.

The second controversy was again over Palestine. Before he returned to
London, McDonald had already been confronted with a newspaper report of
an earlier argument with the British Foreign Office on the question of emigra-
tion to Palestine. It related to a meeting with the colonial minister, Sir Philip
Cunliffe-Lister, and two senior members of the Colonial Office. McDonald
claimed that the report was completely unfounded, but he again found him-
self having to defend his relationship with Weizmann and the arrangements he
had made for his Advisory Council. He also faced a stern lecture on the British
Governments position on Palestine. The British government, Cunliffe-Lister
began, could not permit itself ‘to be used to set up a Jewish hegemony in the
Levant’® Cunliffe-Lister was not the first to tell McDonald that Weizmann
was as unrealistic as he was idealistic in his Palestine settlement plans, yet the
British Government was nevertheless concerned about the strength of Zionist
influences on High Commission and the persistent tittle-tattle that McDonald
had allowed Weizmann to ‘pocket’ him. The latest accusations of Weizmann’s
influence further antagonized the head of the Jewish Central British Fund and
president of the Board of Deputies, Sir Osmond d’Avigdor-Goldsmid. The deep
suspicions of British Jews over the influence of American Jewish agencies, which
financed the High Commission, and British Zionists who exerted influence over
it, jeopardized McDonald’s good relations with them all and with the British
Government.”

Only when sailing for New York could he leave Jewish politics behind
momentarily, breathe some fresh air and reflect upon this first phase of the High
Commission.



Pricking Their Conscience:
Winter 1933-34

McDonald could boast of no major initiatives to his colleagues and support-
ers in the United States when he returned for the holiday season. The national
governments represented on the High Commission’s Governing Body had
shown little more than their inflexibility on the refugee problem, and for all
of McDonald’s efforts to work with British and European Jewish agencies, no
common, cooperative strategies for assisting refugees came of them. The Joint
Distribution Committee, however, was committed to McDonald’s work because
of the new opportunities the High Commission presented for developing its
programmes of relief and rehabilitation for European Jews. It alone had put
a substantial effort into devising a strategy that, if realized, could provide the
necessary funds to finance major relief and resettlement projects, and therefore
unify the competing agencies in a common cause.

Felix Warburg and three of his associates from the Joint Distribution
Committee called on McDonald at his home in New York on Christmas morn-
ing, 1933, to discuss the plans they had devised for a refugee finance corpor-
ation. The objective was to raise money to finance resettlement schemes over
the long term. With, ‘possibly; as much as $50 million to $100 million raised
by securities bought partly as investment and partly as charity, the corporation
would fund philanthropic programmes anywhere in the world. As a corpor-
ation, established and operated on a sound financial footing, it was thought
possible that large capitalist enterprises, investors and philanthropic founda-
tions could be encouraged to contribute. The scheme appealed to McDonald,
as it gave him a strategy for promoting the cooperation of private organizations,
governments and the general community on specific schemes for refugee aid
and resettlement. It would elevate the refugee problem beyond one requiring
charity alone. ‘It was vast in conception, McDonald noted, but it offered such
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substantial promise that it would change the ‘attitudes of governments towards
refugees’”

McDonald could not yet point to any programme that the High Commission
had itself devised or had negotiated with any of the major aid organizations. But
this is not to say that there were no relief activities. Many small-scale programmes
were being put into place in Europe and the United States. Jewish organizations
were making the greatest efforts. The Joint Distribution Committee continued
to provide assistance through its European office in Paris, while the Jewish
Colonization Association continued to plan for refugee resettlement in new
lands. The Central British Fund had guaranteed the support of German Jewish
refugees entering the United Kingdom. Agricultural retraining programmes had
been created in France to reorient middle-class professionals for a life on the
land and resettlement schemes were being devised to place refugees in under-
populated rural areas. Meanwhile, various national refugee aid committees
across Europe, with public funds raised from philanthropists and from public
appeals, stepped forward to provide welfare and relief for newly arrived refu-
gees. Despite the hopes held for them, however, retraining programmes failed,
mainly because they lacked ongoing finance. Programmes in France also failed
because the French government suspected that they would only encourage the
entry of more refugees, which, it was feared, could lead to the creation by stealth
of permanent Jewish colonies in the French countryside.?

The problem of financing refugee relief services was evident well before the
League of Nations contemplated appointing a High Commissioner. The sudden
demand from the first wave of refugees from Nazism drained the resources of
the charitable agencies and new money had to be raised to continue this work.
A conference of Jewish organizations on 3 November 1933 agreed on a fund-
ing drive with a view to raising $10 million and to devise a plan to submit to
the High Commissioner for endorsement at the first meeting of the Governing
Body. The organizations were confident that they could raise this amount and
then use it to implement various resettlement projects. However, they were yet
no more than ideas. One of the more realistic plans envisaged the resettlement
of some 65,000 refugees on the British Crown Colony of Cyprus.” The money
to finance it would have to come from the general public, and include contribu-
tions from non-Jewish philanthropic sources. The success of the funding drive
would therefore rely on how it would appeal to non-Jewish interests. It there-
fore had to promise assistance for both Jewish and non-Jewish refugees forced
to leave Germany. Too great an emphasis on non-Jewish refugees, however,
could have the unintended consequence of alienating Jewish philanthropists.
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Within a month of launching the drive, $1,226,346 had been raised to aid some
600,000 ‘victims of the anti-Semitic Hitler regime’*

The corporation plan devised by the Joint Distribution Committee developed
this funding scheme further and attempted to put it on a more secure financial
basis, thereby making it more attractive to non-Jewish contributors. As presented
to McDonald, the corporation scheme sketched out, over four typescript pages,
how existing and future refugee settlement schemes could be financed.® It would
build upon the work of retraining and re-education and stimulate planning for
larger, more capital-intensive schemes. It would provide funds for land acquisi-
tion and industrial development in order to create jobs and facilitate settlement.
There were already several options for colonization that would demonstrate what
was possible. Settlement in Palestine was viable with an investment of as little as
£300,000, if it was planned carefully and the refugees were given proper train-
ing for working the land. Other possibilities lay in South America. The Jewish
Colonization Association had already owned large parcels of land in Argentina
that were ripe for development. Opportunities for industrial development existed
in less remote locations, even within Europe itself. The corporation would be a
conduit between charitable relief and capital investment. Both Jewish and non-
Jewish victims of Nazism would benefit. It would have trustees in the United
States, Britain and Europe to promote its work and to seek out investors. It could
be established in any country, although Britain and the Netherlands had more
favourable taxation arrangements. The trustees could be drawn from Jewish and
non-Jewish societies or businesses. Funding would be raised by subscriptions
or direct contributions. The plan recognized, nevertheless, that as an invest-
ment strategy the corporations returns would be low, or might not be realized
at all; it would therefore need to appeal to charitable sensibilities as well as to
investors. A large amount was needed indeed, at a time when there were many
appeals for charitable relief. But a start had already been made with the confer-
ence of Jewish organizations on 3 November 1933 and its funding appeal. The
Joint Distribution Committee had already raised about 12 per cent of the appeal’s
target of $10 million.®

The scheme set out a vision of possibilities. If successfully implemented, it
could break open all the barriers to refugee relief and resettlement. It was not
opportune, however, to consider whether it was driven more by idealism than
a realistic appraisal that the target could be reached, when economic conditions
were such that already hard-pressed relief organizations struggled to finance their
activities. There was nevertheless an urgent need for a programme that held some
promise, which could harness the disparate efforts for refugee relief and assistance
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and channel them towards a common purpose. One that held great promise
could embolden reluctant investors and philanthropists.

The corporation proposal added substance to McDonald’s public engage-
ments in New York over the course of that winter. There was a real need, he
warned a group of Jewish leaders, for a programme that would ‘turn the refu-
gees into assets’ for countries where they could start new lives. But the ‘piffling’
amount raised thus far by the American and English committees gave a real
sense of how ambitious the scheme was. Still, the corporation proposal allowed
McDonald to speak of ‘possibilities, and therefore highlight some of the emer-
ging development and colonization opportunities in Argentina, South West
Africa, Angola, Brazil, Panama and the autonomous Jewish region of Birobidjan
in the south-east Soviet Union.

Critical observers of the recent past would have been wary of the proposal
for the refugee corporation since its promise and the funding required to realize
the promise were far beyond what might have seemed possible. Not only had
previous efforts to raise such vast amounts to finance resettlement and coloniza-
tion been disappointing, large-scale refugee resettlement efforts themselves had
enjoyed little success. It was best not to dwell of the prospect of failure, however,
when there was so much reason to offer hope.

A successful model for the corporation and uses to which its money could
be put could be found in the Greek Refugee Resettlement Scheme of 1923-24,
for the repatriation of around one million Greeks expelled from the Turkish
Republic. This, however, was a very different scheme to the Joint Distribution
Committee’s proposed refugee corporation. A Greek Refugee Commission was
established by the League of Nations and raised a loan of £10 million to resettle
displaced Greeks on the land and in towns across the mainland. It was an invest-
ment in human capital and was an outstanding achievement. It was an initiative
of the League of Nations, supported and underwritten by member states; it was
also a scheme of repatriation rather than of resettlement, as the Greeks of Asia
Minor were ‘brought home’ to the Greek homeland. In comparison, there was
no one state in which the refugees from Germany could be resettled. Zionists
like Weizmann imagined Palestine as the Jewish homeland, but world politics
worked against this vision. The Greek Resettlement Scheme furthermore had
the benefit of the same propitious economic climate of the 1920s that had helped
in the dispersal and settlement of the refugees from Russia and Armenia.

More instructive of the challenges facing a project so vast in conception was
a scheme launched in 1923 for the resettlement of Armenian refugees on vir-
gin lands in Soviet Armenia. Advanced by Fridtjof Nansen, League of Nations
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High Commissioner for Refugees, it aimed to settle some 50,000 Armenian
refugees then languishing in camps around the eastern Mediterranean in new
colonial settlements on undeveloped land north of Yerivan. The Soviet govern-
ment agreed to set aside the land, so funds were sought for irrigation and other
preparations were made for new settlers. The League of Nations was asked to
assist through financial guarantees but few governments or enterprises were pre-
pared to contribute enough to make the scheme viable.” The Lord Mayor’s Fund
in London, the Save the Childrens Fund, Friends of Armenia, and the Society
of Friends together raised establishment costs, but this was not sufficient for the
scale of the plans and their implementation over the longer term. By 1928 the
League of Nations had supervised the settlement of only 7,660 Armenian refu-
gees.® Nansen maintained his belief in the scheme and revised it twice to satisfy
the demands of prospective contributors, but ultimately he had to concede its
failure.’

A scheme of the scope of the refugee finance corporation would require
wide support and contributions from a large number of organizations even to
reach an ambitious minimum target of $25 million. Even then it would come
to nothing if governments were still unwilling to admit refugees in sufficient
numbers. So McDonald’s first discussions to try to persuade potential contribu-
tors to back the enterprise were not encouraging. He approached the Rockefeller
Foundation only to be told that it had not been established for the purposes
of this kind. Raymond Fosdick, its chair, told McDonald as well that the Jews
‘could, if they wanted, meet the needs’'® During a series of meetings and lunch-
eons in New York and Chicago with the interested and the curious, McDonald
found much support for the corporation’s intentions, but a great deal of reluc-
tance when it came to making commitments. He was told on more than one
occasion that the low estimates of between $25 million and $50 million were
too conservative." Hard-headed financiers and investors also told him that he
would need to provide much more detail than the general proposal he had out-
lined: only specific plans and a breakdown of where the money would be spent
would attract investor interest. He was also warned that non-Jewish contribu-
tions would have to be substantial, as he could not expect wealthy Jews, already
under considerable financial strain, to continue their support indefinitely."?

America’s isolation from the affairs of Europe, McDonald was acutely aware,
gave its public an unrealistic impression of the refugee crisis and of Europe’s abil-
ity to solve it on its own. The dangers of anti-Semitism in Europe, he found, were
considerably underestimated in the United States. He therefore saw it as his duty,
as an American Christian as well was the High Commissioner for the refugees,
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to alert the American public to the true extent of refugee problem. British Jews,
he explained, were truly fearful for the ‘security of their own children. And the
refugee problem was something more than mere charity could solve. It had to be
‘viewed in the largest terms) he stressed; it was a challenge to Americans and to
all Christians, not simply a problem for Europeans and the Jews."

This was McDonald’s message whenever he addressed the American public.
In a piece for the New York Times, prepared while sailing back from Europe in
December 1933, McDonald reminded Americans of how refugees had enriched
their own history. ‘It is for all of us, Jews and non-Jews alike, he wrote, ‘who
believe in the fundament principles of equality before the law and of racial toler-
ation, to assist in the resettlement of the refugees where they would ‘have oppor-
tunities to build a new life for themselves and to enrich materially and culturally
their new homelands. His first statement to the Governing Body was reprinted
below the article in order to stress the need for coordinated responses and fund-
ing to match to size of the task at hand.™

McDonald’s audiences were sympathetic to his work but reluctant to contrib-
ute. He turned to harder language to prick their conscience.”” ‘T wish I had the
power to give the Christian people of this country a realization of their respon-
sibility} he told one audience. “The crime against the Jews is committed in the
name of Christianity and of “Aryanism” ... The non-Jewish people of America
have a real responsibility to show the world that they are not parties to such
persecution’. They could take on their responsibility, he urged, over the next few
weeks and months when their help and their financial support would be called
upon.'s

Broadcast radio took his message to a larger audience. When president of
the Foreign Policy Association, McDonald had given weekly broadcasts on cur-
rent events for the National Broadcasting Corporation (NBC) on a programme
called The World Today."” NBC offered him a spot in its schedule on the after-
noon of Saturday 14 January 1934 for a fifteen-minute national broadcast.”® In
a talk he called ‘Christian Responsibility towards German Refugees” he again
appealed to the Christian sympathies of the general American public. The
German refugees, ‘Gentile and Jew) he said, shared a common distress. They
were professors, writers and students, intellectuals to be sure, but also working
people, small shopkeepers, merchants, clerks, artisans and day labourers, people
for whom America, ‘as a land of refuge, was ‘living justification of [its] open door
to the oppressed. All had a shared responsibility, he insisted, ‘but those of us who
are Christian, believing in the ethical principles of charity and brotherly love
... have a special obligation towards the victims of anti-Semitism’ Christians,
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moreover, had a ‘special responsibility), he said, for the perpetrators of the anti-
Semitic persecutions ‘boast that they are Christians while violating the elem-
entary ethical principles taught and practised by the founders of Christianity’"

In order to promote its funding campaign for the refugee corporation, the
Joint Distribution Committee published an ‘Tllustrated Handbook on the Needs
of the Jews in Germany and Other Lands, an educational resource used to
inform the public of the consequences of anti-Semitism and the persecution of
the Jews.?” Many of the funding commitments the corporation received, how-
ever, were little more than vague promises, but some were quite surprising.
While in New York, McDonald was visited by Lord Marley, deputy speaker of the
British House of Lords and chairman of the World Committee to Aid Victims of
German Fascism. Marley was concluding a speaking tour of the United States,
during which he had raised $25,000 for use in refugee assistance.”'

McDonald was the corporation’s most active advocate outside Jewish circles.
He addressed many meetings to promote it and to plead for contributions. He
urged the general public to open their hearts and their wallets.”> One major
step was taken with the launch of the United Jewish Appeal to raise $3 million
to finance ‘reconstructive aid’®* A collaborative effort of the Joint Distribution
Committee and the American Palestine Campaign of the Jewish Agency
for Palestine, the appeal was launched in the ballroom of the Astor Hotel on
22 March 1934, with ‘nearly a half an hour of posing and speech-making for
the Movietone, McDonald recalled.?* McDonald’s address to the launch of the
appeal was broadcast live on NBC.

Some Christian groups responded to his calls, but with poor results. An
American Christian Committee was launched in early 1934 with an establish-
ment loan from the Joint Distribution Committee, as part of a campaign to raise
$15,000 for refugee relief from American Christians. By mid-May, it abandoned
its efforts, having raised no more than $200. It then joined the United Jewish
Appeal, and in November 1934 it reported that of the $1.6 million the United
Appeal had raised, no more than $8,000 had come from Christian sources. After
expenses, and the repayment of its loan to the Joint Distribution Committee,
the Christian appeal had registered a loss of $870.2° McDonald himself appealed
personally to some one hundred Christian philanthropists and past contribu-
tors to the Foreign Policy Association. This raised just $1,240.>” The Christian
Committee could put its failure down to economic conditions, which had badly
affected people’s personal finances and exhausted their spirit of generosity.
McDonald was less forgiving, however. ‘T am fed up on Christian protestations
of interest and the empty holding out of the hand of fellowship, he protested.
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Tt is high time that Christian leadership took its obligation seriously’*® Despite
McDonald’s appeals to Christian conscience, the refugee problem was seen as
a Jewish problem. Even then, the United Jewish Appeal itself fell terribly short
of its $3 million target. There was a general malaise when it came to public
appeals for funds. The public was being asked repeatedly to give their money
when there was no apparent solution.

The responses to fundraising campaigns in Britain were much the same. An
appeal of the English churches for refugee relief had raised little more than £750
by early January 1934.% Furthermore, British Jews were as unenthusiastic about
the refugee corporation proposal as were the New York philanthropists. Lionel
and Anthony de Rothschild, whose support McDonald could not question, criti-
cized the lack of detail in the proposal presented to them. There were no specific
projects set out in the plan and the finer details of finance would need to be
worked out before contributors would be willing to come forward. Even then
they were not optimistic of raising between $5 million and $10 million in Britain
alone, as the plan anticipated.’ British Zionists were even less enthusiastic, not
only the passionate Weizmann but also the more measured Simon Marks. Both
argued their belief that opportunities for Jewish resettlement existed only in
Palestine, and feared that the corporation would do no more than drain their
agencies of resources for unspecified purposes of little value.*

McDonald had returned to London for the first meeting of his Advisory
Council Bureau and Permanent Committee of the Governing Body on
29 January 1934. His staff, Herbert May, André Wurfbain and Norman
Bentwich, had now moved their offices from Lausanne to London in prepar-
ation. Now three months into his High Commission, McDonald had little to
show except for these general plans for the corporation scheme devised and
advanced by the Joint Distribution Committee in New York. Robert Cecil
warned McDonald that he had to show some progress on the refugee problem
itself, otherwise the Governing Body would start to lose patience with him. He
would have to explain, Cecil told him, not so much what had been done, but
what would be done.*

The Jewish Colonization Association, the Jewish Agency, and the Joint
Distribution Committee were the largest contributors on the Advisory Council
Bureau. Non-Jewish representatives spoke on issues relating to intellectual, aca-
demic and professional refugees. No Catholic spokesperson attended its first
meeting, while a representative of the Bishop of Chichester spoke on behalf of
the Anglican Church.*> McDonald reported on his recent engagements in the
United States and his efforts to stir Christian opinion, and explained again the
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proposed corporation and the plans to raise funds to finance refugee resettlement
schemes. He could report few examples of progress, however, and what positive
outcomes there were to report did not come about from his own activities.

There were some developments to note, all the same. Information from the
State Department in Washington pointed to a modest liberalization in American
immigration policy from which refugees would benefit. Labour bonds, imposed
to prevent immigrants from becoming a public charge, were being relaxed for
the refugees from Germany, and American consular staff in Germany had been
instructed to interpret entry visa regulations more liberally. It was estimated,
McDonald reported, that the number of German refugees admitted to the
United States could almost double, possibly to 12,000 in 1934, but he cautioned
that there was no reason to think this marked a shift in American opinion: it
would be dangerous, he warned, if the European states misunderstood this ges-
ture as the United States’ reopening its doors to immigrants.**

There were also some modest successes of various organizations in placing
refugees. Four farms in France had received 150 refugees each year for agri-
cultural retraining, and 200 refugee students had been placed in French tech-
nical schools. In the Netherlands, land and buildings had been provided in the
reclaimed land of Zuyderzee for a combined agricultural and technical school
for 300 refugee students. In England, over 100 young refugees had been appren-
ticed in technical trades.®

These were small results and in no way could be considered breakthroughs.
Instead, they demonstrated, if more evidence was needed, how difficult it was to
settle refugees in Western Europe. Overseas colonization, Cecil observed, was
‘the solution par excellence. Discussions consequently turned to the question
of how overseas colonization could be realized. Weizmann jumped in to pro-
mote his plans for Palestine, but Cecil, representing of the British government,
refused to discuss Palestine as only the Colonial Office could determine emigra-
tion there. ‘So; he continued, ‘it was necessary to think about other emigration
possibilities’*® Felix Warburg of the Joint Distribution Committee, who attended
as a guest of its European director Bernard Kahn, took the opportunity to pro-
mote the refugee corporation. Corporation funding would provide new capital
for the development of lands for refugee settlement, Warburg explained to the
Permanent Committee of the Governing Body, and the countries that agreed
to open their doors would be assured that new immigrants would not become
a public charge. It was therefore essential, he said, that the High Commission
now ‘open the doors of immigration into countries that are still undeveloped:?’
Louis Oungre of the Jewish Colonization Association spoke in more specific
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terms. ‘Palestine is not the only land of immigration, he started. ‘Other outlets
could be found,, such as in the ‘new’ lands of Argentina, Brazil and Uruguay,
‘where there are already small settlements of Jews. Returning to the persistent
problem, he summed up the dilemma they all faced: ‘All emigration programs
would be dead letters if there are not enough means to put them into effect. Sir
Osmond d’Avigdor-Goldsmid, president of the British Board of Deputies and
the Jewish Colonization Association, and chairman of the Jewish Agency for
Palestine in London, made a very brief statement that put the High Commission
on notice: “The English Jewish organizations, he said, ‘have placed great hope
in Lord Cecil and the High Commissioner, and hope that they can succeed in
opening these new doors to immigration’*® In other words, he demanded, in
the best diplomatic language, evidence of progress to ensure that McDonald
retained the confidence of British Jews.

These discussions were about remote possibilities, not immediate opportun-
ities. To assist planning, these meetings agreed to establish a Central Information
Bureau in the High Commission to collect information on emigration and
resettlement possibilities. Its research would determine the feasibility of settle-
ment plans and recommend which ones were more or less ready to proceed. It
would provide, in short, the details required by potential contributors to the
refugee finance corporation, and show where resources could be best directed.
Other technical matters left outstanding from the full Governing Body were
resolved. The 1927 Document for Travel and Identity of the League of Nations
Organization on Communications in Transit was formally recommended as a
travel document for the refugees from Germany.* The Permanent Committee
also approved McDonald’s plans of travelling to Berlin to open negotiations with
the Reich on the conditions of Jewish emigration.*

At the end of these meetings, McDonald again let himself to be distracted
by the interests of Jewish organizations. He proposed inviting two more into
the Advisory Council Bureau, one American and one British, which increased
its membership to ten, more than half the number of organizations on the full
Advisory Council. Cecil objected, and an argument ensured between him and
McDonald about the authority of the High Commissioner and the Governing
Body on appointing representative organizations. McDonald relented, conced-
ing the argument to Cecil, but only after causing further disaffection among
Jewish groups, who believed that they had McDonald’s assurances of the
expanded membership of the bureau.

To be fair to McDonald, he and the effectiveness of the High Commission
were utterly dependent on Jewish support, especially their financial support.
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Although McDonald had tried to extend his interests beyond the Jewish organi-
zations by appealing to American Christians, the financial backing for the refu-
gee corporation would ultimately be a matter for British and American Jews.
Even so, when invited to speak about the corporation to a select audience of fifty
prominent British Jews at the London offices of the Rothschilds, he felt that he
was ‘talking against a blank wall, once he mentioned the size of the contributions
that would be required to reach even its minimum target.*'






A Peaceable and Just Solution

When McDonald had previously visited Berlin on behalf of the American
Foreign Policy Association, he impressed upon senior civil servants and Nazi
Party figures the nature of American opinion regarding the regime’s racial pol-
icies. During his second visit in August 1933, he became convinced that the
Nazis were closed to any criticism about its treatment of the Jews. Now, as the
League of Nations appointed High Commissioner for Refugees he planned to
return in order to negotiate on the conditions of Jewish emigration from the
Reich, and to put the case that a less rigid approach would facilitate the integra-
tion of their unwanted Jews in other countries.

McDonald began his preparations during the December 1933 meeting of the
Governing Body telegraphing Hjalmar Schacht, president of the Reichsbank
and his main contact during his previous visits, to request his assistance.
McDonald had enjoyed a good rapport with Schacht, and approached him again
to arrange for meetings with the Foreign Ministry and senior officials in the
administration and the government. He even went so far as to ask Schacht if he
could arrange a meeting for him with Chancellor Hitler. It seems not to have
occurred to McDonald that his former friends and contacts might have fallen
in behind the Nazi revolution. He learned that since he last met him Schacht
had in fact become an ‘enthusiastic anti-Semite, who feared damaging his posi-
tion if he became McDonald’s intermediary.'! Nor did it occur to him that he, a
League of Nations appointee, with responsibility for the victims of Germany’s
racial and political persecution, now represented different interests to those he
had previously, and that German civil servants might find particularly unwel-
come. Schacht consequently declined to assist him, telling him that it was not
appropriate to ask for an interview with the Chancellor.?

Before he returned to London in January 1934, McDonald discussed his
planned visit to Berlin with the German Ambassador to Washington, Hans
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Luther. He wanted to learn what Luther understood about the German govern-
ment’s position on the departure tax regulations and property rights for refu-
gees, but instead found Luther scrutinizing him about his attitudes towards
Germany. Luther criticized McDonald’s January radio broadcast on the
‘Christian Responsibility towards German Refugees’ for stepping beyond the
technical aspects of the refugee problem. Luther therefore gave little assistance
and offered no insights into how McDonald might approach his negotiations.?

Atits London meeting in January, the Permanent Committee of the Governing
Body gave McDonald precise instructions for his negotiations in Berlin. He
could only discuss matters of a technical nature, such as passports and docu-
ments of identity, refugee property rights and even the numbers of refugees who
might still be expected to leave Germany. Questions about the German racial
programme and other matters of a political nature were to be avoided entirely.*

He was a League of Nations appointee, certainly, but without the standing
of an international diplomat of the League of Nations. McDonald travelled on
his American passport and relied on the assistance of the US State Department
and the American embassy in Berlin for his preparations. The German embassy
in London arranged, ‘with reserve; it advised, an interview for McDonald with
Reich Foreign Minister Konstantin von Neurath.®

His mandate as High Commissioner required McDonald to enter into nego-
tiations with the Reich on the conditions of emigration. There is no indication
in his diaries whether he still believed, as he had at the conclusion of his pre-
vious visit to Berlin, that there was no reasoning with the regime on the Jews.
Yet McDonald believed that he must make the effort to secure concessions on
exit conditions in order to alleviate the conditions of the refugees. The Reich’s
departure tax (Reichsfluchtsteuer) stripped emigrants and refugees of all but a
small part of their wealth, and, along with the prohibitions on redeeming their
assets from abroad, had a significant impact on the refugees’ ability to make
a new life for themselves. It prevented, in the first instance, many emigrants
from satisfying the no public charge tests applied in many countries. In 1933,
German emigrants, including refugees, were allowed to leave Germany with no
more than 10,000 Reichsmarks (about $4,000); over the course of 1934, this was
reduced to 2,000 Reichsmarks, which was spent in the first days abroad.® One
argument McDonald would put to the regime was that, if the German govern-
ment granted concessions under the departure tax arrangments, Germany itself
would benefit from a more orderly and more sustainable emigration as the emi-
grant receiving countries would be better able to integrate them into their soci-
eties and economies.
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McDonald arrived in Berlin on the morning of 7 February 1934 with his
Secretary General, André Wurfbain. Unfortunately, he had to change his plans
immediately. When presenting himself to the American embassy, he was given
a telegram informing him that his younger daughter had taken ‘suddenly and
desperately ill’ and that he must return to New York. This gave him only one day
for discussions in the Foreign Ministry.

Hans Dieckhoff, a Foreign Ministry specialist on US affairs, welcomed him
and informed McDonald that Minister von Neurath was occupied that day and
was unable to make time for him. Dieckhoff offered to answer the questions
McDonald had for the minister, but stipulated that their discussions could in no
way be considered negotiations. The High Commission, Dieckhoft told him flatly,
‘is not very popular here, and it would be embarrassing if the Foreign Ministry was
thought to be negotiating with him. McDonald nevertheless worked through the
list of matters with Dieckhoff that the Permanent Committee had authorized him
to raise — consular refusal to renew the passports of refugees, and the provision of
police records to aid in visa applications. Dieckhoff could not help him, because,
he explained, he was not authorized to speak of these matters, and because he
simply did not know about them. McDonald’s question about German policy on
repatriation was more sensitive and Dieckhoff made it clear that no change could
be expected: the German government would not want to encourage the return
of German emigrants, and only a few ‘of no consequence’ would be allowed to
return.” The response to questions about refugee property rights left McDonald
with little hope as well. McDonald was conciliatory, even indicating his willing-
ness to cooperate with the German government by proposing, for example, a
committee with which refugees might register their property claims; funds from
outside Germany, drawn from the refugee finance corporation, could then be
used to offset money that the refugees transferred.® Dieckhoft was again unhelp-
ful. The transfer of money was a matter for the Treasury and the Reichsbank, and
he could not comment. The view in the Foreign Ministry, he insisted, was that
Germany had been ‘liberal’ in releasing refugee funds as foreign exchange, up to
as much as 80 million Reichsmarks for 8,000 families: a fraction of the total avail-
able, McDonald later noted.’

After speaking with Dieckhoff for more than one hour, McDonald grew
impatient and insisted that he see Neurath before he returned to New York the
next morning. He would not accept Dieckhoft’s answers, he said, until he had
the opportunity to speak with the minister himself. When told of McDonald’s
need to return without delay, Neurath made himself available for a short
interview that afternoon, but there was little for McDonald to discuss now, as
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Dieckhoff had answered his questions. Neurath explained that he could give
McDonald no indication of the future policy towards the Jews because he did
not know what his government intended. But he was surprised by one question
that McDonald posed. If, McDonald asked, there were a planned emigration
over the years of some 10,000 to 15,000 young Jews annually, would the govern-
ment give assurances of the security of those Jews who remained? The question
caught Neurath’s attention; it was something that could lead to a ‘truce’ between
the remaining Jews and the German government, he muttered. Struck by this
response, McDonald backed off, having no authority to speak further on a mat-
ter of German policy. There was as yet no arrangements to put something of the
sort in place, he told Neurath, and added that, anyway, the task of placing even a
planned emigration in countries of resettlement was enormous.'

This was as much as he could achieve at this time. The Foreign Ministry was
obstructive even on technical matters of the renewal of passports and other
consular services for refugees. McDonald had at least learned that, while the
Reich government would not be moved on its policy towards the Jews, there was
nevertheless a hint in Neurath’s response of something to work on

McDonald’s daughter Barbara had contracted pneumonia, which had devel-
oped into pleurisy; she was hospitalized during February and March. His
unexpected return to New York gave him the opportunity to resume official
engagements to promote the work for the refugees and continue to seek contri-
butions for the refugee finance corporation. His daughter’s condition improved
by late March and he could think about returning to Europe. But his brief return
to public advocacy in New York left him vulnerable to the kinds of criticisms
that had greeted him in London in January. His pleas to the American con-
science and appeals for funds — constant demands for money, in fact, when he
had little to show for his work — drew some hurtful criticism. On 24 March
1934, for example, the New York Times published a ‘letter to the editor’ shortly
after McDonald’s national radio broadcast from the launch of the United Jewish
Appeal. It was from a man named Karl Brandt, someone whom McDonald did
not know and who had no direct interest or investment in the plight of the refu-
gees. The letter took him to task for having nothing to show for his work. “The
past three months since McDonald’s appointment as High Commissioner), it
read, ‘have been months of suffering for these many thousands of men, women
and even children ... [I]t is surely long enough to admit of some actual perfor-
mance on the part of the commissioner’. It continued: ‘50,000 refugees and mil-
lions of sympathizers the world over are awaiting the announcement of a clear,
detailed and concrete programme, to be effected at once and with a maximum
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of speed and vigor. We should like to ask Mr. McDonald just what he has done,
what he intends to do, and when’"

McDonald was indeed sensitive to complaints of this kind since they were
about the key difficulties of his position. If left unanswered they would tarnish
his image, dissuade potential contributors, or reinforce the view that the refugee
problem was a matter for the Jews alone. He believed that he had addressed such
criticism in his address to the United Jewish Appeal launch, but the New York
Times had only published a short, three paragraph summary that omitted much
detail. He did not want leave New York without responding, and so asked the
newspaper to publish a revised version of his address as a feature article for the
following Sunday’s edition.'? The New York Times welcomed his suggestion, but
later decided against publishing the piece, considering it ‘too much of a plea’
than an account of his work."”

His lack of achievements was also reason for a subtle shift in opinion about
the High Commission in Europe. Its purpose and effectiveness were openly
questioned. New funds had not been found for the refugee aid organizations,
and governments troubled by refugees were still awaiting a plan for their reset-
tlement abroad. McDonald had made no headway, and he had yet to start
negotiations with governments who had refused to take any of the refugee bur-
den. For the Europeans, the United States government, McDonald’s own, was
the most negligent. McDonald could report no more than general discussions
with the US State Department, the Canadian government and the embassies of
some of the Latin American republics, all of which refused to tamper with their
countries’ restrictive immigration barriers. The fate of the refugees was all but
lost in the jostling around the edges of the crisis. Louis Oungre of the Jewish
Colonization Association, who had McDonald’s ear on many issues of refugee
assistance, politely and with deference questioned his achievements, asking him
shortly after his return from New York, whether the High Commission could
be justified. Fundraising and the coordination of efforts were what the private
organizations such as his already did; they could also take upon themselves the
negotiations with governments on passports, visas and resettlement opportuni-
ties. “The High Commission, Oungre concluded, ‘is for the immediate purpose
a luxury’™

Shortly afterwards, when passing through Geneva, McDonald was con-
fronted with more personal criticism. Having been told when he took up his
appointment that his presence there was unwelcome, he now faced a reaction
against his absence and the lack of reports on his activities. Indeed, the League
Secretariat was critical of his silence, as it let rumours about him and his work
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fester. The rumours were especially personal. Stories of him exploiting his office
for profit, and even charges of crookedness, were doing the rounds."

McDonald could ignore the personal slights, but without successes to report
he could not change the perceptions of his accusers. He took some comfort from
the support of Witold Chodzko, the Polish representative on the Governing
Body, who assured him that his post was of such importance that it should be
enlarged and made a permanent agency of the League of Nations. The League
itself had failed to ‘meet the Jewish question fairly, Chodzko sympathized; the
High Commission had shown the need for a truly ‘international body, govern-
mental in character, to stem the tide of anti-Semitism in Central and Eastern
Europe.*® It therefore had a purpose that was yet unrecognized, Chodzko assured
McDonald: it was attempting to deal with one aspect of a much greater problem
and was bringing to light matters that had never before been discussed in inter-
national assemblies, the Jews of Europe. Without a hint of the growth of anti-
Semtism and attacks on the Jews in his own country, Chodzko went on to say
that the High Commission constituted the implicit idea of ‘international govern-
mental responsibility for the peaceful and just solution of the Jewish problems."”

With this in mind, McDonald also found renewed purpose when he witnessed
for himself the conditions of the Jews in Europe during a tour that took him and
Norman Bentwich, to Vienna, Prague and Warsaw. A tour like this, Chodzko
assured him, would reveal more about the purpose of his mission than he had
learned over the previous months from the Jewish agencies and governments in
the United States, Britain and France.'”® These were indeed six intense days that
left a lasting impression on McDonald’s sense of mission and reinforced his fore-
bodings for the future. He noted his observations and experiences extensively in
his diaries, with a passion that rarely broke through in other contexts.

The conditions of the Jews in these cities were very different in each case.
Austria, Czechoslovakia and Poland experienced the refugees from Germany in
different ways, with particular ramifications for their own local Jewish commu-
nities. The Jews in Vienna were timid and fearful, not daring to do anything that
would antagonize the Austro-Fascist regime of Engelbert Dollfuss and make
things worse for themselves. The Viennese Jews were consequently hostile to
McDonald for raising the subject of the refugees from Germany with their gov-
ernment and were reluctant to discuss the concerns of Austrian Jews with him.
In Prague, on the other hand, he found a highly active Jewish refugee aid society,
the Czechoslovakian National Committee, deeply engaged with social demo-
crat, trade union and other non-Jewish organizations. Together they raised and
shared funds from local communities, and could demonstrate how much could
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be done with so little. He was taken to a refugee commune outside Prague, an
old ‘hunting palace’ that had been converted into accommodation for sixty refu-
gees. As with refugee aid committees elsewhere, the Czechoslovakian National
Committee struggled to find sufficient funds to support its work, and was look-
ing for contributions from abroad in order to continue its work. Refugees were
not granted work permits, and emigration opportunities were essential. Stateless
refugees moreover ran the risk of criminality if the technical questions of their
legal status and documents of identity were not addressed.

Warsaw showed yet another side of the European Jews. The Polish Jewish
committee with which McDonald and Bentwich met represented ‘every fac-
tional shade of Jewish opinion’ Hopes for the future of Poland’s Jews rested in
Palestine and the committee had no patience with the matters that McDonald
raised with them. Instead, they attacked the United States, Britain and the
British Administration in Palestine for their lack of action in coming to the
aid of Europe’s Jews and for not letting them emigrate to safe havens. Nor was
there any point in planning for the repatriation of German Jewish refugees
of Polish origin to Poland. They had never lived there and did not speak the
language. Neither Polish Jews, nor, more importantly the Polish government,
would recognize them as Polish.'” The solution, in short, lay in Palestine, and
the British government was obliged, they felt, to aid Jewish settlement regard-
less of Arab opposition. A small group of Jewish refugees from Germany who
had settled in Poland expressed their dissatisfaction with the committees
that represented them, and appealed directly to McDonald for help. They put
a face on the victims of Nazism that, despite his role, he rarely saw. Their
needs were great, he noted, and much more had to be done in Poland than
anywhere else.

He also learned enough about the internal politics of these countries to
worry about the future of the Jews. Austrian Nazis were a growing force; public
institutions, including the Catholic Church, were seriously fractured between
anti-Semitic extremists and holdout moderates. The mood in Prague was more
reassuring. Proud of its parliamentarianism in a ‘sea of dictatorships, the Czech
government was conciliatory and prepared to work with the High Commission.
Foreign Minister Edvard Bene$ made himself available for a long interview to
discuss the problems of passports, work permits and the status of stateless refu-
gees. But he warned McDonald that Czechoslovakia’s unique position as a dem-
ocracy in this troubled part of Europe made the refugee problem more serious
than elsewhere. The presence of German Jewish, communist and socialist refu-
gees was seen as provocation by the neighbouring dictators.?
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In marked contrast to Bene$ in Prague, the Polish Foreign Ministry had little
to discuss with McDonald, although they did welcome him with a lavish din-
ner. This gave McDonald and Bentwich one view of life in Poland; the next day
they had another, with a glimpse of Jewish life scarcely known in the West. They
were taken to the Jewish quarter of Warsaw to see how the Jews lived. They were
then taken to two Jewish villages on the outskirts of the city. The overwhelming
poverty shocked them both. The deeper the poverty, the more these commu-
nities clung to their old traditions. McDonald also learned that Palestine was a
deeply rooted cultural and religious idea. He was shown the ‘chief art treasure’ of
one of these villages, ‘a coloured crayon sketch of Palestine with pictures of [the
Zionists] Weizmann and Sokolow’. They clung ‘piteously to Palestine, McDonald
noted, as solace and hope for the future. He could now ‘understand the powerful
popular appeal’ of Weizmann and other Zionists.?'

Before he left Warsaw McDonald expressed his foreboding about the
prospects before the Jews of Central Europe in a cable to the Foreign Policy
Association. Here, he wrote, was compelling proof of the need for a generously
funded refugee finance corporation. The present tragedy carried a sense of dan-
ger and catastrophe; they would all be negligent if they failed to respond.*

From Warsaw, McDonald and Bentwich flew to Berlin to resume their nego-
tiations on Jewish emigration. If McDonald had been left in any doubt, it was
now all too clear that the German government would not cooperate. Dieckhoff
in the Foreign Ministry refused to see him, claiming that he did not have the
time to spare and had no more to add since their meeting in March. Since only
the technical matter of the renewal of passports remained to be dealt with, he
referred him to the Foreign Ministry’s legal office. Bentwich took up the issue
with Paul Barandon, a junior official. Their correspondence on passports contin-
ued over the following months, with no real progress.”

Opinion in the American embassy in Berlin was that the poor economic state
of Germany was destabilizing the regime and could lead to its collapse.* This,
McDonald felt, misread the strength of the Nazis. He believed instead that the
economic conditions could only intensify anti-Semitism and the persecution of
the Jews and there seemed a real chance that a second wave of refugees would
flee in panic into France, Belgium, Holland, Denmark and Czechoslovakia,
where the borders were all but closed. He could do no more in Berlin, other
than to advise the Foreign Ministry that he would report on Germany’s refusal
to cooperate to his Governing Body, to the governments it represented and to

the American president.
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This tour of European capitals ended back in London for the next sched-
uled meetings of the Advisory Council and the Governing Body. McDonald also
returned to the criticisms of his office and to more accusations that he was using
his post for personal gain. His frequent appeals for funds might have explained
these rumours but he could not leave them unchallenged. They were ‘wild
charges, he told the Advisory Council, which did no more than reflect what he
called the dysfunctional relations between the private aid organizations and the
High Commission; they expected more of it than it could deliver.” The finan-
cial report for 1934 showed that no Americans paid his salary directly, that he
was under no obligation to anyone, and that his staff were paid proportionally
to their functions. The minutes of the meeting continued, taking all the drama
from this confrontation: ‘The expenditure of the High Commission has been
exaggerated by others. It is equally assumed that the High Commission contrib-
utes funds to private organizations. Mr. McDonald reminded those present that
this was not the function of the High Commission’?® In other words, all revenue
from private donations paid for the operations of the High Commission; his and
his staft’s salaries were drawn from its budget, and it had neither the funds nor
the authority to contribute to the finances of other organizations. McDonald had
already agreed to forgo part of his salary as a personal contribution to the High
Commission’s operational budget, enough to cover the salary of his personal
assistant Olive Sawyer.?’

His failure to implement any measures for the direct and immediate benefit
for the refugees was much more difficult to defend himself against. He therefore
spoke positively about ‘substantial progress’ in the various ‘fields of the High
Commission’s activities’ in his report. The legal status of refugees was more
clearly defined in countries where they were temporary residents. Some coun-
tries of potential permanent residence had been persuaded to loosen immigra-
tion restrictions, but he refused to elaborate on the details in order to avoid
exaggerated impressions and unrealistic expectations by advertising successes.
He was also positive about the alleviation of the ‘dreadful congestion” refugees
faced in some parts of Europe. In total, however, the number of refugees from
Germany was much the same as it had been the previous December. This was
proof of some stabilization in the crisis, with new refugees replacing those who
had found a place of settlement. It was also proof of a more orderly migration from
Germany, not the panicked flight of 1933. McDonald summed up the position in
his concluding comments. ‘Until emigration plans can be worked out, the resi-

due of the refugees ... must be allowed to stay where they are, and not be cruelly
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harried. My plea to the Governments, both of countries of present asylum and
those of potential immigration is: do not let the springs of liberality dry up. That
would be a surrender to the dark forces of reaction’*®

Results thus far were limited but there had been some steady progress.
McDonald, however, could not claim to have had a hand in this progress.
National initiatives and the work of relief organizations had played an import-
ant part; the initiative of the refugees themselves in finding emigration oppor-
tunities or the sponsorship of families and communities, or, in some instances,
their return to Germany in despair at the conditions they faced abroad, were
also responsible for this slight improvement in the refugee numbers. But this
can also be explained by the flight from Germany having steadied at a lower rate
than what it was previously.

Some 12,000 refugees remained registered with the French National
Committee, but only 595 had been placed in employment and another 1,189
had emigrated (of whom 248 had gone to Palestine and 216 had returned to
Germany). In Britain, 3,495 refugees were registered at the end of March 1934.
Another 1,041 had left for unknown destinations abroad and some 500 were
believed to have returned to Germany and could no longer be traced. German
immigration into the United States continued at the same low level as before, with
some 2,500 individuals admitted to permanent residence between July 1933 and
March 1934; another 4,000 were admitted as temporary residents.”” Much was
expected of resettlement in South America, but by March 1934, Brazil had issued
no more than eighty-five entry permits for immigrants with specific technical
skills. Chile had authorized the immigration of fifty families on condition they
had a small amount of capital. Uruguay had authorized the settlement of fifty
families as agriculturalists.

Palestine held the most promise. The Jewish Agency had supervised the
settlement of 10,000 German Jews, while half of the £200,000 raised by the
Central British Fund for refugee resettlement was allotted to Palestine. The Joint
Distribution Committee had spent over $1 million on assistance to German
refugees since 1933, half of that in Germany itself, and it had also overseen the
emigration of 7,659 refugees, the majority of whom went to Palestine.’® Despite
the successful resettlements since the advent of the Nazi regime, British control
of emigration to Palestine allowed few future opportunities for Jewish refugees.
While 6,000 entry permits were issued over the next twelve months, only 20 per
cent of them would be issued to Jews outside Germany.*

No solution would be found in Europe. That was apparent. In the economic
conditions of the time, and the noticeable escalation of anti-Semitic sentiments,
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no country was prepared to absorb the refugees they bore on sufferance. The
Governing Body therefore resolved in its final May session that a ‘realistic solu-
tion lies in colonization. The task of the High Commission, the Governing Body
now determined, was to work on a plan for suitable colonization schemes and to

persuade countries of potential immigration to open their doors.*

%

McDonald could provide no reassurance to Jacques Helbronner and Robert de
Rothschild, directors of the French National Refugee Aid Committee, about
relieving France of its refugee burden, or of financial contributions from America
to assist in the Committee’s relief work. He and Bentwich travelled to Paris soon
after the Governing Body to bring together the Joint Distribution Committee,
the Jewish Colonization Association and the French National Committee to
work on a common approach to the refugee problem in France. There was little
hope, McDonald acknowledged, of France’s refugees finding somewhere else to
settle until resettlement plans could be developed. In the meantime, the French
had to deal with their refugees on their own. And France might have to deal with
them for some time, as all the resettlement proposals that had been canvased
thus far were sketchy and potentially costly. Opportunities in South America
were the most alluring. Europeans looked upon Brazil and Argentina especially
as countries ripe for development. But there were no detailed plans for prepar-
ing the lands owned by the Jewish Colonization Association to ready them for
refugee resettlement. The one ray of hope was that McDonald had secured the
agreement of the diplomatic representatives of Brazil, Argentina and Uruguay
in the United States to open discussions with their governments on increasing
refugee admissions.

Possibilities for alleviating the refugee problem again lay at an undeter-
mined point in the future. There was still no plan ready to proceed, and discus-
sions with governments had yet to find any concessions. This reflected badly
on McDonald and the effectiveness of the High Commission, and Robert de
Rothschild was the latest to turn on McDonald for his lack of achievements. ‘Tt is
the general talk that the High Commissioner is a charming person, nice to have
at dinner, McDonald recorded Rothschild’s words, ‘but that his accomplish-
ments have been absolutely nil’** He responded with similar frankness, showing
his growing frustrations. The first few months in his office were spent dealing
with the Jewish leaders more concerned with denouncing other Jewish leaders,
he retorted; all he could do was to try to ‘establish some measure of peace, not
to speak of confidence. Moreover, he had taken on the post to help the Jews

who were ‘at the moment unpopular everywhere. He did not ‘give a damn’ what
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the Europeans thought of him; his only concern was his own conscience and
the views of his friends.** This vexed moment was calmed by Helbronner, who
spoke ‘warmly’ of the good impression he had of McDonald at the Governing
Body.*” But tensions remained and were themselves becoming a barrier to effect-
ive cooperation. Rumour spread through American sources that the French
thought McDonald was too pro-German.* Not only was he open to the charges
of his lack of achievements so long as there were no demonstrable outcomes, but
the French were losing confidence in him now that he was openly voicing the
need for France to hold on to the refugees it would rather be rid of.

The final stage of this intensive two months of activity during April and May
1934 took McDonald to Rome for appointments with Vatican Secretary of State,
Cardinal Pacelli, and Italian dictator Benito Mussolini. He wanted to explain
the work of the High Commission to them and to report on his unsuccessful
negotiations with the German government. It was essential, he stressed to both,
that outside pressure be brought to bear upon Germany to indicate the world’s
displeasure with its policy on race. Pacelli had little to advise as the Vatican’s
interests were in upholding its Concordat with Germany, and it would therefore
refrain from criticizing the German government. Mussolini was more responsive
but gave nothing away. With astute diplomatic flattery, McDonald commended
Mussolini for the world’s good opinion of the treatment of the Jews in Italy.*”

While waiting to be admitted to Mussolini’s office, McDonald discussed his
talks in Berlin and the attitude of the German government with the Italian dep-
uty secretary of state, Fulvio Suvich. Suvich suggested that if he could no longer
work with the Reich then he should have to resign his commission. McDonald
dismissed the suggestion, saying that the Germans would be pleased to see the
last of him.*® These were a few innocuous words during a casual conversation,
but the idea of resignation if he could not make an effective contribution had
been brought into the open. McDonald himself would raise it again shortly after
he returned to London on 1 July 1934. The conclusions were simple enough to
draw: there was no new money for the care of refugees to be raised in Britain
and no reserve had been set aside from existing funds for use in 1935 and 1936.
Most of the reserve funds had gone instead into financing Jewish emigration to
Palestine. In this case, there seemed no option but to plan to wind up the High
Commission’s affairs by the end of the year, as it could not continue to function

beyond then.
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Funding appeals were falling on deaf ears. When McDonald spoke in support
of new appeals in New York, Pittsburgh and Philadelphia during the spring
of 1934, fatigue was evident. He could not stir the public and his appeals to
humanitarian conscience had litte impact. His allusions to even worse things to
come should the public not rise to the current challenge had the opposite effect
to what he had intended; he left his audiences feeling that there was no end in
sight and that demands for their money would only continue. Christian opinion
remained unmoved and the general public had no more offer. A woman told
McDonald after one meeting that she had no more obligations to Jews than she
had to ‘negroes or any other unfortunate people in distress.' A contributor to
the Joint Distribution Committee gave McDonald his reason why the calls upon
their generosity were unanswered: he was happy to make small donations but
hesitated to make large ones, as other organizations would then approach him
for contributions to their own campaigns.” The funding appeals therefore had
little success. While one had secured subscriptions of $230,000, it was largely
due to a personal contribution of $50,000 from Felix Warburg. Contributions
from other philanthropists were disappointingly few.

There were now doubts in the United States about McDonald’s capacity
to carry out his responsibilities. There were encouraging signs that John
D. Rockefeller IIT would authorize the Rockefeller Foundation to make a con-
tribute to the refugee corporation, but only if there were definite refugee aid and
resettlement plans, with specific ends and a finite budgets to see them through.
There were no definite plans, however. McDonald was utterly dependent on the
work of the large Jewish relief agencies to devise them and work out their finan-
cial arrangements. His efforts were therefore channelled into funding drives to

back the work of these agencies.
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It was becoming clear, then, that McDonald’s fundraising efforts were actu-
ally dissuading potential sources of capital. Felix Warburg therefore stepped
in to negotiate with Rockefeller over contributions from his foundation in
order that the High Commission’s profile not muddy their financial arrange-
ments. McDonald also had little impact in Washington. His report to the State
Department on the High Commission’s relations with the German government
and the German Foreign Ministry’s refusal to cooperate was simply noted,
with the hope that there was no longer a Jewish refugee problem for the United
States to deal with.? Joseph Chamberlain, the American representative on the
Government Body, had more influence with the State Department, however.
He asked it to instruct the American Ambassador in Berlin to cooperate with
the British embassy in entreating the German government ‘to listen to James
G. McDonald’s plea on behalf of German Jewish refugees’* This it duly did on
9 June 1934, with the British embassy taking up matters in Berlin on the High
Commissioner’s behalf.

The outlook for funding in Britain was no better than it was in the United
States. The most optimistic estimates were that £25,000 could be raised from pub-
lic appeals over the remainder of 1934. In reality, this was a figure given more
in hope than a realistic expectation of it being raised. The British organizations
expected much from American sources, but the American Jewish organizations
made it clear that they could not be expected to do more if British Jews was unwill-
ing to share the responsibility. This was hardly reassuring for the British Jewish
organizations, and did little to improve their feelings about the worth of the High
Commissioner, whose appointment was originally based on the assumption that
he could help unlock American capital resources.

A question was consequently asked privately whether the High Commission
could play a more effective role in a different form. Louis Oungre had called
the High Commission a luxury since private organizations such as his Jewish
Colonization Association could do this work just as effectively. A permanent
body of the League of Nations, with a definite budget and the backing of gov-
ernments, would be able to achieve more, Oungre believed. It would have more
authority in its intergovernmental negotiations, and could give a clearer direc-
tion. The fact that suggestions like these were being discussed strongly indicated
that many were now contemplating whether the High Commission was worth
the trouble, or indeed whether McDonald was in fact the best person for the job.

In the meantime, funding was still critical and dominated refugee efforts.
No plans could proceed without money behind them, and in all likelihood the
money would not be found. McDonald was therefore less active in the funding
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efforts during the second half of 1934. Direct appeals for public donations were
tried and trusted methods, but with diminishing returns. A new approach was
taken, with direct discussions between leaders of the aid organizations and
financiers and philanthropists to consider the ways in which contributions could
be made as investments to realize a return. A loan scheme was one strategy, as
was a system of long-term interest bearing debentures, although they would not
accrue for possibly a couple of generations: “Though [the investor] could not
himself get his money back so the plans went, ‘his grandson might have some-
thing’® For each supporter of these schemes, there was also a naysayer decrying
the possibility of putting them into effect. They reached stasis as a result.

New appeals exposed a serious lack of confidence in the High Commission
and its work. McDonald proposed making a broadcast to the British public on
the British Broadcasting Corporation (BBC) to promote new appeals, but Cecil
warned against it unless McDonald had a definite plan to present in order to
demonstrate how public contributions would be used.® The spending of hard-
won funds also exposed the divisions between Jewish and Christian groups.
Jewish groups were quite prepared to ignore the non-Jewish refugees when
it came to spending money raised from Jewish sources. In turn, non-Jewish
groups insisted that any money they raised should be used only for the relief of
non-Jewish refugees.

The refugee finance corporation had stagnated in the United States for want
of sufficient contributions. In Britain, it had simply ceased to be a part of the
plans. There had not been a meeting of the European trustees since they were
selected and no efforts had been made to encourage investors.” By the end of
June 1934, the American supporters of the corporation had decided to continue
independently of the British, in the belief that they would be able to push ahead
more vigorously without them. They anticipated as a consequence that the cor-
poration would soon raise an initial sum of $2.5 million from American sources
alone.® But this caused some misapprehension in Europe about the finances
available in the United States, and mischievous rumours that American funds
were not finding their way to needy European aid organizations started to do
the rounds. The rumours turned eventually on McDonald. He was accused of
raising more than he and the Americans would admit, shaking the confidence of
his European partners in him even more. Louis Oungre, now proving to be quite
troublesome, spread the word that McDonald was ‘sitting on the money of the
corporation’ when he should be putting it to practical use.’

McDonald returned to Europe for the summer of 1934 with a changed atti-
tude towards these kinds of attacks. He was more assertive in his relations with
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Jewish leaders, even combative at times; he was prepared to counterpunch when
the situation required. He answered Oungre with an accusation of his own: that
he had heard other rumours, one of which claimed that, in ‘eight or ten coun-
tries, Oungre was also sitting on a pile of money raised by his organization that
was not being put to productive use.'

McDonald took a similar attitude into discussions about the work of the High
Commission. At his very first meetings in London upon his return, McDonald
made known his intention to reconsider the future of the High Commission,
if he could not work effectively with his partners and with governments. This
seemed to free him from the earlier binds he had found himself in when trying
to manage Jewish demands. He also let his frustrations show more openly. There
was still no progress in his key task of assisting refugees, nor was there anything
to show from his negotiations with governments. His relations with the agencies
upon whose assistance he depended were fraying. McDonald was more suspect
in Britain and Europe now than any time since assuming his post. Mistrust had
also grown between the large British, European and American Jewish organiza-
tions. Although well aware that new money for their work was hard to come by,
the British and Europeans had always expected much more of the Americans,
and so were quite prepared to believe that the Americans were not letting on
about the true size of their financial reserves. Moreover, McDonald had fallen
well short of the main hopes they had placed in him, that as an American he
could persuade his government to do its share of carrying the refugee burden
by lifting its immigration quotas. This, above all, was why the French govern-
ment had placed its confidence in the High Commissioner. But in the summer of
1934, some nine to ten months after he had assumed his post, McDonald could
only tell the British and Europeans that little progress could be expected over
the short term.

The High Commission’s lack of achievements also caused hurtful accusations
from British Jews against McDonald’s deputy, Norman Bentwich. Bentwich had
grown depressed about the difficulties of their work and at the dim prospects
ahead. McDonald also grew depressed about the lack of progress." He confessed
his concerns to Cecil, telling him that he would have to decide the future of the
High Commission in the forthcoming months."” He made the same admission
to Bernard Kahn, the European director of the Joint Distribution Committee,
in Paris a little later. The only option for him now, he told Kahn, was to recom-
mend the ‘liquidation of the High Commission’ unless promising resettlement
schemes were formulated with sufficient funds to back them.” He confided to
Kahn the reasons why he had so little to show: ‘My efforts had not been directly
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concerned with the refugees but rather the somewhat extraneous Jewish mat-
ters ... there were no groups, nor for that matter individuals, to which I could
turn who were wholly interested in the refugees. His job, he admitted, had been
settling Jewish problems rather than the care of the refugees.**

By the end of August 1934, the question about the High Commission’s future
was more or less resolved. The lack of funds made it unlikely that it could con-
tinue beyond the ‘summer or fall’ of 1935, McDonald acknowledged. He was
now looking to his own future, inquiring with his American friends and col-
leagues about suitable appointments in the United States, if he decided to relin-
quish his commission."

Political developments in Europe added to the general gloom. The Nazi purge
from 30 June to 2 July 1934, the ‘Night of the Long Knives, that broke the back
of the SA militia and destroyed the influence of SA leader Ernest R6hm, gave
the impression that the Nazi regime was crumbling, that the Bolsheviks would
soon take control or that Germany itself was on the verge of disintegration.'s
Whichever way the events played out, McDonald foresaw, nothing good could be
expected and the refugee situation could only get worse. Then came the reports
of the attempted Nazi coup against Austrian dictator Dollfuss. Although Dollfuss
was assassinated, the coup failed and the Nazis withdrew. It was nonetheless fur-
ther evidence of the volatile and unpredictable political conditions across Europe,
and the spreading threat of Nazism.

Overseas colonization now seemed the only option for permanently reset-
tling refugees in sufficient numbers to satisfy the Europeans. Unwanted in
Europe, and locked out of North America, the historic destination for Europe’s
unwanted, the potential of South America was a major factor shaping a belief in
the viability of the colonization schemes. But schemes elsewhere were also put
forward as real possibilities for giving the German Jews a new start in life. The
proposals seldom went beyond general concepts, however - for example, placing
refugees on undeveloped agricultural lands - and they did not yet have sufficient
resources behind them. They were all plans for the long term, with no guaran-
tees of success, and therefore offered no immediate solutions. Adjustment and
retraining for the refugees was vital to make the schemes viable. Largely from
the German middle class, the Jewish refugees were poorly prepared for a new life
on the land, and while some retraining efforts were being made in Europe, much
more had to be done.

Most of these resettlement schemes were also overly idealistic and displayed
little sense of the difficulties that they would need to overcome in their imple-
mentation. A report into the various schemes prepared for the High Commission
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by the Jewish refugee resettlement organization HICEM, and its British arm,
Anglo-HICEM - organizations that brought together the emigration and col-
onization experience and expertise of a number of Jewish agencies — described
their sponsors as ‘usually land agents or idealists who are in no way familiar
with the economic laws and hardships of farming’'” There was little optimism
that any of these schemes could be realized. Most promising were the plans for
refugee settlement on agricultural lands in Cyprus, southern France, Kenya,
Syria and other ‘countries surrounding Palestine’ Proposals had also been made
for refugee resettlement in Angola, Colombia, Russia and Tanganyika. In nearly
every case, HICEM found that the cost of settlement was very high, approxi-
mately £500 per family, or at least £5 million ($25 million) to settle 10,000
people. Indirect costs, for schools, places of worship, hospitals and the like, had
not been factored in to the financial arrangements for any of the schemes and
would add substantially to the overall costs. Funding on such a scale could only
be found if the resettlement schemes were organized as business ventures, but
the conditions of agriculture in the depressed international economy, which
adversely affected even experienced farmers in productive regions all over the
world, made it improbable that investors would be found.

The scheme proposed for southern France was the most practical. Land was
cheap, the climate good and social institutions were more established than in
far-oft countries. However, the establishment costs were higher. The establish-
ment of mixed farming on 20-25-acre lots for one family was estimated at £600
to £700, and would be much greater if a house had to be built. The HICEM
report concluded on one factor commonly overlooked in these resettlement
schemes: ‘It is questionable whether there are at the moment a large number of
immigrants willing and able to become farmers. It must not be forgotten that
those whom we should help are brought up as businessmen or professionals
with brains above but bodies below average’'®

Recent experience had demonstrated the genuine difficulties and the pro-
hibitive costs of agricultural resettlement schemes. Bernard Kahn recalled that
Fridtjof Nansen, against Kahn’s advice, had insisted on pursuing refugee land
settlement in Soviet Armenia. The lesson drawn from this was that failure was
certain without ‘elaborate organization’ to follow up and support these schemes
over the long term. The Jewish Colonization Association itself was conscious of
the expense and difficulty of large colonization ambitions. It had successfully
settled 4,000 families with outlays of around $40 million, but that was over a
period of forty years." The refugee resettlement schemes would need to place
many more families, over a much shorter time frame, in new colonies developed
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expressly for them. The risks would be so much greater, and the expenses so
much higher. Moreover, the proposed schemes also overlooked the barriers
of local immigration policies. As promising as the scheme in southern France
appeared, the French government refused to contemplate anything that might
lead to the formation of communities of foreigners. Successful education and
retraining centres were closed down because they were seen as underhand
ways of creating permanent Jewish communities.”” An agricultural resettlement
scheme in Brazil was one of a number of proposals for Jewish colonization in
South America. In May 1934, however, the Brazilian government introduced
new laws that further restricted immigration.” Other South American countries
insisted on tightly controlled immigration that would hamper any resettlement
plans, no matter how well financed they were.

It was evident by the summer of 1934 that few colonization schemes had any
prospect of success. Practical matters aside, they offered no immediate solution
to the refugee problem in Europe. Yet their advocates believed in their poten-
tial. McDonald realized himself that they were unviable after he met with the
Vice-Governor of Tanganyika at the British Colonial Office. There were a few
openings for doctors and dentists in the colony, the Vice-Governor advised, but
‘no opportunities whatsoever for refugee settlers. A community of ‘poor whites’
could not be countenanced; they would be shut out of the workforce, the land
and trades, by the competition of local and imported Indian workers. This also
ruled out other European colonies in East and West Africa. The South African
High Commissioner to Britain also made it clear that his country had to be
ruled out. Jews already numbered more than 4 per cent of South Africa’s white
population, the largest percentage of any country after Poland and Hungary. It
followed that South Africa could not accept McDonald’s belated invitation to
join the Governing Body.*?

Colonization possibilities evaporated even before plans for them could be
thoroughly devised. The opportunities for assisting refugees to re-establish their
lives in new countries were extremely limited therefore. This was a stark real-
ization for those who had put their faith and efforts into overseas colonization
as a solution to Europe’s refugee woes. A common feature of these schemes was
their remoteness. They were usually far from Europe, in undeveloped regions;
even plans within Europe centred on settlement in remote localities and areas
in need of development. The refugees were best dealt with it seemed by getting
them out of sight. Moreover, the colonization schemes were a distraction from
the unavoidable truth that the only solution was the permanent settlement of the
refugees in the European countries they had already settled in.”
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By the time a special committee on emigration opportunities met in London
on 19 July 1934, McDonald found himself in the embarrassing position of hav-
ing to remove from the agenda all discussion on group and agricultural settle-
ment in France, Angola, Portuguese East Africa, Kenya, Tanganyika, South West
Africa, the Belgian Congo, Mexico, Russia and Palestine. This left the agenda
bare. The development of new industries in derelict areas of England and
Czechoslovakia for the purpose of placing German refugees was one suggestion
that filled the void. There was also some discussion on agricultural and indus-
trial possibilities in Yugoslavia.

South America was still considered the most viable place for large-scale
resettlement. It was therefore resolved that McDonald should now open negoti-
ations on settlement opportunities in Brazil and Argentina, and other countries
in Latin American.?* McDonald noted in his diary afterwards what a discour-
aging meeting this was, but concluded, with as much optimism as he could mus-
ter, that ‘at the end ... something tangible did emerge’*

With so much attention on the Jewish refugees, non-Jewish refugees were
left to languish with no aid at all. Norman Bentwich quietly raised their plight
with Jewish leaders in London, when discussing the poor progress of the refugee
finance corporation. The view among the British agencies was that they would
be helped only if non-Jews put up their money. Organizations such as the Save
the Children Fund, the International Migration Service and the International
Federation of Trades Union, participated in the Advisory Council but were mar-
ginalized by the dominant Jewish organizations. With the exception of Walter
Schevenels of the International Federation of Trades Union, they rarely fea-
ture in the minutes of the Advisory Council or Permanent Committee of the
Governing Body. The non-Jewish refugees — democrats, socialists, pacifists,
liberal professors, journalists, Catholic priests and Protestant pastors, all polit-
ical refugees in flight from Nazi oppression — were in an even more precarious
situation than the Jewish refugees. Most had fled Germany without an entry
permit for their country of refuge, and sometimes without a German passport.
Many were forced to live and work illegally and spent their exile hiding from
the police. They faced being forced to return to Germany if they were appre-
hended. For McDonald, they had a special claim to asylum. It was contrary to
the principle of asylum, he insisted, that they should be driven from refuge sim-
ply because their papers were not in order. ‘Hundreds of them) he reported to the
Governing Body at its November 1934 meeting, ‘are now reduced to penury in
France, Czechoslovakia, the Saar, Switzerland and elsewhere’ The only solution
was for their countries of refuge to relax restrictions on their right of residence
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and work. ‘Otherwise, thousands of the refugees must become utterly hopeless
through perpetual insecurity’?

As more people became aware of McDonald’s quiet musings to Cecil and
Bernard Kahn about winding up the High Commission, McDonald received
welcome encouragement. It was not so much personal support for his work,
however, as much as regret that the one international organization closely
engaged in Jewish affairs might be lost.

Ever supportive, Felix Warburg commended his achievements in the face of
overwhelming obstacles. ‘You have unselfishly thrown yourself into the situation
at a most difficult time and under the most impossible circumstances, Warburg
wrote. “The very fact that for the first time in history the attitude of governments
has changed sufficiently so that they have taken an interest and part in the well-
being of refugees ... is an innovation for which we have to be grateful ... You
have done remarkably well and have been an outstanding figure in illustrating
that Christian idealism is not dead’® Bernard Kahn, however, focused on the
ramifications should the High Commission fold. It would be a grave mistake
to liquidate it, he told McDonald; it would be misunderstood and would dis-
courage contributors. Kahn therefore offered to extend the Joint Distribution
Committee’s contributions to the High Commission, and he to assist in rearran-
ging McDonald’s office in such a way that he could spend more time in the
United States.”®

Opinion among British Jews, who had never truly accepted McDonald as
High Commissioner, was divided. For some, potential liquidation restored a
sense of purpose. When McDonald turned to the British Board of Deputies for a
show of firm support, its president, Sir Osmond d’Avigdor-Goldsmid, expressed
his great interest in McDonald and his work and assured him that funds would
be available to him through 1935.* On the other hand, Chaim Weizmann cynic-
ally dismissed McDonald’s suggestion of a ‘joint effort’ to raise funds for immi-
gration to Palestine because ‘he didn’t believe in being married to a corpse’™®

In August 1934, McDonald and Bentwich returned to the High Commission’s
Lausanne office to work with their staff, Wurfbain and May, on a report of its
activities over the previous year for the forthcoming League of Nations Assembly.
McDonald’s first duty in Geneva was to advise Secretary General Avenol of his
progress and to confirm his draft report. Avenol’s stance on the autonomy of the
High Commission was unchanged; the League and the Secretariat, would there-
fore resist any moves to strengthen the High Commission politically. Moreover,
Avenol told McDonald, the League could not possibly contribute financially
or otherwise to the High Commission’s work. This affirmed what McDonald



110 The League of Nations and the Refugees from Nazi Germany

already knew, but he was pleased to hear it again. One criticism of his work
among Americans, for whom the workings of the League of Nations were quite
a mystery, was that he had not sufficiently developed the High Commission’s
relationship with it. Here was Avenol’s confirmation that the League would still
leave it to fend for itself and would be prepared to let it sink if it could not make
its own way.

Yet, Avenol continued to set the bounds of what the High Commission
could do. He had no concerns over some issues: on the relocation of the High
Commission’s office from Lausanne to London; on the High Commission’s rela-
tions with Germany or on a statement of the League Assembly about the work
of the High Commission. But he was adamant about issues that were at the heart
of the High Commissions problems. It was futile for McDonald to seek funds
from individual governments, Avenol told him, and it would create bad feelings
if he used the Assembly to try to secure funds from the League or to seek a reso-
lution on German policies towards the Jews. As far as Avenol was concerned, the
worst of the crisis was over; attitudes towards the Jews in Germany, he believed,
were calming down and anti-Semitism was dying down in other countries. Still,
Avenol admitted, with no hint of his self-contradiction, that anti-Semitism
was now so general that it was best for the League to continue keep the High
Commission at arm’s length in order to avoid a backlash.*

The press in Geneva was keen to hear McDonald’s thoughts on Germany and
the situation of the refugees. He faced a surprisingly large contingent of some
forty-five journalists, who put awkward questions to him that he could not yet
directly answer, about such matters as refugee passports, the High Commission’s
relations with Germany, where the refugees might go and whether the Jews had
contributed as much as they ought to refugee relief. To this question, he replied
that it was not appropriate for him to comment, but added sardonically that they
‘had done infinitely more than the Christians’*

With so many representatives of the world’s governments in Geneva at one
time, it was imperative that McDonald use the time to consult with the foreign
ministers of the governments represented on his Governing Body. McDonald
wanted to find one government that might be prepared to take a lead and offer
funding to the High Commission or make a commitment to admit more refu-
gees. This required sensitivity as well as daring. He suggested that small changes
to their restrictive policies would make a big difference to the conditions of the
refugees. He requested small contributions to the High Commission’s budget,
against Avenol’s advice, as even small contributions would ensure it could con-
tinue its work. He also appealed to national chauvinism by suggesting that other
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countries would quickly follow the leadership of one, if one were bold enough
to take the lead.

This then was another change in McDonald’s approach. He no longer
appealed simply to humanitarian concern for the refugees; this had never been
truly effective. He now appealed more overtly to national interests. He explained
to French Foreign Ministry officials that France was diminished in the eyes of
people abroad for the way it regarded its refugees: democrats, liberal and labour
groups looked upon France with dismay because its policies were so inimical to
their well-being. France’s interests, he added, were not served by succumbing
to anti-Semitism. It must instead show leadership, by seeing the refugees as an
asset and not a burden. Others would follow when France had shown the way.**

There was no moving entrenched positions, however. Although they gave
their support to a statement of the Assembly acknowledging the work of the
High Commission, governments were nevertheless not prepared to amend their
immigration policies. Dutch foreign minister, Joncker de Graeft, who had initi-
ated the resolution of the 1933 Assembly to establish the High Commission,
moved the statement of support in the 1934 Assembly while representing a
government that had effectively closed its borders and had begun expelling for-
eign workers. He had already told McDonald, furthermore, that it was impos-
sible for the Dutch government to make a financial contribution to the High
Commission; its support would be expressed in the Assembly instead. Other
governments held similar positions. McDonald confessed his anxiety for the
future of the High Commission to British undersecretary for foreign affairs,
Anthony Eden, and expressed his desire to ‘have some indication of continued
government support and some direct governmental contributions” from Britain.
Eden assured him that he would gladly support the Dutch initiative in request-
ing a statement from the Assembly, but he would need to check with the British
Treasury whether a contribution was possible. He shortly advised McDonald that
it would not be possible, as the parliament would need to pass a bill to author-
ize it.** The Canadian prime minister, Richard Bennett, and Czechoslovakian
foreign minister, Edvard Benes, also backed the statement. But they were also
reluctant to go further. Both were altogether disillusioned at the standing of the
League of Nations in international affairs. Bennett criticized the ‘low state to
which the Assembly had fallen, with political bickering more evident than at any
other time, but amused McDonald on parting by telling him that it was a ‘a relief
to see your fine sensitive face in these surroundings’* Bene$ was of the view that
the League had entered a second era, when it was no longer trying to build a new
world but ‘attempting to save this one’ by erecting ‘barriers against catastrophe’*
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The statement in support of the High Commission was heard and passed in
the Second Committee of the Assembly. It was made in the context of a review
of the Second Committee’s resolution of the previous year to create the High
Commission, having received McDonald’s report into its work over the past
twelve months. The statement was made as an affirmation of the Committee’s
original decision; it expressed the Committtee’s appreciation of McDonald’s work
and gave him its continued support. Canadian Prime Minister Bennett closed the
discussion with a further statement of the value the Assembly placed in the High
Commission and ‘the great importance it attached to [the refugee] problem’”

The expression of support, however, could not make up for the lack of practical
assistance from these same governments. Shortly after it was voted, McDonald
received a long letter from Orme Sargent of the British Foreign Office refusing
McDonald’s request for a contribution of £2,000 towards the High Commission’s
budget of £12,000 for 1935. Sargent’s explanation gave the reasons why all gov-
ernments, and not just his, preferred to keep the High Commission at arm’s
length. The British government could not be associated with the administration
of the High Commission in any form, as it had been created as an entity funded
by private sources and separate from the government. “‘We have consistently held
the view’, Sargent wrote of the British government’s position, ‘that the cost of
relief and settlement ... should be met entirely from voluntary sources and that
no expenses should fall on public funds’ Sargent concluded in a manner that had
become routine for all governments. “The recent words of the British Delegate
on the Second Committee ... will I hope have shown we are fully alive both to
the important results that you have achieved and the difficulties which are still
ahead of you’?®

The statement approved by the Second Committee constituted international
recognition of the importance of the High Commission, all the same, and
McDonald could capitalize on it. He immediately used the publicity it brought
to reinvigorate his mission by granting a long interview to the New York Times
about the progress of his work. It was an opportunity to impress upon the
newspaper’s American readers the significance of the refugee problem, and by
referring to the plight of the Christian refugees, he again appealed to American
Christian sensitivities. The Christian refugees were most difficult aspect of the
problem, he told his interviewer; there was ‘nothing like the organized Jewish
charities” for them, and there was no part of the world that was open to them.
Their personal tragedies were too easily forgotten.”

McDonald’s efforts on behalf of refugees were recognized twice more during
1934. On 7 September, as he was engaged in Geneva, the American newspaper
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The Jewish Advocate published the results of a survey conducted by the Anglo-
Jewish press that unanimously voted McDonald the ‘greatest Christian friend of
Jewry’. It cited his ‘heroic efforts to prevail on the nations of the world to open
their doors to the victims of the Nazi terror; his efforts to remind the ‘Christian
world’ of its ‘responsibility to the Jewish refugees from Naziland’ and his efforts
to impress upon ‘the world ... the fact that Palestine offered the major hope to
the reorientation of the Jewish exiles.*® Then, in November, he was awarded the
1934 American Hebrew Medal. The citation noted that ‘with splendid devotion,
he had ‘fulfilled the large task” assigned to him, and that his ‘vigilant and stead-
fast activity’ had given a ‘new lease on life’ to tens of thousands of Christian and
Jewish refugees. ‘Humanitarian in the best sense, he has improved ‘Christian-
Jewish relations wherever his voice has been heard’*!

%%

In October 1934, the High Commission relocated its office from Lausanne to
London. It established itself at Sentinel House, 61 Southampton Row, a brisk
walk from the Central British Fund and other Jewish agencies in Woburn
House. McDonald took up rooms in the Russell Hotel, a block or two from
Woburn House.

It was a sensible and logical move, but only possible once Avenol had told
McDonald that the location of his office was no longer of concern to him.
McDonald and Bentwich both spent most of their time and energies in London
and Paris, and Robert Cecil continued as permanent chair of the Governing Body
on condition that he did not have to travel regularly to the Continent. Here prepa-
rations began for the next sessions of the Advisory Council and Governing Body,
due in late October and early November.** In all, thirty private organizations had
now been invited to attend the Advisory Council. It had grown with the addition,
among other groups and societies, of a service for academic refugees attached
to the High Commission, and national refugee committees of Czechoslovakia
and the Netherlands. Some delegates represented more than one organization.
Jacques Helbronner, vice president of the Central Jewish Consistory of France
and the new French representative on the Governing Body, also represented the
Alliance Israélite Universelle, the French National Committee of which he was an
executive member as well as the Central Consistory. He could assert tremendous
influence over discussions, advocating fiercely his hostility to the Jewish refugees
in France because of the disquiet they brought to the good relations between the
French and French Jews and the anti-Semitism that their presence nurtured.*

McDonald had little to report beyond the hardening of governmental atti-

tudes. One positive detail he could give, however, was that about half of the
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refugees who had left Germany since 1933 had settled abroad. Emigration
overseas had increased slowly and the movement of refugees within Europe
was slowly decreasing.** This proved nothing other than the fact that refugees
remained in limbo wherever the found themselves.

Coming into the Advisory Council, McDonald was keenly aware that some
of those present — not only the Frenchmen Helbronner and Oungre, but also
others he had less to do with during the regular course of his work such as
Mme Schmolkova from Poland and Walter Schevenels of the Trades Union
International - had openly criticized his failure to make an impact on the num-
ber and circumstances of the refugees. With this in mind, he concluded his
report with the declaration that it would be impossible for him to continue as
High Commissioner if he remained the figure of criticism for what, after all,
was a larger, national and international failure to come to the aid of refugees.
He therefore announced that in the next few days he would make a recommen-
dation to the Governing Body that the High Commission be wound up by 1
November 1935, or ‘a little later} and that he would stand down. He also revealed
that he had already made his intentions known to the heads of the principle
Jewish organizations, and at their insistence he would seek at the next session of
the League of Nations Assembly in September 1935 to put forward the question
of the future arrangements of the High Commission with a view to the League
taking over its functions.*

The sudden announcement surprised those present and a number of them
rose to express their support. Schevenels stood first. The League had created the
High Commission under the pressure of German opposition, he said; this was
why it could not itself assume the role of organizing direct refugee assistance,
as the International Labour Conference had called for in its 1933 resolution.
Schevenels, could only deplore the shortcomings of governments while the pri-
vate organizations and the High Commission had made every effort they could.
Helbronner followed, acknowledging McDonald’s efforts and his ‘generosity of
heart. The High Commission’s failures were not because of the man or the insti-
tution, he insisted.

This good will did not last long, however. The question of work permits
for refugees brought both the Advisory Council and the Governing Body to a
stalemate. Helbronner resisted any attempts to force concessions from France,
and restated the French view, which had been put many times over, that it had
done more for refugees than any other country. He now went further, defend-
ing France from criticisms he felt were implied in McDonald’s reports. The
French government continued to issue work and residence permits despite the
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economic crisis, he declared. The ‘Catholic Church in France held the hand of
the persecuted Jews from Germany, and for the first time in the Church’s history,
the Archbishop of Paris, Jean Verdier, ordered public prayers in every church for
the persecuted Jews.*

Helbronner’s persistent defence of France’s record alone rendered both the
Advisory Council and the Governing Body ineffective. He interjected when-
ever the discussion turned to ways in which refugees could be absorbed into
the economic life of the countries where they were now found. One motion,
moved by Edith Pye of the Society of Friends and approved by the Advisory
Council, and then put to the Governing Body, called for an organized system
of retraining and ‘readaptation’ to make refugees employable in their countries
of settlement. Helbronner jumped in to proclaim that ‘the High Commission
was specifically created to resettle the refugees in other countries) so that those
bordering Germany were not left to bear the burden alone. ‘France has done
more than its duty, he repeated again, ‘and more than any other country. It is
impossible for it to absorb any more of the refugees who remain in its territory’
He further insisted that any initiative for ‘professional readaptation’ could only
delay their emigration, and should therefore only serve to improve the refugees’
suitability for emigration to another country.* Helbronner was not alone in stif-
ling the debate on the question of work permits for refugees; he was merely the
most vocal.

The Governing Body, in truth, had ceased to have any real purpose. National
representatives were seldom inclined to take its resolutions back to their gov-
ernments to try to influence policy. Their role was in fact the opposite, to bend
the High Commission to the will of their governments. It was noted again in
the November 1934 Governing Body that the recommendation of a passport
for refugees under the 1927 League of Nations Convention on Transit and
Communications, accepted at the first meeting of the Governing Body, had
not been adopted. To the contrary, the return of refugees without passports to
Germany was becoming common practice as governments made greater efforts
to rid themselves of unwanted and clandestine foreigners.*’

Reflecting privately, McDonald recalled the ‘depressing debate’ of the open-
ing session of 1 November 1934. Helbronner proved a most disruptive force,
objecting even to procedural matters, insisting at one stage that a resolution be
written in French rather than in English, as McDonald had drafted it.** Cecil had
had enough, and told McDonald in confidence that he was wasting his time and
that he would advise the British government to name someone to replace him.*
Voicing his frustrations, Cecil jumped in at one point during proceedings to say



116 The League of Nations and the Refugees from Nazi Germany

that the debate was going nowhere, that the meetings were ‘perfectly useless,
and their governments could share their views just as well by other diplomatic
means.”

Moreover, each representative felt slighted by even general motions if
they believed that they implied any criticism of their government’s policies.
Helbronner believed that France was the target of a motion of the Advisory
Council that called for governments to lift restrictions on work permits and
to absorb refugees into the economic life of their countries. Cecil noted
pithily that no country was mentioned and that he could just as well feel
aggrieved at an implied criticism of British policy. Nevertheless, an alterna-
tive wording was agreed upon to satisfy Helbronner, with the phrase ‘without
expressing any opinion’ included.” The Swiss delegate, Rothmund, was then
dissatisfied, and interjected to ask McDonald directly what countries he had
in mind when the resolution plainly started that some were not doing their
duty.** Was the resolution aimed at the Swiss practice of return? he asked.”
McDonald answered meekly that he was in no position to criticize any gov-
ernment’s policies.*®

Despite fraying tempers, McDonald could note later that, at the end of the
day, the Governing Body ‘adjourned in an atmosphere of good will; helped by
a timely break for tea.”” Cecil said no more about asking the British govern-
ment to replace him. The strains, however, were real. Norman Bentwich, who
worked with governments and private organizations throughout on technical
and procedural matters, had taken a leave of absence to return temporarily to his
academic post at the Hebrew University in Jerusalem. McDonald’s own imme-
diate future was in doubt.’® He had declared his intention to wind up the High
Commission during 1935, but the ineffectiveness of the Governing Body, and
failures to persuade governments to support his work financially, could only
make him doubt the feasibility of continuing for another year.
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McDonald pressed on because he felt he must; there was so much yet to be done.
Yet things had changed. McDonald was much less visible in fundraising; some-
times he was pushed into the background and asked not to speak, or he was
simply overlooked. At a fundraising luncheon at the Savoy Hotel in London,
speakers on the needs of the refugees included Jan Smutts of South Africa and
the hostess, Lady Nancy Astor. Although McDonald was seated at the head
table, neither he nor the work of the High Commission was acknowledged.
On another occasion, Robert Cecil recommended that he not participate in a
Church of England appeal that McDonald had organized with the Archbishop of
Canterbury, suggesting that he would serve the efforts in England better through
advice and help, and not by assuming a leading or coordinating role.'

By late 1934, another issue was emerging that would have significant ram-
ifications for the High Commission and the refugees. The German Saarland,
a small industrial region on the frontier between France and Germany, had
been under the authority of a League of Nations Commission since the Treaty
of Versailles, pending a plebiscite on its future arrangements — restitution to
Germany or incorporation into France - scheduled for 15 January 1935. As the
date approached, a large majority vote for restitution to Germany seemed likely.
The fate of anti-Nazi political refugees who had gone to the Saarland was in the
balance. McDonald believed that they would fall under his High Commission’s
mandate as refugees from Germany. The League of Nations expressed no opin-
ion on the arrangements it intended to make for these new refugees, in order
not to complicate negotiations between the Saar Commission and the German
government on guarantees of security after the plebiscite.

McDonald factored the new refugees from the Saarland into the High
Commission’s plans all the same. At the start of 1934, it was estimated that there

were around 1,500 German refugees in the Saar, the majority of them non-Jewish
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political refugees.? Their numbers grew as the Saar became a haven for German
communists and others persecuted by the Nazis for political reasons, who could
not obtain visas to go to another country. It had also become a place to which
illegal refugees expelled from France could go. Should the vote return the Saar
to Germany as expected, they would no doubt flee again rather than choose
to live under Nazism. The French Foreign Ministry anticipated receiving about
40,000 of them, and declared that they would be treated as French men and
women since they would have voted for incorporation into France. They would
be exempted from the restrictions on refugees and be allowed to settle perman-
ently. There was the question, however, of those who were not among the ones
France intended to accept.’

For the moment the High Commission could only observe the situation. In
the meantime, McDonald returned once more to his unresolved negotiations
with the German government on the question of remittances of refugee assets
abroad. The German Foreign Ministry might well have thought that they had
resolved all the issues McDonald had raised. However, on the insistence of the
British and American embassies in Berlin that the German government ‘listen’
to McDonald’s ‘plea on behalf of German Jewish refugees, a new opening for
negotiations had been made.*

One agreement had been reached with German Foreign Ministry. German
consuls would provide written advice when a passport would not be reissued.
This, at least, would provide evidence to a foreign government that a refugee
was without the diplomatic protection of the German government. The transfer
of capital from Germany, on the other hand, was a matter on which the regime
was unwilling to compromise. The remittances of all income from Germany to
Germans abroad had stopped altogether during 1934. Nevertheless, McDonald
insisted throughout that the impact this had on the refugees and the economies
of states to which they had fled was a matter of international concern, and that
negotiations on remittances must continue.’

Since McDonald’s brief visit to Berlin in August 1934, Norman Bentwich had
pursued fruitlessly the question of passports and documents of identity through
correspondence with Paul Barandon of the legal section of the German Foreign
Ministry. McDonald reported after his return, to his Governing Body and later
to President Roosevelt, that he expected no compromise from the Germans. So
what then did he hope to achieve by returning to Berlin? One reason was pro-
cedural. The Foreign Ministry had insisted that the transfer of German capital
was a matter for the Reichsbank and the Treasury. Since the Reichsbank presi-
dent, Haljmar Schacht, was unwilling to meet with him, in McDonald’s mind
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these negotiations were still incomplete. Another reason was to ascertain who
was now prepared to meet with him. He could then resolve this outstanding part
of his mandate before winding up the High Commission.

The American embassy in Berlin made the arrangements for McDonald’s
interviews, but on his arrival no German official was prepared to see him. The
vice president of the Reichsbank, Friedrich Dreyse, told the embassy that he
was unavailable for three days, and Barandon advised that there was no point in
his meeting McDonald since all the issues previously raised between the High
Commission and the Foreign Ministry had been resolved. Only on the insist-
ence of the American embassy, with a touch of added pressure, did Barandon
make time to see McDonald, and Dreyse changed his schedule to meet him.®

Both the Reichsbank and the Foreign Ministry maintained that economic
necessity was the reason for prohibiting foreign remittances, and no conces-
sions would be considered. The position of its president, Schacht, was straight-
forward enough. No more money should leave Germany than entered it.” What
was for the Reichsbank a question of foreign exchange, was for McDonald a
matter for the well-being of the refugees. British Jews were increasingly uneasy
at the arrival of German Jewish businessmen and others with barely ten
Reichsmarks in their pockets. By their estimates, the British agencies would
have to make up an extra £9,000 each month for the welfare and upkeep of the
Jewish refugees whom they sponsored.® McDonald therefore not only appealed
to German national interests, as he had done in his previous discussions. That
was a familiar argument in Berlin. He now added that exceptions to the regula-
tions on foreign remittances would not only improve the conditions of the refu-
gees, but Germany would benefit from the broader perspective of its national
policy. But since he was making no progress on his own terms, he raised a
financial proposal prepared by Jewish organizations in Britain and Germany
and submitted already to the German Foreign Ministry through German
Jewish representatives. The plan envisaged offsetting foreign remittances with
refugee aid funds. The money in blocked accounts could go towards a special
assistance fund for Jews in Germany. Jewish agencies abroad, meanwhile, such
as the Central British Fund, could then pay out as much as the value of this spe-
cial assistance fund to refugees in lieu of their remittances from Germany. Their
remittances, in other words, would be paid abroad from relief funds that would
have been expended otherwise in Germany. The special assistance fund would
in turn finance their relief efforts within Germany. No money would leave
Germany; it was a simple matter of rearranging the direction of funds, for the
benefit of Jews inside Germany, refugees abroad and the German economy. His
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hosts acknowledged that the brief outline of the idea seemed practical enough,
but Dreyse, a foreign exchange specialist himself, Barandon and others in the
Foreign Ministry were unaware of this proposal and to whom it had been made.
They would therefore not comment.’

This seemed to suggest some room to negotiate, McDonald believed, if the
German regime was interested in a more organized Jewish emigration. But he
could not even guess how the regime would respond to a Jewish proposal on
German financial arrangements. The commercial arrangements entered into
in the Haavara agreement in 1933, to facilitate the emigration of German
Jews directly to Palestine, legitimized direct negotiations between Jews and
the German authorities for their mutual benefit. The objective of the Ha'avara
was to resettle Jews without a future in Germany; the new financial proposal
McDonald outlined, on the other hand, was a desperate effort to do something
for the well-being of Jewish refugees elsewhere. The very fact that Jewish organi-
zations were prepared to agree to terms and to cooperate, however indirectly,
with the Nazi regime on its anti-Semitic policies, illustrates the dearth of options
and the desperate conditions of the refugees outside Germany. Nothing came of
the proposal, however.

By the end of these discussions, McDonald had no doubts that nothing could
be achieved by talking to the Germans. The officials he met all wanted to avoid
responsibilities, and they would prefer not be talking to him. McDonald therefore
left Berlin knowing that there was nothing to look forward to from the Reichsbank,
and that very little if anything would come from the Foreign Ministry.'

Meanwhile, both France and the United States were moving to tighten even fur-
ther their already restrictive immigration policies. The French government pro-
posed a new law to further restrict work permits for new immigrants; they would
also not renew work permits for immigrants who had arrived in the previous two
years."! The numbers of new immigrants to the United States was also likely to be
cut back further, with proposals for quotas to be reduced by 40 per cent. Although
the German quota was for some 15,000 immigrants per year, the Immigration
Commissioner believed this number was more than the United States could ‘safely’
admit. The reasons were depressingly similar to those in Europe when the refusal to
allow refugees permanent settlement was justified: the problems of absorbing new
immigrants and refugees in the current economic conditions, their tendency to
congregate in the cities together with the difficulty of dispersing them in the coun-
tryside and the increase of anti-Semitism that accompanied Jewish immigration.
Indeed, when McDonald visited Washington in December 1934 he found many
Jewish intellectuals were complaining about the rise of anti-Semitism in America.'?
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The other depressing problem for McDonald, that of money to finance the
High Commission, soon involved President Roosevelt and the senior levels of
the State Department. Invited to dine at the White House on the evening of 17
December 1934 to report on events in Europe and his recent visit to Germany,
McDonald described the problems his High Commission faced and expressed his
wish that the United States make a contribution to its budget for 1935."* A con-
tribution from the United States government, even a symbolic one, McDonald
assured Roosevelt, would encourage other governments to contribute; they had
made promises but no contributions, and would not do so until one or other
of the great powers took the lead. Great Britain, France and Italy would readily
follow the American lead, he was sure, and then more would follow. Persuaded,
Roosevelt agreed to an American contribution of $10,000." Afterwards, how-
ever, the State Department told McDonald that a contribution would not be as
‘easy as the President seems to think''> Roosevelt’s promise was quickly mired
in the State Department’s budget process. On 3 January 1935, after more than
one inquiry about the contribution’s progress, McDonald learned that no special
appropriation could be made and that the State Department would need to draft
a special bill for Congress. Even if that were done, it would be of no help. The
preparation of the bill and the lengthy budget process would go well into 1935,
while the High Commission approached liquidation.'

The announcement that McDonald was intending to wind up the High
Commission’s affairs by the end of 1935 raised the question of what could be
done for the refugees afterwards. It was a question that troubled McDonald as
he planned to leave his post; he could move on but the refugees would remain.
He asked the Governing Body in November for its opinions on the High
Commission forging closer ties with the League of Nations and the continuation
of its refugee services in another form. The High Commission’s future was not
a matter that they were prepared to discuss at the time, however, as they had no
instructions from their governments.

McDonald was sure that he could expect no support from the League of
Nations. Politics and diplomacy, he was well aware, would see that the welfare of
the refugees was put to one side. Still, he canvased opinions, as much to confirm
his views as to gain reassurance at the rightness of his own decision to stand
down. When visiting Rome, he sought the advice of the British Ambassador, Sir
Eric Drummond, former Secretary General of the League. Drummond agreed
that there was little chance of the High Commission being brought into the
League, since the League’s intention was to ‘slough oft as rapidly as possible’
its extraneous activities."” In Geneva, the American observer of the League of
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Nations, Arthur Sweetser, was no more reassuring. He was definite that the High
Commission could not ‘return’ to the League because of the League’s hope that
Germany would return to its folds."®

By its actions, the League demonstrated its lack of faith in the High
Commission. The Saar plebiscite of 15 January 1935 saw a massive majority of
91 per cent vote for restitution to Germany. The League had yet to announce
arrangements for the refugees from the Saar, and McDonald, who was in Geneva
to discuss these arrangements, had not yet been able to agree on a policy with
his Governing Body should the High Commission be called upon to assist.
He did, however, plead with the Secretariat for adequate resources if the High
Commission was called upon to assist the Saar refugees, and suggested a quota
to disperse the refugees across a number of countries. The League Council,
McDonald learned, was only ‘casually’ interested in the humanitarian problem
that would arise from the Saar and wanted the issue out of way. There would
be between 5,000 and 10,000 refugees from the Saar who would in a short time
overwhelm refugee committees, McDonald wrote to Cecil; the Council could
not dodge its responsibility."”

The High Commission would have no role to play, however. The Saar refugees
would not fall under its mandate, since, in the view of the League, its interven-
tion might unnecessarily complicate the work of the Saar Commission in secur-
ing guarantees for those Saarlanders who had voted against return to Germany.*’
The League’s position, finally, was that the Council would study the Saar prob-
lem in its May 1935 sessions, but no new funding would be voted on before
the September Assembly. In the meantime France would assume responsibility
for the Saar refugees, with the expectation that the League would reimburse its
costs.”! A French memorandum noted specifically that it would not be ‘efficient’
for the High Commission to assume responsibility for the Saar refugees as it was
detached from the League.”> McDonald set out another explanation in a memo-
randum to his Advisory Council: ‘Germany had never liked the setting up of an
institution specifically for the purpose of dealing with German refugees and my
activities had not endeared me to the Reich and [Nazi] Party authorities.*

The worst expectations of a surge in the numbers of German refugees were
not realized, however. France had anticipated about 40,000 refugees from the
Saar, but the actual number was less than 15,000.>* Despite earlier assurances,
France did not open its border to them. By 25 January 1935, French officials
in Forbach, on the Lorraine frontier with the German Saarland, reported that
only about 3,000 refugees had crossed the border despite the French consulate
in Saarbrucken having issued some 8,000 visas.* Just over 4,000 were admitted
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by early February. By late February, the number of Saar refugees admitted into
France was just under 5,000, although over 11,000 had sought entry. In other
words, more than half were turned back.?

The League’s tardy response to the Saar plebiscite was not only final evidence
that the League had no confidence in the High Commission for the Refugees
from Germany. Its response to the Saar plebiscite also demonstrated a profound
failure of the League itself, since it could not acknowledge its international
responsibility for these new refugees, nor express confidence in its own institu-
tions. The High Commission was not asked to take on the responsibility for the
refugees from the Saar, and the League’s own agency, the Nansen International
Office, was also overlooked. Instead, the League accepted the assistance of the
French government, on credit, rather than intervene itself. Secretary General
Avenol would still do nothing that might enflame Germany and distanced the
League Secretariat from the Saar Plebiscite and its consequences.””

These circumstances pointed directly to problems that would follow the
liquidation of the High Commission. It functioned badly and would not be
missed, but the refugee problem would remain, and greater problems in the
future seemed very real. There was no one body that could assume responsi-
bility and display an international humanitarian commitment. Humanitarian
action of any kind depended on the League deciding, under the pressures of
the moment, how to respond; this would mean making compromises for pol-
itical reasons. The Nansen Office, created in 1930, had a mandate for a dis-
tinct class of refugee and was itself scheduled for liquidation by the end of
1938. The mandate and structure of McDonald’s High Commission quite
simply prevented it from carrying out the important responsibilities that the
Assembly recognized when it voted to create it. The Nansen Office and the
High Commission for the Refugees from Germany shared fundamental flaws
in their structures and operations, and both were unloved by the League, gov-
ernments and non-governmental organizations concerned with the welfare of
all refugees.

For Robert Cecil, regarded as father of the League of Nations for his work on
its Covenant at the Paris Peace Conference, the timidity the Council had shown
in hesitating to make a definite decision on the administration of the Saar refu-
gees undermined the authority of the League. He was convinced from this point
forward that the High Commission for the refugees could ‘do some good’ only if
it became a ‘regular League Commission, with the diplomatic authority and the
resources that the League could provide. But in order to do this, the League had
to recapture its former strength.
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Cecil had grown noticeably depressed about the High Commission during
January 1935. He was particularly scathing about the members of its Governing
Body, who had so little influence on their governments.?® His sombre mood
came through in his correspondence with Sir John Simon, the British foreign
secretary. The autonomy of the Governing Body and its personnel rendered it
‘useless, he wrote to Simon in one of his reports as the British representative.
He recommended that the British government support closer ties between the
League of Nations and the High Commission since only that could improve the
High Commission’s ability to address the refugee problem. Till now, however,
talk of the League assuming greater responsibility for a problem of Germany’s
making was highly sensitive and best avoided. Simon replied that the British
government could not support closer ties between the High Commission and
the League because it ‘would irritate Germany’ and ‘might seem to imply that
the government was prepared to assume a financial obligation’ towards the
refugees. To this Cecil replied that there was no longer anything to gain from
‘courting Germany’ or waiting for its cooperation; the refugees were not a prob-
lem of charity but were above all a political problem, something that had been
quietly ignored since the High Commission’s creation. He declared his intention
of making a statement to the House of Lords along these lines.”

McDonald found Cecil invaluable as chair of the Governing Body because of
his experience in international politics and skill in diplomacy. The Governing
Body might easily have broken down into petty bickering without him.
McDonald frequently turned to Cecil for advice on how he should deal with
issues and sought his opinion on the wording of sensitive matters in his for-
mal statements. Cecil, however, was not active in the promotion of the High
Commission to the public and took no part in funding appeals. He also had little
to do with the British government on matters that came out of the Governing
Body meetings. However, his passion for the role of the League of Nations in
international affairs was undiminished. He was there at its birth in 1919, and
remained fiercely supportive of it as a means of preserving peace. It was this
idea that he promoted publicly during 1934. He took up the question of the
future status of the High Commission because it provided an opportunity for the
League to rekindle its purpose and salvage its past strengths.

His concern for the state of international affairs and the weakening of the
League of Nations within a difficult world scene also spurred his advocacy for
the cause of disarmament. His speeches and broadcasts stressed the need for the
League to stand up for peace in the face of the many threats the world encoun-
tered. The League of Nations, he argued, must be strengthened, as it was the only
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mechanism Europe had for preserving peace. The economic depression had
demonstrated that each nation could no longer remain independent of others.
Interdependence in commerce and trade and in political relations demanded
a new way of conducting politics and diplomacy. The system of international
law established at the peace conference, he maintained, was the one mechanism

through which a new approach to politics and diplomacy could be fostered.*

%

Lord Marley opened the debate on the problem of refugees in the House of Lords
on 6 February 1935. He put these questions to the government: Whether the
refugees from the Saar were considered to come under the mandate of the High
Commissioner for the German refugees? What action was the British govern-
ment taking to aid the High Commissioner in the resettlement of the refugees?
Marley, an active refugee advocate, had formed his own committee for refugee
assistance. He completed a speaking tour of the United States in 1934 to raise
money for refugee relief, and through his work with the Russian association for
the advance of the Jewish people (known by its Russian acronym, ORT), he had
promoted Jewish refugee resettlement in the autonomous Soviet Jewish enclave
of Birobidjan. Marley’s communist sympathies made him suspect among refu-
gee support groups, and he was consequently marginal to their work and their
concerns.” Yet he was nevertheless one of the more forthright advocates for
the Jewish and other refugees from Germany. Before raising these question
in the House of Lords, he clarified particular issues on the Saar situation with
McDonald. McDonald also briefed Cecil on the details of the statement that he,
Cecil, would make to the Lords.*

Cecil spoke after Marley, questioning the efficacy of the League of Nations’
stance on refugees while also questioning British policy. The Saar introduced
a third category of refugees of concern to the League . Each of the three had
been approached separately, Cecil explained: The Nansen refugees under the
Nansen Office, the German refugees under the High Commission and the Saar
refugees under a mechanism that was not yet determined. The need for a sin-
gle organization responsible for all refugees was evident. He continued to state
that Britain was wrong to approach the refugees in terms of British national
interests. ‘Anything that affects the tranquillity of the world, Cecil said, ‘any-
thing that threatens the friendship of one nation for another, is a matter of the
most intense and direct British interest. He concluded by asking the Lords and
the government to ‘realize the truth; that ‘our great interest is the preservation of
peace’. That required conviction and action, otherwise, ‘we shall never succeed

in restoring tranquillity and peace to the world and restoring prosperity to this
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country. In short, Cecil called upon the British government to recognize that the
incorporation of the High Commission for refugees into the League of Nations
would strengthen both.*

When Undersecretary of State for War, Lord Strathcona, replied to Marley’s
questions and Cecil’s statement, he gave a slight hint that the government might
be willing to reconsider the British position. Strathcona began by stating that the
procedural mechanisms of the League prevented the British government from
moving in the direction that Cecil had suggested; the High Commission was
created by a resolution of the League Assembly, and only another resolution
of the Assembly could alter it. However, he conceded, the British government
had already received the suggestion from Cecil through his capacity as the
British representative on the Governing Body that the High Commission should
become a part of the League. The suggestion would be considered sympathetic-
ally if the High Commission put a fully developed proposal to the League itself.**
This gave a nod to Cecil that he and the High Commission should proceed to
draw up a plan to put to the Foreign Office.

The next day McDonald met with the British Foreign Office to discuss fur-
ther the integration of the High Commission with the League. He met with
officials again on 11 February 1935 to ask for British leadership on the issue.”
The early indications were that the government was still unmoved by the
suggestion, and the formal advice McDonald received was that the govern-
ment had not yet considered the question of the League assuming perman-
ent responsibility for the refugees. McDonald and Cecil both decided that if
governments would not press the issue, they would have to ‘take the initiative’

themselves.3®



Mission to South America

In the European and American imagination at this time, the countries of South
America were lands of great, unsettled spaces, in need of new people and
development. They were ripe for refugee resettlement. The opportunities this
presented to the refugees from Nazi Germany had not yet been fully explored
but there was nevertheless much hope invested in the idea of Jewish colon-
ization there. Indeed, the Jewish Colonization Association had already pur-
chased swathes of land in Brazil and Argentina for future settlement, and it
advocated its colonization plans as part of the solution to the refugee problem
in Europe. It was especially convinced that Argentina, which had an established
Jewish community of about 500,000, would welcome more Jews. It also under-
took to put up the funds for their resettlement once the migration formalities
were agreed. There were many reasons for caution, however. Both Brazil and
Argentina had declined invitations to join the High Commission’s Governing
Body, and they remained aloof from European politics. Even though Jacques
Helbronner insisted that the High Commission must continue to seek out
overseas emigration opportunities, he acknowledged reports from the French
embassies in South America that were not at all optimistic about the proposed
plans. Argentina, he was informed, for example, offered no immigration possi-
bilities because of its economic problems and its own national socialist and anti-
Semitic propaganda. Reports from Uruguay and Brazil were also unfavourable,
but the advice from the French embassies in Venezuela, Colombia, Nicaragua,
Ecuador and Paraguay were more encouraging.'

Over the winter of 1934 and 1935, McDonald began planning a tour of South
and Central American countries to investigate what actual opportunities for refu-
gee placement there were. His initial inquiries were not altogether promising,
but there was sufficient encouragement to make a genuine effort to open negoti-

ations, particularly with the governments of the larger South American countries.
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While in Washington in December 1934, he sought the advice of the ambas-
sadors of Chile, Peru, Argentina, Uruguay, Honduras, Ecuador and Brazil on
conditions in their countries, the attitudes of their governments to the idea of
refugee settlement and the responses that he might receive to his approaches
for concessions to their immigration restrictions. The Uruguayan Ambassador
was ‘almost hostile’ to the plans for refugee settlement, McDonald noted, sur-
prisingly so as the Uruguayan Alberto Guani had served as the deputy chair of
the High Commission’s Governing Body from its first session, and he had been
present, but silent, during its most recent discussions on refugee resettlement
in South America. The Uruguayan Ambassador was also critical of the work of
the Jewish Colonization Association in Argentina and Brazil, and he promised
no cooperation from his government. The Honduran Ambassador was not hos-
tile but he was nevertheless ‘completely discouraging” about the settlement of
academic and intellectual refugees. Indications from the ambassadors of Brazil
and Argentina were more positive, however, despite suggestions to the contrary.
Brazil was particularly keen to learn of settlement plans, citing a need for some
20,000 to 30,000 workers in the coffee area alone. More surprisingly, McDonald
found no hint of what he had been told was Argentina’s antipathy to Jewish
immigration.?

McDonald also recognized the importance of gaining the support of the
Catholic Church for the settlement of Jews in South and Central America. He
therefore visited Cardinal Pacelli in Rome again, now emphasizing the new
urgency in finding places to resettle Catholic refugees from Germany, as their
numbers were expected to rise considerably after the restitution of the Saarland to
Germany. If the Catholic countries in Latin America helped take care of Catholic
refugees, McDonald ventured, it would be a great demonstration that the refu-
gee problem was not uniquely a Jewish problem; this would help leverage sup-
port for the Jewish refugees as well. McDonald also suggested to Pacelli a strategy
discussed among American Jews. If the Vatican would lend its support to opening
up Latin America to Jewish emigration, the American Jewish organizations would
give its support to the Vatican against the intolerance of Catholics in Mexico.> As
with his earlier interviews with Pacelli at the Vatican, McDonald came away with
no firm undertakings but nevertheless satisfied that he made convincing points.*

McDonald arrived in Rio de Janeiro on 8 March 1935 with his wife and
his long-serving secretary, Olive Sawyer. He brought with him Samuel Guy
Inman, a specialist in Latin American politics and secretary of the American
Committee on Cooperation in Latin America. Inman had been recommended
to McDonald by Walter Kotschnig, the High Commission’s advisor on academic
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and intellectual refugees, because of his knowledge of Latin American affairs
and his personal contacts. He was able to provide McDonald with invaluable
access to the heads of government that he might not be able to haved secure on
his own.” Recognized as an ‘ardent defender of Latin American rights, Inman
was indispensible on this mission, with his ability to interpret in both Spanish
and Portuguese, his advice on Latin American history and politics, and for his
friendship with many of the leading politicians in these many countries.®

The mission’s aim, in McDonald’s words, was to ‘ascertain the possibilities
of immigration, and to negotiate a way around ‘the political obstacles to the
admission of refugees. To this end, he insisted in not presenting himself as an
agent for refugee resettlement programmes, and on not appearing as a sales-
man for any particular plan. He asked instead for assistance in addressing a
grave humanitarian problem. He therefore sought the agreement of these coun-
tries to admit a limited number of refugees and that their immigration restric-
tions be lifted in order to make this possible.”

He was struck immediately by the overwhelming possibilities in South
America, especially Brazil, where the lands seemed to be waiting for people
to settle and develop them. However, a genuine fascist movement inspired by
German National Socialism, and a strong autarkic nationalism, which had taken
hold of the government, disturbed its politics. Nationalism was an even stronger
force in Argentina, he found, but Argentina was also more suitable than Brazil
for large-scale refugee settlement. It had a large, established Jewish commu-
nity that included refugees recently arrived from Europe through the aid of the
Jewish Colonization Association, which could only help with the integration of
new refugees. Land was also cheap and there was great potential for new agri-
cultural developments. The main barriers to successful settlement in both coun-
tries, however, were the legislative restrictions on new immigrants.

True to his pledge to Cardinal Pacelli, McDonald spoke in support of Catholic
interests in Brazil and Argentina. The mention of his meetings at the Vatican,
Pacelli’s interest in the refugee problem and Catholic belief in the ‘universal
appeal to the sympathy and charity of mankind, won the immediate support of
the Brazilian foreign minister, who gave his ‘unqualified’ support for McDonald’s
mission.® The Archbishop of Rio de Janeiro, the most senior Catholic in South
America, similarly expressed his sympathy for McDonald’s work and offered
his help as far as he could.” The Archbishop of Buenos Aires acknowledged the
humanitarian crisis and gave his support to the admission of Jewish refugees.'

A potential rise in the number of Catholic refugees fleeing Germany was of
most concern to McDonald’s ministerial contacts. One official the Argentine
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Agriculture Ministry was truly horrified to learn that ‘men should be penal-
ized for loyalty to their faith} and volunteered to intercede with the minister and
the president on his behalf.! While Catholic support and intercession on behalf
of Catholic refugees helped McDonald make some headway, his negotiations
nevertheless rested on the concessions that both the Brazilian and Argentine
governments were prepared to make to their immigration restrictions. This
proved to be an insurmountable barrier.

Immigration restrictions were written into the new Brazilian constitution
of 16 July 1934, in order to guarantee the ‘ethnic integration and the physical
and civil capacity of the immigrant. Annual immigration quotas were applied
at 2 per cent of the total number of foreign nationals who had permanently
settled in Brazil over the past fifty years. The quota for German immigrants
was fixed at 3,090 each year, and of this only 10 per cent could be Jews or
refugees. The quota was low because Brazilians of German origin, although
about one million in number in 1934, had settled by and large more than fifty
years previously. The constitution, furthermore, restricted the liberal pro-
fessions to native-born Brazilians, and naturalized Brazilians who had per-
formed military service. Foreign qualifications were recognized only when
held by native-born Brazilians. Future immigrants would therefore have to
settle on the land. Under these conditions, expectations were very low, ‘noth-
ing beyond 309 agriculturalists a year’ within the German quota, McDonald
was advised.'? He therefore had to make a case to the Brazilian government
for exceptional concessions to allow for a higher intake, and the colonization
plans that would back the new immigration would need to be detailed and
financially sound.

Louis Oungre of the Jewish Colonization Association joined McDonald
in Rio de Janeiro and prepared a memorandum on the financial details. They
were estimated to be around one million dollars for each 100 refugee fam-
ilies. McDonald also prepared a memorandum, which was more general than
Oungre’s and appealed to the humanitarian sympathies. The Brazilian Foreign
Ministry, however, was not satisfied with them, and asked that both be revised to
make them more suitable for presentation to the government. One major point
of contention was the Brazilian insistence that a settlement plan should con-
cern only stateless refugees. The Jewish refugees would fall under the German
quota and proceed through the normal migration channels; they would there-
fore be heavily restricted. Oungre’s colonization plan was for Jewish resettlement
and colonization, financed by European and American Jewish communities; it
would succeed only if the refugees could resettle in sufficiently large numbers
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to make the scheme viable. He would not compromise, since he would have to
abandon key elements of his organization’s plans and investments. He therefore
withdrew his memorandum and returned to Europe. McDonald stayed on to
work through the obstacles, keen to see his negotiations through to the end. He
telegraphed his office in London to obtain the latest figures on stateless refugees,
and while waiting its reply, he and Inman sailed to Buenos Aires.

The foreign embassies in Argentina gave him little confidence. The British
Ambassador told McDonald quite bluntly that the Argentine government
was set in its exclusionist policies and would not welcome foreign pressure."
Argentine nationalism extolled the country’s independence in finance and
commerce by throwing off the dominance of British capital, and resisted for-
eign meddling in its political affairs. Immigration restrictions reflected the
influence of extreme nationalism, but McDonald was assured that there were
ways around the restrictions, if he could reach an informal agreement with the
government. He was invited to present his case but was told that if he insisted
on a definite decision the answer would be negative. His talks were therefore
informal, with a view to reaching what both sides agreed would be a ‘gentle-
man’s agreement’"

He was not asking the Argentine government to remove its restrictions on
refugee immigration but, just as he had appealed to the Brazilian government,
he sought its help in addressing a humanitarian problem. He put forward plans
limited in their ambition but with guarantees that no burden would fall on
Argentina itself. They would nevertheless require two important concesssions,
the lifting of restrictions that prevented the settlement of the poor, and the lifting
of the obligation that new immigrants settle on the land. It would be impossible
for the regulations to be changed ‘formally, McDonald was told, but it would be
possible to change the ‘spirit’ of their interpretation to make it easier to admit
refugees.”” He was not able to persuade one senior governmental official, how-
ever, who was convinced that the resettlement of refugees from Europe would
lead to an unemployment problem, and that ‘undesirable’ refugees would be
‘dumped’ on the country.'®

This was as much as McDonald could achieve in Buenos Aires. There were
no undertakings or guarantees, yet making the best of a poor outcome, he was
pleased that he had made his case in such a way as to avoid a definite rejection."”
There might have been some room to manoeuvre with the Argentine govern-
ment at a later time, he thought, but there was no further headway to be made
with the Brazilian government. His memorandum on resettlement and colon-

ization was further delayed in the Foreign Ministry by more objections, and as
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he had engagements ahead in New York, he left, leaving negotiations in Brazil to
a former local representative of the Jewish Colonization Association.'

Because of the delays in Rio de Janeiro, McDonald and Inman parted in
Buenos Aires and went their separate ways. While McDonald remained to see
his negotiations through, Inman travelled on to Chile and then went north. In
all, Inman visited eleven countries in forty-four days.” His reports, which were
not available to McDonald until after both had returned to New York, were
more positive about the prospects for refugee resettlement in Latin America
than McDonald’s. Inman noted the value that these countries placed on tech-
nical experts and academics to assist in the reform of their industries, economies
and their educational sectors. Only Argentina rejected professional and aca-
demic refugees, while other countries advised Inman of particular professions
which were in demand. Some presented highly specific requirements that would
have next to no impact on the overall refugee numbers. Paraguay, for example,
sought specifically six experts in agriculture, one in geology, two in accounting,
one in finance and two in international trade. Other countries indicated a more
general need for intellectuals and academics, but were not certain about which
specialities. Colombia had just commenced reforming its education sector and
could potentially have a demand for academic refugees in a variety of fields.
Opportunities for professionals — lawyers, doctors, engineers — were by compari-
son non-existent, as the Latin American universities produced too many of their
own, and foreign lawyers and doctors in particular could not obtain permission
to practice.?

In Inman’s view, there was greater hope of settling refugees in the smaller
countries than in the larger ones. There were fewer immigration barriers to over-
come and Jewish refugees were not discouraged; there was also a general desire
to attract new settlers to work on the land. Paraguay expressed a preference for
young, unmarried men, to settle permanently, marry locally and become a per-
manent part of its society. The Peruvian president told Inman that Peru could
take all the remaining refugees, if only they would colonize the land.

While Inman offered a generally optimistic outlook, he concluded on a som-
bre note. The greatest barrier to resettlement in these countries, he observed,
was that the refugees themselves had no desire to migrate there. The history
of Latin American lands, he added, carried lessons that even the most ardent
advocate of large-scale settlement must heed: it was ‘strewn with the wreckage of
colonization schemes’. Most of the refugees were not farmers and did not want
to be farmers, but even if they were enticed to join a rural settlement, there
was a real danger that the ‘history of so many of the broken European colonies’
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would be repeated. The refugees would find, after a few months, that they were
‘disgusted with the difficulties of the jungle or desert, with the lack of communi-
cations with the outside world, the lack of markets, the difficulties of educating
their children and the isolation and absence of cultural advantages which they
enjoyed in their former homes.*!

The mission to South and Central America is the most documented of
McDonald’s activities as High Commissioner. Away from the constant pressures
of national and Jewish politics in America, Britain and Europe, he was dedicated
to this single purpose for three months. His and Inman’s reports are extensive,
as are McDonald’s diaries at this time. Both men were open to possibilities and
they went into their discussions with purpose and optimism. They were also
critical of the obfuscation of government ministers and bureaucrats. There was
much of this, but McDonald was prepared to work closely with these officials
and tried to satisfy their demands in order to achieve a good outcome. The mis-
sion to South and Central America, therefore, is an example of the difficulties
that McDonald faced throughout his commission. For his time and efforts, the
returns were small in the extreme. He could therefore report to his Governing
Body when it next met in July 1935 that the best economic possibilities were in
Argentina and Brazil but that little could be expected from either country. Their
immigration regulations only provided opportunities for immigrants to work
in agriculture, and while restrictions were less severe in other Latin American
countries, opportunities for work were fewer.?

Inman’s more positive assessment about the prospects in Latin American
received a favourable press. It was reported that there were openings for intellec-
tual and academic refugees in all of the countries Inman had visited, since they
were coming slowly out of their economic slumps. Here then were opportunities
so greatly lacking elsewhere. Moreover, the possibility that Ecuador might be
prepared to admit 50,000 Jewish refugees over the longer term suggested the
kind of breakthrough the world had been looking for. However, expectations
were quelled by the realization that there were no opportunities for profession-
als to practice, and large-scale plans of refugee settlement were unwise given the
prevalence of nationalism.*

The mission to South America therefore brought an end to the illusion that
the problem of the refugees in Europe could be solved by their resettlement
in overseas countries, either through negotiated, favourable, immigration
arrangements, or by organized and costly colonization schemes. Many plans
had been hatched but none were viable. The hopes invested in these plans,
however, had distracted attention from the true cause of the refugee problem,
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that those countries to which the refugees had fled had no permanent place
for them. Political decisions on the status and welfare of the refugees were
made on the assumption that they would have to look elsewhere to re-
establish their lives. The endless drives for finance, the promotion of the High
Commission and its work, the agendas of refugee aid organizations as well as
the humanitarian concerns about the future of the refugees, kept coming back
to the solution of overseas resettlement and colonization. The end of the illu-
sion brought the European powers and refugee aid organizations back to the
central problem: that the refugees were assuredly an international problem
for which an international solution was required, but a genuine solution lay in
the willingness of nations to grant the right to refuge in their territories. Only
national governments could confer entry, residence and work entitlements
that would allow the refugees to resume their lives. Without this recognition,
there could be no solution.

During his three months away from the reactionary politics of Europe,
McDonald had many moments for reflection on his work and his future. At
every turn he had met obstacles and failed to have a genuine impact. He was
firm in his resolve to wind down the work of the High Commission by the end
of the year and resign his post. In a moment of candour, he wrote to Cecil three
days after his arrival in Buenos Aires to confirm that he had made the right deci-
sion: T have no intention whatsoever of continuing in refugee work beyond the
earliest date at which the High Commission can be liquidated’ His desire now,
he confessed, was to return to the United States to be closer to his family and
to remove himself from the nihilism of European politics. He now looked for-
ward to playing a ‘part in the stirring developments’ in the United States.* Cecil
sympathized, T have not forgotten your wish; he replied, ‘but I am glad to have it
stated so specifically and definitely by yourself. I am not surprised that you want
to get back to your own country and to your own job, nor that you want to be
free from the entanglements of refugees. I am afraid you have found it rather a
heart-breaking enterprise’

His mood was not one of defeat, however. He carried on with these lengthy
and sometimes tortured negotiations with government officials in South
America, interspersed with much idle time as he awaited a reply, another meet-
ing or a suggestion of progress. His negotiating partners in Argentina and Brazil
would neither accept nor reject his propositions, yet there is no hint in his pri-
vate words that his partners in these negotiations had worn him down. But this

was his last effort at finding a place for the refugees.



10

Disillusion: Spring and Summer 1935

The Saar plebiscite was decisive for the High Commission. McDonald, Cecil,
their staft and supporters could interpret the League of Nations’ decision on the
arrangements for refugees from the Saar in no other way than as the League’s
lack of confidence in its work. Moreover, it displayed the League’s avoidance of
its responsibilities. It was not willing to allocate resources and admit its rightful
role in the humanitarianism that Fridtjof Nansen had inculcated into its culture
during the 1920s. Instead France, which had no desire to take on an additional
refugee burden, stepped in, on condition that the League of Nations compensate
it for the cost at some future time.

For McDonald, it was a personal slight, and one more reason why he could
not continue in his position. In truth, McDonald had been considering his future
before the January 1935 plebiscite. It had become evident during 1934 that the dif-
ficult financial position constraining the High Commission and the wider effort
on behalf of refugees gave him little option other than to plan for its liquidation.
He had since contemplated the options before him. During his Christmas and
New Year break in the United States in December 1934, many of his friends and
contacts in Washington, President Roosevelt among them, were already asking
about his plans after he resigned his commission. His wife and close friends sug-
gested that he take a position as a college president. His preference was to return
to academia, in the field of international relations, ‘with a light teaching schedule
and large opportunities for ... public education. He expressed a desire to join
Columbia University and asked Joseph Chamberlain, the American representa-
tive on his Governing Body and professor of Law at Columbia, to investigate the
possibilities for him.! New York Jews, on the other hand, expressed their regret
at losing their advocate for European Jewry and urged him to continue working
on behalf of the refugees. On his return to New York from Rio de Janeiro in early

June 1935, he sought out a position with the New York Times.?
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Cecil had become pessimistic about the High Commission and the League
of Nations’ response to the refugee problem since the Saar decision. He had
remained in the background of the High Commission’s work, appearing only
during the meetings of the Governing Body and its Permanent Committee.
Committed all the same to the League of Nations and its promotion of peace
through international cooperation, he took a more prominent role in refugee
advocacy after January 1935, arguing that nothing less than an effective inter-
national effort supported by the League of Nations and national governments
would produce results. His statement to the House of Lords on the refugee prob-
lem in February 1935 publicized the failings of the League of Nations in such
a critical area of international cooperation. This encouraged him to intervene
more stridently with the British government to try to persuade it to change its
position on the integration of the High Commission into the League.

Cecil subsequently pursued the need for a new refugee organization, which
would be an agency of the League of Nations. Before McDonald left for South
America, Cecil worked with him on a plan for this new agency and on a political
strategy to win its acceptance. Their work continued after McDonald’s return,
and the campaign for a central refugee agency was the central focus of the work
of the High Commission for the remainder of the year.

Characteristic of the timidity with which governments approached the ques-
tion of international assistance for refugees, McDonald and Cecil found little
immediate support. Cecil’s statement to the House of Lords was the cause of
some consternation in the Permanent Committee of the Governing Body when
it met later in February. Both Cecil and McDonald were asked whether it was the
right time to reopen the refugee question since governments would resist any-
thing that could make it more difficult for Germany to return to the League. For
some of the representatives on the Permanent Committee, France’s Helbronner
most notably, the problem this raised was not so much reopening the refugee
question as what form a new refugee organization would take. It was only fit-
ting that the refugee question be reopened in its entirety, Helbronner asserted,
since the problem was considerably larger than that of the problem of the refu-
gees from Germany. Indeed, Helbronner reminded the other representatives,
France’s obligations were for the many tens of thousands of refugees of all ori-
gins: from Russia, Armenia, Spain, Italy and elsewhere, as well as from Germany.
For Cecil, on the other hand, the heart of the refugee problem was not their
numbers, where they were from, or where they were found. Rather, it was that
they ‘scarcely have any work’ and were ‘a grave danger and ... a destabilising
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element for the entire world’. Unless the problem was addressed in its entirety,
on an international basis, Cecil was certain, no solution would be possible.?

Before he left for South America, McDonald submitted a memorandum on
the general problem of refugees to the League of Nations’ Secretary General.* It
was an exposé of the problem that went well beyond the circumstances that had
made it so difficult for his High Commission to fulfil its mandate. It took a broad
view of the problem, recounting also the responses to refugees since the First
World War. The memorandum described how the problem had developed since
1919, and examined the difficulties encountered in the international responses
to the problem. The League of Nations’ responses, it showed, were piecemeal; the
fragmentation of responsibilities and the diminution of resources were the rea-
sons why the League had failed in its obligations since Nansen’s achievements of
the 1920s. The decisions of the League on refugees, furthermore, were no longer
viable in the economic and political circumstances that the world faced in 1935.
The decision in 1928 to reduce the budget of the Nansen Office every year for
ten years, until it was dissolved in 1938, set in place the conditions that made the
League incapable of attaining a ‘permanent assimilation and settlement’ of the
refugees under its mandate. The League’s policy was in ruins as unemployment
and xenophobia made it almost impossible for even self-supporting foreigners
to find a place in another country.

The popular mood everywhere had shifted, McDonald noted from his own
experience. The expulsion of foreigners was now common, as policies were put
in place to protect native workers from the competition of immigrant workers.
The Nansen Office continued to assist refugees with a continually diminishing
budget. The Convention of 1933, the intention of which was to ensure the rights
and security of refugees, had been signed by no more than five countries, and
ratified only by Bulgaria. ‘No effective measures whatever, the memorandum
continued, ‘have been taken to deal with the failure of the assimilation policy
or to provide for the large body of refugees who stand in need of help when
the Nansen International Office is liquidated’ The memorandum described the
difficulties facing the Nansen Office with the example of an appeal for funds
launched by the League of Nations Union, the Save the Children’s Fund, and the
Armenian Lord Mayor’s Fund in Britain at Christmas in 1934. Even with the
resources of the League of Nations behind it, the Nansen Office still had to fall
back on private contributions to raise enough money to support unemployed
and other refugees, who could not support themselves and their families. There
were some 149,000 individuals in these circumstances, with another 54,900
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war invalids and children under the Nansen Office’s care incapable of earning
a living.

Other refugees had since appeared, who received no international assis-
tance or protection. They were left to fend for themselves or live on charity.
Assyrian refugees had fled Iraq after the end of the British Mandate in 1932.
Some 40,000 Austrian Nazis had taken refuge in Germany after the failed coup
of 1934. Austrian socialists had taken refuge in Czechoslovakia. Spaniards had
fled to France to escape civil unrest. Croats, Slovenes and Macedonians had fled
or had been expelled from Yugoslavia. Mexicans had fled to the United States.
Refugees, in other words, were an international problem; they appeared in all
parts of the world and all sorts of circumstances. The League of Nations had
only concerned itself with a small number of selected groups while the problem
continued to grow.

The memorandum concluded with a section on the difficulties of McDonald’s
own High Commission. The Governing Body had no power over the govern-
ments they represented and its members were merely observers; the High
Commission’s annual budget for administrative expenses was £14,000 per
year, and no government had made any grant towards it. It therefore remained
dependent on private contributions from a few philanthropic sources. And the
number of refugees from Germany still in need of assistance remained stub-
bornly high. Of an estimated 80,000 refugees at the end of 1934, it was believed
that only about 28,200 had been resettled outside Europe.’

‘Ts it possible to revive the policy of assimilation?” McDonald asked. ‘Can it
be anticipated that the different Governments will accept refugees as citizens
and allow them equal opportunities to obtain relief or the benefit ... of sickness
and unemployment insurance?” It seemed impossible, he answered, ‘in the exist-
ing mood of economic nationalism and xenophobia. It was unfair that some
countries bore a greater refugee burden than others, but it was nevertheless rea-
sonable to expect that the refugees in Europe should be absorbed as much as
possible into the countries where they had found refuge, and not be left in a
twightlight world awaiting resettlement to some unknown far away destination.
This, he proposed, was one option for an enduring solution. The second option
was the ratification of the 1933 Convention that would minimize refugee hard-
ships and obviate the tendency of host countries to refuse refugees the right to
work or to deport them simply because they were not welcome. The third option
McDonald proposed was untested but seemed ‘the only practicable solution’” to
bring about a change in the responses to refugees - a central refugee organiza-
tion responsible to the League of Nations.
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McDonald concluded by repeating a passage from a statement that Fridtjof
Nansen had made to the League Assembly in 1928, when he sought its support
to help solve the refugee problem confronting Europe at that time:

If intelligent human beings are forced to brood over a situation so much
against their wishes and efforts that they come to regard it as an injustice,
and if they are denied the most elementary forms of protection, there is the
danger that their physical and intellectual energies, instead of being turned
into constructive channels, may be exploited in other ways which will exact
a heavy reckoning out of all proportion to the slight sacrifice they now ask.

This lengthy exposé had one purpose. It both explained and justified the need
for a new central refugee organization in Geneva, ‘under or within the League of
Nations), that would be responsible for all refugees, those that the League pres-
ently recognized and those that it may decide in the future would require assis-
tance. But recognizing the more significant practical arguments that would be
made against the proposal, McDonald’s memorandum also stressed the implica-
tions for resources. The League would not incur additional financial outlays, it
explained. The current expenditure of the Nansen Office could be reallocated
to the new organization. The memorandum also stressed that these proposals
concerned only the administrative machinery necessary for a more effective
approach to the ‘tragedy of the refugee problem’ The governments of member
states would not be asked to take on a greater burden; they would remain free
to determine particular schemes of assistance and settlement, and how these
should be financed, while private charity would continue to provide much of the
necessary resources.’

During McDonald’s absence, Cecil actively promoted this proposal for a cen-
tral League refugee agency. At the same time, two of the High Commission’s
staff, André Wurfbain and Walter Kotschnig, surveyed the views of govern-
ments. While they found general agreement on the need for a central agency,
there were nevertheless reservations. One common question was whether the
new organization would be restricted to existing refugee groups or if it would
assume responsibility for new groups as well. Another was whether it would
include stateless persons. There was concern therefore about the organization
growing in the future, and the League taking on unexpected and costly burdens.
Some countries were definite in their views. Belgium was ‘not very keen on any
change’; the Netherlands regretted that its initiative in 1933 to create the High
Commission for the German refugees had failed, and was now pessimistic about
the prospects of any refugee organization in the economic conditions afflicting
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the world.® For other governments, the proposed reforms would provide an
opportunity for doing something about the Nansen Refugee Office as well as the
High Commission. The Nansen Office had fallen out of favour and although it
was already facing liquidation by the end of 1938, the proposed central refugee
agency offered an opportunity to get rid of it earlier.

One complaint about the Nansen Office was that, far from solving the
refugee problem with which it was charged when established in 1930, it had
in fact perpetuated the problem. The refugees and stateless persons under its
mandate remained legally ‘Nansen Refugees. Another complaint was that the
Nansen Office was spreading political propaganda among the Russian refu-
gees against the interests of the Soviet Union. It was also criticized within the
League Secretariat for creating an atmosphere of idealistic unreality over the
1933 Convention on the international status of refugees because it held signa-
tory countries to specific obligations towards the refugees to whom it applied.
Even so, the Nansen Office, and particularly its chair, Major T. E. Johnson of
Great Britian, were also significant impediments to reform. Johnson could point
to the successes of the Office’s work, even during the years of adverse economic
conditions and the anti-immigrant sentiments across the work, while the High
Commission for the German refugees could point to no successes at all.’

The League Secretariat was another obstacle. It was certain that a central refu-
gee agency would embroil the League in awkward political issues, compromise
its independence in dealing with disputes between member states and limit its
effectiveness in international affairs. It made four specific objections. First, the
High Commission for the Refugees from Germany was made with a kind of
‘gentleman’s agreement’ with Germany that the Commission not be a part of
the League; it would be difficult, and ‘not quite loyal to Germany, to change this
arrangement. Second, it would be difficult to go back on decisions taken many
times over to liquidate the Nansen Office. Third, the creation of an organiza-
tion with a general mandate would tend ‘indirectly’ to increase the number of
refugees; therefore, the new organization should be concerned only with specifi-
cally defined categories. Finally, a central refugee organization in Geneva would
provide a focus for the political activities of refugee groups; they would come
to Geneva to try influence member governments of the League, who were very
often their political opponents.'°

In response, Wurfbain and Kotschnig reproached the Secretariat for fail-
ing to grasp the new political realities of the mid-1930s. They criticized it for
holding fast to its position in 1933 that it avoid any actions that might inflame
German opinion, and, indeed, shying away from political controversy of any
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kind. This was not merely in the hope of luring Germany back to the League;
the League’s timidity was to appease German sensitivities that it was an insti-
tution created by the hated Treaty of Versailles intent on German humiliation.
The attitudes of member states had moved beyond this, the Wurfbain-Kotschnig
report claimed. It addressed the Secretariat’s concerns over the formation of a
new refugee agency in turn, to demonstrate how out of step it was with the cur-
rent state of affairs. German opinion should no longer matter. The Nazi govern-
ment had no hesitation in imposing a burden on other countries and there was
no reason why its sensitivities should be considered in future decisions on the
refugees. Moreover, a new refugee organization with a general mandate would
no longer maintain the refugees from Germany as a distinct category; rather,
they would be one part of a more general, humanitarian problem that would be
the focus of the League’s attention. The Nansen Office had shown how misplaced
the Secretariat’s concerns were. Although the Nansen Office was despised by the
Soviet Union for supporting anti-Bolshevik White Russians, it had not made
Geneva a centre of political dissent. As it was due for liquidation, it was oppor-
tune to consider how a new organization could continue the essential work of
international assistance for refugees."!

As discussions progressed on the proposal, the British government indicated
that it might be prepared to shift ground in its opposition to a central League
refugee agency. This was not without some considerable pressure from impor-
tant and powerful individuals and organizations. A delegation of various agen-
cies, among them the League of Nations Union, with Cecil as its president,
the Save the Children’s Fund, representatives of the Archbishops of Canterbury
and Westminster, the Society of Friends, and Chief Rabbi Dr Hertz, had been
granted a meeting with Foreign Minister Sir John Simon, in which he acknowl-
edged that there was a very strong case, ‘on practical grounds alone, to unify
refugee services under the League. But Simon also held firmly to his govern-
ment’s position that it was not desirable for the League to assume permanent
responsibility for refugees. The British government would not bring forward a
resolution to the next League Assembly, but Simon assured the delegation that
it would give its support if one were presented.?

With a view to the liquidation of the High Commission by the end of the
year, Walter Kotschnig also prepared a reconciliation of all available information
on the state of the problem of the refugees from Germany as it stood in mid-
1935. Kotschnig had been recruited from the International Student Services
in Geneva during 1934 to advise on academic and intellectual refugees. In
February 1935, he travelled to Prague and Vienna to learn as much as he could



142 The League of Nations and the Refugees from Nazi Germany

about the conditions facing the refugees from Germany and the work of local
refugee agencies in preparation for a major review of the statistical and other
data the High Commission had collected from its many sources. Much of it had
yet to be scrutinized critically, and while there was an abundance of information
on conditions in the much visited and strongly represented Western European
countries, there had as yet been no attempt to gain a more comprehensive set of
statistics in Central and Eastern Europe.

Kotschnig’s first findings were that there were no reliable figures on the num-
ber of refugees from Germany still awaiting permanent settlement. The true
extent of the refugee problem was therefore not really known. Many refugees
had been registered by more than one refugee agency, and in more than one
country, as their circumstances had forced them to move on, at least once if
not twice, after fleeing Germany. Or their financial circumstances forced them
to seek aid from multiple agencies. By Kotschnig’s estimates, about half of the
refugees had migrated to other countries at their own expense, while others
had migrated with the assistance of refugee charities and resettlement services.
About 3,000 refugees from Germany had left Czechoslovakia after arriving from
Germany, half of them with the assistance of local refugee committees. Official
figures in Austria varied, but the information available to Kotschnig from the
Austrian refugee committees showed that there were some 800 to 1,000 refugees,
70 per cent of them Jewish, in need of resettlement. There was no way of know-
ing how many refugees had emigrated at their own expense."

The refugee problem therefore centred on those who could not move else-
where, either because they lacked the financial means to do so, or because they
did not have the documents to enter another country. In Czechoslovakia, there
were about 1,900 refugees in this category, half Jewish and the other half political
refugees. Their situation was critical. They were refused permission to work, and
if they were found to be in breach of the law — working without permission was
a common reason for falling foul of it — they faced expulsion, or worse, forced
return (refoulement) to Germany.

Governments were unapologetic for their firm stands, and were intent on
tightening restrictions still further. Because the refugees could not work to sup-
port themselves and their families, they were a constant burden on the national
refugee committees and local charities, which were so short of funds that they
could not provide meaningful support. The Austrian committees required
$10,000 in additional funds to continue providing aid, while the committees in

Czechoslovakia required another $80,000."
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Kotschnig could offer two positive findings from his review of the available
statistics. The reemmigration of refugees was greater than assumed, and conse-
quently the refugee problem had reached a sort of equilibrium, with a more or
less fixed number of refugees who could not be resettled. This could give a real
focus to the High Commission’s work, as it could dedicate itself to their needs.
Refugee services were in place and refugee retraining for prospective resettle-
ment was proving effective. Second, the possibilities of refugee emigration east
to the Soviet Union seemed to be opening up. Discussions had commenced
between the Czechoslovakian committees and the Soviet minister in Prague,
who believed that refugee migration to the east was feasible. The experience of
a small group of Austrians who had fled to the Soviet Union after the attempted
Nazi coup of February 1934 were, however, for unspecified reasons ‘rather dis-
couraging’ and did not bode well for further eastward migration.'®

The plan Kotschnig devised therefore was, he admitted, a bare outline in need
of more work. There were many assumptions, he also admitted, but he believed
that they were reasonable ones to make, and were all justified by the experiences
of the High Commission and the refugee committees. The figures he cited were
estimates because the available information was ‘not sufficient to allow for the
establishment of anything really solid’ The High Commission’s London office,
he expected, would have more accurate and up-to-date figures than those avail-
able to him in his Geneva office, yet the figures he had at hand suggested a new
perspective on the refugee problem as the High Commission worked towards
its liquidation.

Kotschnig’s main assumption was that many of the refugees listed as
‘unabsorbed’ could migrate onwards, either at their own expense or with assis-
tance. Therefore, of the estimated 14,000 refugees remaining in France, he
assumed that as many as 4,000 could emigrate, half with assistance, and, most
problematically, another 1,500 could be repatriated. He listed similar figures for
other countries, to arrive at the following totals: 25,000 refugees remained in
Europe; of them some 6,750 could realistically emigrate of their own accord,
another 5,000 could be assisted to emigrate and 2,950 could be repatriated.'® This
would reduce the number of ‘unabsorbed’ refugees dramatically: some 8,500 in
France, 1,700 in Great Britain, 1,600 in the Netherlands, 150 in Belgium, 900 in
Czechoslovakia and 650 in Italy. This was much less of a burden than appeared
to be the case from earlier, more pessimistic outlooks, and indeed, Kotschnig
concluded, it would be a ‘fair share of what the European countries ought to be

able and ready to absorb."”
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Kotschnig presented a new perspective on the refugee situation that chal-
lenged the accepted understanding of the burden facing these European
countries. France had long insisted that it was overwhelmed by refugees, but
Kotschnig sought, in his own words, to ‘explode’ the fiction’ that it had accom-
modated more than the 14,000 refugees he had calculated. His findings led him
to conclude that the true number was nearer to being between 8,000 to 10,000
individuals after emigration or repatriation was factored in. He also insisted that
experience had proved that as many as one-quarter of the refugees would be able
to raise money for emigration themselves, if they had a definite opportunity to
work abroad. Experience had also proved that repatriation was viable for some
refugees. The restitution of the Saarland to Germany had shown that a good
many so-called refugees abroad’ could return to Germany ‘without fear of dan-
ger and with a reasonable certainty of being economically no worse off than they
were in the slums of Paris or elsewhere’

The greatest assumption of Kotschnig’s, however, was one not borne out by
experience: that a place for the permanent settlement of the refugees could be
found. The refugee problem had become so critical because there were so few
possibilities for emigration outside Europe, and because the Europeans refused
to let refugees settle in their countries. It helped the High Commission’s liquid-
ation plan to demonstrate that the number of refugees was much lower than
assumed. This could instil confidence that the problem was not beyond solution,
and that no individual country could claim it had too great a burden to bear.
On Kotschnig’s calculations, the number remaining in Europe was already fairly

distributed and could be reasonably absorbed. McDonald’s experience, however,

Table 10.1 Walter Kotschnig’s assessment of the future of refugee resettlement,
February 1935

Number Private Assisted Repatriation to
emigration emigration Germany
France 14,000 4,000 2,000 1,500
Czechoslovakia 1,600 500 400 200
Great Britain 2,500 400 300 400
Austria 900 400 350 250
The Netherlands 2,200 450 350 100
Italy 1,100 300 200 150
Belgium 400 200 150 50
Scandinavia 300 50
Elsewhere 1,000 200 150 100

25,000 6,750 5,000 2,950
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demonstrated that national governments could not be persuaded to settle even
much smaller numbers. Kotschnig’s fewer’ refugees nevertheless supported
McDonald’s recent claims that the refugees should be absorbed - or assimilated,
in the words McDonald used in his memorandum to the Secretary General -
into the communities in which they had already found refuge. But as 1935 pro-
gressed, this proposition was fiercely resisted, and even more restrictive policies
were becoming the norm: to keep new refugees out, to force those already inside
to leave, to expel those who refused to leave and to repatriate those who were
found to be living or working illegally.

These issues were taken up at the July 1935 meeting of the Governing Body
as it mapped out a stratgey for the next few months.”® “The afternoon session’ of
the Governing Body, McDonald noted in his diary, ‘was given over to the prob-
lem of reorganization and liquidation’"” McDonald’s statement summarized the
refugee situation as it stood on 15 July 1935, and included a final account of
the distribution of the refugees from Germany, derived for the most part from
the figures prepared for Walter Kotschnig’s liquidation plan (Table 10.2).

The problem that remained, then, was what to do about the estimated 27,500
individuals who were yet to find a place of permanent settlement. This was not
a great number in comparison to the general refugee problems that Europe had
faced since the end of the First World War. The Governing Body’s response was
to adopt two rather tame resolutions that called on governments to alleviate the
impact of restrictions on work permits, and to recognize the ‘uselessness’ of an
expulsion order for refugees who could not gain admission to another country.
Both resolutions were critical of the policies of the governments represented on
the Governing Body, but they carried little weight. In fact, the representatives
of Great Britain (Cecil himself), Denmark and Poland each read reports from
their governments that made no distinction between foreign immigrants and
refugees with respect to the right to work, and would make no concessions for
refugees.

The members of the Governing Body quibbled, in other words, over the
settlement of a few hundred, maybe a couple of thousand, refugees in their
countries, impoverished for the most part, but denied the right to work. They
were nevertheless unwelcome competition for work in seriously depressed
economies. Moreover, concerns of these countries went beyond the refugees
already within their borders. So long as the Nazi regime continued its perse-
cution of the Jews, refugees would continue to come, and any liberalization of
their restrictive policies on immigration and asylum would only encourage a
much larger influx than they had experienced hitherto.
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Table 10.2 Distribution of the refugees from Germany on 15 July 1935%

Living in European Countries

France 10,000
Poland *
Czechoslovakia 1,600
Netherlands 4,000
Britain 2,500
Belgium 600
Switzerland 500
Scandinavia 1,000
Austria 900
Saar & Luxembourg *
Spain 2,000
Italy 1,100
Elsewhere 1,500
Settled in Palestine 27,000
Settled Overseas
USA 6,000
South American Countries 3,000
South Africa 300
Elsewhere 500
Other *

Repatriated to countries in Central and 18,000
Eastern Europe
Refugees from Germany since 1933 80,500

Refugees still to be settled, July 1935 27,500

*Denotes figure not known.

Kotschnig’s liquidation plan considered repatriation a justifiable approach to
resolving the refugee problem, but he had presented it with unjustifiable opti-
mism and certainly no critical awareness of the conditions inside Germany.
Kotschnig remained based in Geneva while the High Commission’s office was in
London, which had received reports from the committees in Europe that gave
worrying accounts on the fate of Jews returning to Germany. Up to the begin-
ning of 1935, McDonald reported, some private organizations had encouraged
repatriation for German refugees who were unable to find opportunities for
resettlement, since they would be no worse off than if they were ‘in the slums
of Paris or elsewhere] as Kotschnig had written in his report.* There had been
a complete change of view since then. The Jewish refugee committee of the
Netherlands in Amsterdam (Comité voor Joodsche Vluchtelingen), for exam-
ple, had gathered many personal accounts of the troubles Jews encountered after
returning to Germany.** After registering their arrival, they were summoned to
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the state secret police (the ‘STAPOQ, as the reports called it; later the Gestapo),
and were questioned about their political activities, associations with refugee
communities and whether they had received money from refugee commit-
tees. They were then detained in prison while awaiting transfer to a ‘training’ or
‘community’ camp.

The police interventions were indiscriminate. A German Jewish couple
who had gone to Paris in 1933 and who had been later expelled from France,
returned to Germany on the advice of the German consul. They were impris-
oned for eighteen days. A woman who had gone to Rio de Janeiro in 1934 with
her husband returned on medical advice after a long period of hospitalization
with typhoid and yellow fever. She was arrested after 10 days in Berlin and was
refused access to medical care. She was due to be sent to a training camp at the
time the report was compiled. A woman who left Germany for Russia in 1930
after marrying an ‘Aryan’ was arrested when she returned to visit her elderly
mother; she was also due to be sent to a training camp. A woman who had lived
for two years in Palestine and had married there was also arrested when she
returned to visit her mother. Jews from Palestine, it seems, were treated more
leniently, as she was permitted to leave the country within three days.?

In February 1935, refugees detained in Germany after their return were
released following a period of imprisonment, usually for longer than ten days,
and ordered to leave Germany immediately and not return. In March 1935,
the Dutch Jewish Refugee Committee described a new ‘sharp and ruthless
anti-Jewish action” that followed a conference of district leaders under Hitler’s
chairmanship. The report did not cite an authority, but it claimed that the pleni-
potentiary of the Saar district attacked the Saar Jews for their ‘alleged treason-
able activities” in the lead up to the January 1935 Saar plebiscite. Whatever the
cause for the sudden change, the Committee reported, the intention was the
complete segregation of German Jews as an ‘alien race’ with limited rights,
and to send a message to German Jews abroad that they could not return to
Germany under any circumstances. Therefore, from March 1935, returning Jews
were summoned to the ‘STAPO’ shortly after registering their arrival; they were
detained and sent to instructional camps. Women were sent to a new camp not
far from Hanover, while the men were sent to the camp at Dachau. No cases of
release were known at mid-April, when the reports were circulated.*

McDonald’s statement to the Governing Body in July 1935 referred indi-
rectly to these reports. They raised no ire or discussion. McDonald concluded
by reporting that he had made no further contact with the German govern-
ment and that it was now useless to pursue negotiations.?® The Governing Body
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rose at the end of the day on 17 July 1935 and adjourned, with the intention of
meeting again by the end of the year to formalize the liquidation of the High
Commission. As it turned out, this was the final meeting of the Governing Body,
and liquidation proceeded subsequently by correspondence.

The High Commission had effectively ceased to function at the conclusion of
its July Governing Body. McDonald had exhausted his mandate for no gain. The
July Governing Body could offer nothing other than its assent to its inevitable
demise. In truth, the Governing Body had served its purpose for the governmen-
tal representatives sitting on it. They had successfully defended their national
policies to keep refugees out against demands that they open their doors. Some
countries had been disappointed in McDonald as High Commissioner because
he could not deliver what they had expected of his office, namely, a means of
ridding them of their refugee burden. France in particular, first through Henri
Bérenger, and then more shrilly through Jacques Helbronner, maintained that
it had done more than enough for refugees and could do no more. It also ques-
tioned why McDonald, an American, had not been able to persuade his own
government to do more. The one feasible solution - the permanent settlement
of the refugees in the countries where they had already found refuge - was
unacceptable to each government represented on the Governing Body. The sug-
gestion was an affront to Europeans, which resented American isolation from
the problems of Europe and its refusal to admit refugees from the overbur-
dened European states.

The High Commission itself was forced by the intransigence of governments
to accept the necessity of reemigration. Even repatriation was seriously contem-
plated as part of the solution in Kotschnig’s report. This, perhaps, best illus-
trates that the High Commission had lost confidence in its purpose. There was
no more that McDonald could do to fulfil his mandate. What remained was to
highlight the flaws of the institution that he was appointed to run, and advocate
for an improved and more effective refugee agency, with the authority and the

resources that he had lacked.



11

Reform and Resignation

McDonald and Cecil both believed that his resignation should be much more
than an apologia for the High Commission’s lack of achievements. Rather, they
agreed it should be a strong statement that would hold the refugee problem, its
causes and the international response to it, before world opinion. The statement
they decided upon would therefore address the political context of the refugees
from Germany, and make known to the public what few outside Jewish circles
fully recognized, that the refugees were the victims of the determined actions of
the Nazi regime to rid Germany of its Jewish population. It would also outline
the historical context of the problem and provide legal analysis of the Nazi per-
secutions and the status of the refugees in world affairs.!

In order to prepare the statement, McDonald contracted two experts on
German and Jewish affairs: Oscar 1. Janowsky, professor of history at the City
College, New York, whose 1933 book Jews and Minority Rights, 1898-1919 had
already discussed the recent historical context of the status of the Jews, and
Melvyn M. Fagen, a jurist taken on secondment from the American Jewish
Committee to work with McDonald and Janowsky.> McDonald explained the
intention of his resignation statement when securing Fagen’s release. It would be
much broader than a plea on behalf of Jewish rights, and would include other
religious groups, asserting, in McDonald’s words, the ‘fundamental principles
involved in the present violations of, or threat to the rights of, racial and reli-
gious minorities’ Janowsky would provide the historical research; Fagen would
provide technical and legal analysis. The American Jewish Committee gladly
released Fagen for this purpose and agreed to pay his expenses. James Rosenberg
of the Joint Distribution Committee offered to cover Janowsky’s expenses.’
McDonald, in other words, was able to harness American Jewish support for his

final act as High Commissioner, and the American Jews continued to support
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him as they had done from the moment that they put his name forward for
appointment as High Commissioner.

While the statement was being prepared, McDonald continued to garner sup-
port for a central refugee agency within the League of Nations. Once the July
Governing Body had concluded, he set off on a final tour of European capi-
tals to promote his plan and to seek the support of governments to carry the
idea forward to the September 1935 League Assembly. On the whole, govern-
ments supported the reopening of discussions on the refugees. The Danish and
Swedish governments backed the Norwegian intention to put forward the pro-
posal. The Soviet Union was entirely unsympathetic, however. It would not tol-
erate an organization that would continue to support the White Russians, as it
accused the Nansen Office of doing. The Italian position was more ambiguous.
It supported the principle behind a central agency since it would rationalize the
League’s refugee work, but it worried that Italian anti-Fascists would be brought
under its mandate. McDonald also visited Berlin again to ascertain the opinion
of the German Foreign Office. He was listened to ‘sympathetically; he noted, but
had to wait until he arrived in Geneva and a meeting with the German Consul
there to receive an official response. The German government expressed, finally,
‘no views officially on the matter, but ‘it was not opposed to the idea of a central
organization’*

The concern was not whether the proposal for a central League refugee
agency would pass the plenary Assembly; the steps that followed would be more
problematic. The support of the major powers was essential if the proposal were
to be carried through the committee stage, where it would be examined in detail
before a final resolution was agreed upon.

The Norwegian foreign minister, Halvdan Koht, opened the discussion in the
Assembly. He invoked the name of Fridtjof Nansen to illustrate Norway’s spe-
cial interest in the humanitarian work for refugees and asked the Assembly, in
Nansen’s name, to ‘extend and complete his work, because the sorrows of exile
have befallen a still larger number of men, women and children who are seek-
ing refuge, a home and an occupation in foreign lands’ Refugees, Koht told the
Assembly, were an ‘oft-recurring historical fact’; they represented ‘individual
tragedies.

The caution of 1933 was still evident none the less. Koht stressed, just as it
had been stressed when the original 1933 resolution on the establishment of
the High Commission for the Refugees from Germany was put to the Assembly,
that no political meaning should be implied from recognizing the tragedies of
individual refugees. Nor, Koht added, could any one country be slighted by its
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being stated. There was nevertheless an important change in tone and meaning.
Whereas the 1933 Assembly addressed the issue as a ‘technical problem, Koht
argued that, in 1935, the refugees posed a humanitarian problem, which affected
all countries, and it had to be addressed in a humanitarian spirit. Koht proposed
therefore that a vigorous effort be made to reorganize the international effort for
refugee assistance in its entirety. The League of Nations had an essential role to
play and it was now its responsibility to create an ‘organization and international
authority’ to ensure that refugees had a definite legal status and opportunities
to re-establish their lives. The aim, Koht concluded, should be nothing less than
finding a means by which refugees could be ‘incorporated in normal society’?

Among the documents before the Assembly was a petition by leading inter-
national welfare services including the Red Cross, the International Federation
of League of Nations Societies and the Save the Children’s Union. The Save the
Children’s Union stressed the fact that there were more than one million people
in the world requiring international legal protection and their lack of protection
rendered the work of aid organizations ineffective. No League of Nations agency
had thus far proven itself capable of solving the refugee problem and a plan for
the reorganization of the League’s refugee work was now essential.® McDonald’s
memorandum to the Secretary General of February 1935 was also circulating
around the Assembly.

When McDonald arrived in Geneva the debate was well under way. He was
confident that the Norwegian proposal would be adopted but he was surprised to
find that Koht seemed inclined to accept a weaker organization than McDonald
and his supporters had advocated. Apparently, McDonald could only conclude,
the League Secretariat had been trying to ‘educate’ him.” Indeed, the mood in
Geneva was discouraging. The Abyssinian crisis preoccupied everyone.® Indeed,
Koht’s address began with his reflections on the dispute between Italy and
Abyssinia and the prospect of war. The League consequently faced the challenge
of maintaining its raison détre as a instrument of harmonious international
relations. One way in which it could show its worth was through international
cooperation in the fields of ‘ethics and intellectual, social and humanitarian
work’ This was the ‘glory of the League] he declared in conclusion, which was
reason alone for its refugee work to continue and to be extended.’

The Assembly was used to grand statements of purpose and ideals. The com-
mittees, on the other hand, were concerned with precise details and political
realities that could easily stifle great ideals. The 1933 proposal for the creation
of a High Commission for the German refugees was considered in the Second
Committee on technical questions; the 1934 affirmation of the High Commission
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and McDonald’s work was again voted on in the Second Committee. Now, in
1935, the refugee problem and the proposal for a central refugee agency was
taken up in the Sixth Committee, which considered political questions. Sixteen
countries participated, reviewing two key questions: What should be the role of
the League of Nations in the work for refugees? And would a central agency be
better placed to do the work already being done by other organizations?

The Sixth Committee conceded that these questions were too complex for
it to decide immediately, and established a subcommittee to study them fur-
ther. Here the reassuring words of support that McDonald, Cecil and the High
Commission’s staff had received as they canvassed support among the govern-
ments sitting on the subcommittee were tested publicly. The British representa-
tive, for example, expressed Britain’s concern that a central refugee agency could
create a permanent class of refugees dependent on the League of Nations, which
would only perpetuate the problem, not solve it. The Swedish representative
added that the aim should be the assimilation of refugees in their countries of
refuge or their return to their countries of origin, in order to avoid the refugee
problem taking on a ‘permanent guise’ The Italian and Soviet representatives,
as McDonald was already aware, were altogether hostile to any change in the
existing arrangements and saw no reason why decisions previously made by the
League should be reversed.

McDonald was invited to appear before the subcommittee on 17 September
to explain his reasons for proposing the establishment of a central agency. He
read a statement drawn from his earlier memorandum, adding that the present
‘piecemeal treatment of the refugee problem’” was unsatisfactory because of the
confusion it caused among philanthropists who offered funds and governments
who receive representations from many different sources on behalf of distinct
groups of refugees. He proposed that the new agency should be headed by a
League of Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, who would have access to a
special fund for relief and resettlement and who would head an institution with
the structures to maintain effective cooperation between the League and private
refugee organizations."

These were not constructive discussions, McDonald reflected afterwards.
There was little interest in learning from his experience; rather, the committee
members were more intent on blaming him for his High Commissions failures.
His submission was received, he noted, with genuine hostility. Henri Bérenger,
representing France, was extremely hostile to him personally. Bérenger, the
original French delegate to the High Commission’s Governing Body who, at its
first meeting, insisted that France could do no more for refugees and expected
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the United States to accept its share of the burden, asked McDonald bluntly and
pointedly, what the US government had done for the refugees. Taken by sur-
prise, McDonald replied feebly, ‘nothing financially, before adding a belated
retort that, unlike the French government, it had not made work permits a
requirement for entry visas. Afterwards, McDonald was told about Bérenger’s
bitter attack on him during a closed session: he had denounced McDonald for
insisting on the title of ‘High Commissioner’ in order to attract large funds from
Americans, and for failing completely in this aim. As far as the French were con-
cerned, it made no difference if the High Commission went out of business. Such
a personal attack had not been heard before in the League, McDonald’s sources
told him. The subcommittee’s chair, Swiss minister Giuseppe Motta, thought the
attack too extreme for it to be translated into English, and it was not recorded
in the minutes of the proceedings. That was not the end of it. When McDonald
spoke privately with Bérenger afterwards about his thoughts on the central refu-
gee agency, Bérenger, again with bitterness, replied that it was ‘not a matter to
be dictated by Americans. There are no American refugees, they are European
refugees, and we are big enough to look after ourselves. Other sources suggested
that Bérenger’s vitriolic attack against McDonald was a sign of France’s increas-
ing resentment at the ‘Anglo-Saxon’ and ‘North European’ attempts to monopo-
lize the refugee problem, while France was left to cope with by far the largest
pool of refugees and were scarcely heard in the organizations charged with their
assistance and resettlement.'?

On the matter of a central refugee agency, Bérenger argued the French view
that ‘superstructures of administrative and professional philanthropy’ should be
avoided. They would ‘swallow up hundreds or thousands, or even millions, of
francs that would be more usefully employed in feeding, housing, sheltering and
transporting the hapless refugees. Nor should anything be done that would lead
to a proliferation of refugees dependent on international aid. They signified a
‘disordered state of affairs which ought not be perpetuated’ Rather, they should
be regarded as a ‘transient disorder’ and dealt with as quickly as possible, ‘by
the least ostentatious methods. A permanent bureaucracy, in short, Bérenger
believed, would instead perpetuate the refugee problem."

The subcommittee was split in its final resolution, that the League should
extend its protection to new categories of refugees. The Norwegian delegate
could not agree with the majority view, arguing to the contrary that the League
should extend its assistance to all categories of refugees ‘that had come into
being from the time of the world war down to the present day’, and that distinc-
tions based on origin, race and political convictions would simply be unfair."
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The final resolution was in truth mired in obfuscation. It noted that the refu-
gee problem was complex, with political, legal, humanitarian, administrative and
financial considerations requiring careful examination. More significantly, the
resolution sought to tie the hands of future assemblies. It expressly limited any
future reorganization to those categories of refugees already recognized by the
League. ‘Future decisions, it stated, ‘should be limited, for political and financial
reasons, to the categories of refugees already under the Nansen Office and the
High Commissariat in London’ Furthermore, no new additional expenditure
could be outlayed without the explicit permission of the Assembly. The final rec-
ommendation, then, was that the Assembly ask the Council to appoint a ‘small
committee of competent persons’ to examine and report on these matters, upon
which the Council would decide before the 1936 Assembly.” For McDonald,
this bore the clear influence of the opponents of reform, whose objective was
that the League should not be ‘responsible for one single additional franc over
and above its present obligations to the Nansen Office’'¢

French vituperation continued. No decision about future arrangements for the
refugees from Germany would be made until the committee of experts reported,
and certainly not before the Council had considered that report at an unspecified
date in 1936. In all likelihood, despite plans to liquidate the High Commission
by the end of 1935, it would need to struggle on as best it could until the Council
decided future arrangements. The October meeting of the High Commission’s
Advisory Council therefore considered what interim arrangements would need
to be made in order to continue the High Commission’s work after McDonald’s
resignation. This aroused French ire. Helbronner attacked the very proposi-
tion that the High Commission continue, even with a reduced staff. The orders
he had from his government were to ‘work for the complete dissolution of the
Commission at the end of the year’ If it were to continue, McDonald should
name an acting High Commissioner before he vacated his post. Helbronner then
made a ‘long, nasty analysis of the High Commission, McDonald recalled, and
insisted that, since McDonald was resigning, ‘his colleagues must go with him’"’
Oungre carried on in an even harsher tone. He not only attacked McDonald
personally, but also attacked his staff, especially Norman Bentwich, whom the
French suspected would be nominated as McDonald’s interim replacement,
thereby handing the High Commission over to the British Jews and Zionists.'®

It pained McDonald to have to defend himself and the High Commission
yet again. Oungre’s was an unpleasant intervention, McDonald recalled, and he
feared it would be decisive.”” But he could not leave it unanswered. The High
Commission’s work into 1936, as Oungre was well aware, was the real problem.



Reform and Resignation 155

Oungre’s organization, the Jewish Colonization Association, had made no com-
mitments, and the contributions of other organizations were assured only until
the end of 1935. He refused to accept that the High Commission was beholden to
any one agency or reflected the interests of any one government; France was not
the only government represented on the Governing Body and its view should
not be decisive. His response to Helbronner and Oungre was delivered with such
force that they were both offended by what he said and by the tone he had used,
so much so that McDonald felt compelled to apologize afterwards. However, the
clash between them had cleared the air and a resolution on continuing the High
Commission’s work on a ‘reduced basis’ was agreed.?’

While the 1935 League Assembly was in session, the Nazi persecution of
the Jews in Germany took a radical turn for the worse. The Nazi Party rally in
Nuremberg was the scene for the proclamation on 15 September of the Law on
Reich Citizenship and the Law for the Protection of German Blood and German
Honour, the ‘Nuremberg Race Laws. Preoccupied as they were with domestic
concerns, these developments made no immediate impression on the League
and its member states. McDonald could only reflect on his early forewarnings
about the dangers facing the Jews in Germany and fears for the advance of anti-
Semitism in Europe if the world remained silent. With the proclamation on
these race laws, Jews no longer had a place among the German people and the
urgency of impressing this on European and American consciousness reshaped
the tone and intent of his reform proposals and the statement that he would
publish upon his resignation.

McDonald’s mood also soured in these months. He saw no hope in continu-
ing fundraising efforts and was impatient with misplaced optimism. He had
received a copy of a report of a ‘Christian Appeal for Non-Jewish Refugees from
Germany, which looked ahead positively to what it could achieve. ‘It must be a
source of joy and encouragement to witness the growing determination within
the Christian world ... to come to the [refugees’] rescue) he wrote in reply. This
was to be an appeal by Christians to Christians, and ‘if the Christian Churches
rally in support of the refugees from Germany, it will not be without making
a profound impression upon the rulers of modern Germany’* But his experi-
ences in rallying Christian support had proven these hopes illusory. He could
not share the appeal’s optimism therefore, and in fact criticized it for confusing
plans with accomplishments. He now admitted defeat, as achievements could in
no way support optimistic outlooks.**

His resignation statement therefore became more important because it was
the only way left for him to make an impact. It was ambitious and had several
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aims; it required careful drafting, reviewing and redrafting to ensure the validity
of its case, the accuracy of its details and the power of its arguments. His resig-
nation statement intended first of all to draw the attention of the Great Powers
to the plight of the refugees and to provide them with a definitive report on the
High Commission’s work and the context in which it had worked. It would draw
the attention of the League of Nations to the limitations of its mission, and place
responsibility for the refugees where it belonged, upon the Nazi government.
It would analyse Nazi race policy, its impact, and its violations of international
law, and the principles of European justice invested in the League of Nations. It
would also analyse the reasons why it had not been possible to find a solution
to the refugee problem. Altogether, the statement aimed to provide a basis for
League action in response to the moral problem that the refugees posed and
against the social and political dangers German policy posed to the countries
of Europe. The moral and legal arguments held the international community
responsible for the protection of the rights of minority peoples from discrimi-
nation and persecution. Finally, the statement would inform public opinion
‘in civilized countries ... of the juridical and moral principles which are daily
being violated by the Nazi government, and also to warn other states where anti-
Semitism was gaining ground to guard against recourse to Germany’s example’*

Early drafts tested arguments of international law. The first draft tried to
develop a case for action against Germany under Article 11 of the Treaty of
Versailles because German policies were harming international relations and
threatened to disturb the peace. This had been argued without effect when
the question of the refugees from Germany had first been brought before
the League Assembly in 1933, but it was now felt that a stronger case could
be made as the consequence, if not the purpose, of the German anti-Semitic
legislation was to destroy the Jewish people of Germany.** The advice of lead-
ing jurists and Jewish leaders was sought and their opinions were sufficient to
reframe the main arguments and the presentation. While in Geneva, McDonald
sought the opinion of Ake Hammerskjold, Registrar of the Permanent Court
of International Justice, about an argument framed around Jewish denational-
ization under the Nuremberg Laws. These laws gave no technical basis for legal
action, in Hammerskjold’s view, but he suggested scope for political action. He
made the telling point that political arguments had greater strength than legal
arguments.” This advice gave the statement a clearer direction.

Others with whom McDonald consulted also believed that arguments on pol-
itical or moral grounds carried more weight than arguments on legal grounds.
Arnold D. McNair, professor of international law at Cambridge University,
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Hirsch Lauterpacht, of the London School of Economics and Vladimir Idelson,
recognized as ‘one of the most distinguished international lawyers” in London,
were all asked to comment on the draft statement.>* McNair believed that the
moral case was more powerful than arguments about Germany’s breach of inter-
national law. ‘In my view’, McNair advised McDonald, ‘the whole draft memo-
randum constitutes a very moving and powerful indictment on general grounds
of justice and humanity, and ... I should be very reluctant to hazard its moral
appeal by an overstatement of its legal aspect.?” Lauterpacht was of the opin-
ion that a case for intervention could be made more feasibly on the grounds
of the protection of the rights of minorities. Although he recognized that the
possibility was small, ‘in view of the general political situation] action could
be taken with respect to the resolution of the Assembly of 1933 that affirmed
the protection of the rights of minority peoples ‘as a general principle of inter-
national law and morality, even among those states that were not signatories to
the minorities treaty. “The matter could be brought before the Council by the
High Commissioner for German refugees, Lauterpacht explained. McDonald’s
statement could ‘draw attention of the Council to the limitations revealed by
the experience of his mission, to the continued persecution of the Jews in
Germany, and to the daily increasing hardships and tragedy of the sufferers, to
the necessity of reaffirmation of the principles laid down in 1933, and to the
duty of the League to address once more an appeal to Germany. Lauterpacht
concluded: “This is very little, but it seems to me the only possibility of political,
as distinguished from humanitarian, action in this matter’?®

McDonald also circulated copies of the draft to select Jewish leaders — James
Rosenberg of the Joint Distribution Committee, Lionel Cohen of the Central
British Fund and Leonard Montefiore of the Anglo-Jewish Association. Every
detail of the statement was scrutinized. McDonald, Janowsky and Fagen met
with Cohen, Idelson, Lauterpacht, Neville Laski, André Wurbain and Norman
Bentwich in Cohen’s London chambers on 19 November 1935 to study the
first complete draft, chapter by chapter. Their criticisms were noted and were
addressed in a revised draft, which was then reviewed in detail at Neville Laski’s
home.”

With the final draft in preparation, McDonald returned to Geneva to appear
before the Committee of Experts to address once more the question of interna-
tional assistance to refugees. He faced over one hour of questions, during which
he made clear his view that it was time to disregard German opinion, as its poli-
cies would continue irrespective of what the League did.*® This was McDonald’s
final visit to Geneva as High Commissioner. He took leave of his contacts and
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associates and had a final short meeting with Secretary General Avenol. He left
to return to London on 4 December. On the morning of 4 December, Avenol
made an unexpected appearance before the Committee of Experts and, so it was
reported, ‘left them dumbfounded’ by his submission. The Secretariat expected
the Committee of Experts to respect its position and understand that it would
not tolerate any reform of the League’s refugee services. There would be no ‘mix-
ing of German and Russian Refugees. The objective in the short term was to
settle the juridical status of the German refugees, and for this a new conven-
tion would need to be agreed. An ‘outstanding international personality, Avenol
insisted, should fill the post of High Commissioner until the next Assembly,
with the sole task of negotiating the text of this convention. Finally, Avenol
declared that it was both ‘unnecessary and undesirable’ to create a permanent
body within the League to care for refugees. Private Jewish organizations had
been effective in the work of relief and resettlement, and all that was needed
now was for a ‘central private clearing house’ for both Jewish and non-Jewish
refugees, which would ‘have the benevolent moral support of the League and
of governments, without being in any sense related organizationally to either’*

This was nothing less than a directive. Avenol had changed the expectations
of the outcomes of the Committee of Experts’ findings and recommendations,
forcing it to an unscheduled private session without League officials present to
reconsider its views. While McDonald’s staff agreed with the suggestion of a
convention on the legal status of the German refugees, they had no confidence
that Avenol’s ‘central private clearing house’ would have any more success than
the High Commission.

The Committee of Expert’s final report, submitted on 7 December and made
public on 9 December, was sensitive to the human suffering hidden deep within
procedural discussions on the refugee problem. It described the ‘state of chaos’
that then existed as a ‘menace to two generations. There were ‘too many cases
of suicide) and the states that accommodated the refugees had found themselves
host also to a ‘painful if not dangerous problem’*> The Committee, however,
defied Avenol’s directive, but its recommendations nevertheless fell short of a
purposeful response to these tragic observations that the advocates of reform
desired. It did not recommend a permanent organization but it did set out tem-
porary arrangements until the liquidation of the Nansen Office in 1938. The
majority report, agreed upon by the delegates from Britain, France, Norway
and Czechoslovakia, recommended the integration of all refugee work into one
office led by an ‘eminent personality’ under the Council’s direction, with one
section dedicated to the refugees from Germany. This new organization would
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liquidate the Nansen Office in 1938. The Italian delegate’s dissenting report rec-
ommended no change, and called for the High Commission for the Refugees
from Germany to be even further limited in its functions. In summary, the
Committee of Experts’ recommendations offered no immediate reform. Even
these small changes would not be adopted until the September 1936 Assembly.
The Council in the meantime could only make provisional arrangements for
the High Commission for the Refugees from Germany after McDonald’s
resignation.”

Although the outcome was less satisfactory than he had hoped for, the ques-
tion of the reform of the League’s refugee services was now resolved, as far as
McDonald, his staff and colleagues were concerned. He could now decide the
best way to publicize his resignation. The statement was more or less complete.
The High Commission would dissolve quietly as there was no reason to go ahead
with the next scheduled meeting of the Governing Body.**

After the final review of the statement was concluded on 12 December
1935, Lionel Cohen offered McDonald his apology for doubting him. He
acknowledged that McDonald had been correct in his view of the refugee
problem from the beginning and had understood the problem better than
others. Cohen also acknowledged that he and his colleagues among the
British Jewish organizations were wrong to have questioned McDonald’s
initial assessment that millions of pounds would have to be raised for refu-
gee assistance. Cohen commended him for all his efforts and, expressing the
British Central Fund’s gratitude, presented him with a silver salver on behalf
of its board of directors. Moved by the simple expression of their gratitude,
McDonald was as ever mindful of the work ahead. He encouraged Cohen and
his colleagues to continue their efforts, which, he hoped, would show the lead
to the United States.” He received one further honour before he returned to
the United States. The Queen of the Netherlands awarded him the decora-
tion of Commander of the Order of Orange Nassau for his work as High
Commissioner.*

He left London for New York on 16 December. He signed his letter of resigna-
tion on 27 December, with his resignation effective from 31 December 1935. The
statement was published on 30 December simultaneously in New York, London

and Geneva.”
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Postscript

McDonald’s statement of resignation was in two parts. A twelve-page letter of
resignation addressed to the Secretary General of the League of Nations pre-
ceded an annex in four chapters, which analysed in turn the Nazi racial legis-
lation and the ‘Aryan’ decrees of September 1935, the administrative measures
and Nazi Party actions against the Jews, the application of the racial laws in
German courts and the programme to deprive ‘non-Aryans’ of civil and polit-
ical rights. The letter of resignation established the moral principles that justified
international intervention through the League of Nations in German affairs. The
annex set out a legal case for it.!

The letter itself described the intensification of the persecution of non-
Aryans in Germany during the two years of the High Commission’s activities.
It argued that the conditions in Germany had developed ‘so catastrophically’
that the League of Nations had to reconsider the situation from a completely
fresh perspective. A new wave of persecution had followed the September 1935
Nuremberg Laws. Some 400,000 Jews and tens of thousands of other non-Aryans
had lost their citizenship and been disenfranchised. In these circumstances, it
would not be enough simply to continue the philanthropic activities for the refu-
gees from Germany; the League also had to consider efforts to ‘remove or miti-
gate the causes which create German refugees’

The letter continued: ‘[The] moral authority of the League of Nations and
of States Members of the League must be directed towards a determined appeal
to the German Government in the name of humanity and of the principles of
public law of Europe’ These principles, it argued, were found in the recognition
of the rights of racial, linguistic and religious minorities, which had over time
become fundamental to European justice and international relations, from the
Congress of Vienna in 1815, the Treaty of Berlin in 1878 and the peace settlement
of 1919. Although the peace settlement obliged newly independent states of
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Europe to protect their racial, religious and linguistic minorities under specific
treaties, the principles were valid for all states. The League of Nations Assembly
recognized this in 1922 when it adopted a resolution that ‘states not bound by
specific legal obligations in the matter of minorities will nevertheless observe in
the treatment of their own minorities at least as high a standard of justice and
toleration as is required by the treaties in question’. This resolution was reaf-
firmed when the Assembly again discussed minorities protection in 1933, after
the Council had adjudicated on the petition of Franz Bernheim against the Nazi
violation of the rights of Jews protected under the 1922 Convention on Upper
Silesia. The obligation on Germany in this one small corner of Central Europe
established the moral principles by which Germany must treat its minorities.
Entrusted with the responsibilities of the High Commission for the Refugees
from Germany, McDonald claimed that it was his duty to express his opinion
on the ‘essential elements’ of his tasks. The letter concluded: “‘When domestic
policies threaten the demoralization and exile hundreds of thousands of human
beings, considerations of diplomatic correctness must yield to those of com-
mon humanity’?

Reaction to the letter of resignation was striking. It was of tremendous
interest to international press and among a public deeply concerned with
German affairs and the refugee problem.* In London, The Times reproduced
the text of the letter of resignation in full and followed it with a news item on
McDonald’s resignation and an editorial comment. The news item summa-
rized McDonald’s main argument that urged ‘friendly but firm intervention
with the German Government. The editorial discussed the increasing gravity
of the refugee problem and McDonald’s inability to do anything about it but
recognized that the sole cause of the problem was Germany’s persecution of its
Jews.* The New York Times also reprinted the l